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This publication contains the annual report of the UK GAAP consolidated financial statements and 
parent company financial statements of a mythical UK private company which has applied FRS 102– 
Good Practice Group Limited. The report is illustrative only and does not attempt to show all 
possible disclosure requirements. In case of doubt as to the legal or other requirements, it is 
essential to refer to the relevant source and, where necessary, to seek appropriate professional 
advice. The volume is laid out with the commentary on the left hand pages and the financial 
statements on the right hand pages. Gaps between items are in order to align commentary with the 
relevant financial statements item, as far as possible, for the convenience of users. 

Although the illustrative financial statements attempt to show the most likely disclosure requirements 
of manufacturing companies, they should not be regarded as a comprehensive checklist of statutory 
and accounting requirements. They comply with FRS 102, the Companies Act 2006 and with other 
requirements in force at 31 December 2013.  

 
FRS 100 – Application of Financial Reporting Requirements 
FRS 100 - Application of Financial Reporting Requirements was issued in November 2012 and sets 
out the financial reporting requirements for UK and Republic of Ireland entities. The standard is 
applicable to all UK and Republic of Ireland companies with accounting periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2015, although early application is permitted subject to the provisions in FRS 101 
(Reduced Disclosure Framework) and FRS 102.  
Financial statements (whether consolidated financial statements or individual financial statements) 
that are within the scope of this FRS must be prepared in accordance with the following 
requirements: 
(a) If the financial statements are those of an entity that is eligible to apply the Financial 
Reporting Standard for Smaller Entities (FRSSE), they may be prepared in accordance with that 
standard. 
(b) If the financial statements are those of an entity that is not eligible to apply the FRSSE, or of an 
entity that is eligible to apply the FRSSE but chooses not to do so, they must be prepared in 
accordance with FRS 102, EU-adopted IFRS or, if the financial statements are the individual 
financial statements of a qualifying entity, FRS 101 sets out a reduced disclosure framework which 
addresses the financial reporting requirements and disclosure exemptions for the individual 
financial statements of subsidiaries and ultimate parents that otherwise apply the recognition, 
measurement and disclosure requirements of EU-adopted IFRS. 
 
FRS 102 – The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of 
Ireland 
FRS 102 is a single financial reporting standard that applies to the financial statements of entities 
that are not applying EU-adopted IFRS, FRS 101 or the FRSSE.  
FRS 102 was issued in March 2013 and early application is permitted for accounting periods 
ending on or after 31 December 2012. An entity shall apply this standard for accounting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2015, unless they are applying either IFRS as adopted in the EU or 
FRS 101. 
FRS 102 is organised by topic, with each topic presented in a separate numbered section. There 
are 35 Sections and a Glossary within the FRS. All paragraphs in FRS 102 have equal authority. In 
some sections appendices of implementation guidance or examples are provided. Some of these 
are an integral part of the FRS, while others provide guidance on its application – the status is 
specified on each. 
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Narrative accompanying the financial statements 
The narrative accompanying the financial statements contains source references to the Companies 
Act, FRS 102, Urgent Issues Task Force (UITF) abstracts and pronouncements of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (ICAEW). 

When the narrative accompanying the financial statements is italicised, it indicates that the 
requirement discussed is not in fact illustrated. Such narrative has not been given for every 
conceivable disclosure requirement. 

Northern Ireland 
The requirements of the Companies Act 2006 extend to Northern Ireland and therefore these 
illustrative financial statements are applicable to companies incorporated in both Great Britain and 
Northern Ireland. Previously, legislation for companies incorporated in Northern Ireland was 
contained in a separate Order. 

Formats 
FRS 102.3.17 

A complete set of financial statements of an entity shall include all of the following: 

 A statement of financial position as at the reporting date; 

 Either: 

o A single statement of comprehensive income for the reporting period displaying all 
items of income and expense recognised during the period including those items 
recognised in determining profit or loss (which is a subtotal in the statement of 
comprehensive income) and items of other comprehensive income; or 

o A separate income statement and a separate statement of comprehensive income. 
If an entity chooses to present both an income statement and a statement of 
comprehensive income, the statement of comprehensive income begins with profit 
or loss and then displays the items of other comprehensive income; 

 A statement of changes in equity for the reporting period; 

 A statement of cash flows for the reporting period; and 

 Notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information.  

The formats used in the illustrative financial statements are taken from Schedule 1 and Schedule 6 
to the LMCR. The profit and loss account is in format 1 and the balance sheets are in format 1. 

IFRS Financial Statements 
A set of IFRS Illustrative financial statements for a listed company applying IFRS has been published 
separately - Listed UK Group plc. 

FRS 101 Financial Statements 
Two sets of Illustrative individual financial statements for an entity applying FRS 101 – Reduced 
Disclosure Framework have been published separately. Listed Parent Company Financial 
Statements under FRS 101 and Entity UK Limited Report and Financial Statements. 
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Abbreviations 
The following abbreviations are used in this book: 

1 Sch 58(1) Schedule 1, LMCR, paragraph 58(1) 
1 Sch formats Statutory formats contained in Schedule 1 of the LMCR 
APB Auditing Practices Board 
APB 2009 App 11 Auditing Practices Board Bulletin No 2 of 2009, Appendix 11 
ASB Accounting Standards Board 
CA85 The Companies Act 1985 
CCAB Consultative Committee of Accountancy Bodies 
Companies Act The Companies Act 2006 
ESOP Employee Share Ownership Plan 
FIFO The first-in, first-out basis of valuation 
FRS 102.20.13 Financial Reporting Standard 102, Section 20, paragraph 13 
ICAEW The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales  
ISA 500(20) International Standard on Auditing (UK and Ireland) No. 500, 

paragraph 20 
LMCR The Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and 

Reports) Regulations 2008 (Statutory Instrument 2008 No. 410) 
s238(1) Companies Act 2006, section 238(1) 
SCR The Small Companies and Groups (Accounts and Directors’ Report) 

Regulations 2008 (Statutory Instrument 2008 No. 409) 
SI 2008/489 The Companies (Disclosure of Auditor Remuneration and Liability 

Limitation Agreements) Regulations 2008 (Statutory Instrument 
2008 No. 489) 

TECH 2/10(4) Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and Institute 
of Chartered Accountants of Scotland Technical Release, 2/10, 
paragraph 4 

UITF Urgent Issues Task Force 
UITF 38(11) Urgent Issues Task Force abstract No. 38, paragraph 11 
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Registered number and name 
s1068, Registrar’s Rules 2009 
The 2006 Act allows the registrar to impose 
requirements as to the form, manner and 
delivery of documents required to be 
delivered to him.  

Under the Registrar’s Rules 2009, all 
accounts and related documents are required 
to state the name and the registered number 
of the company on at least one of the balance 
sheet (or abbreviated accounts where 
applicable), profit and loss account, directors’ 
report, directors’ remuneration report and 
audit report.  

Author’s note 

Good Practice Group Limited has stated the 
name and the registered number in the 
directors report on page 13. 

List of directors, advisers and other 
information 
There is no requirement to give this 
information, although it is common practice 
to do so. 

Corresponding amounts 
1 Sch 7, FRS 102.3.14 
Corresponding amounts for the preceding 
financial year must be shown, except where 
permitted by FRS 102 or otherwise. Where 
the corresponding amount is not comparable 
it should be adjusted and particulars of and 
the reasons for the adjustment should be 
given. 

Set off 
1 Sch 8 
Items representing income or assets may not 
be set off against items representing 
expenditure or liabilities (or vice versa).  

FRS 102.2.52 

An entity shall not offset assets and 
liabilities, or income and expenses, unless 
required or permitted by FRS 102. 

 Measuring assets net of valuation 
allowances is not offsetting. 

 If an entity’s normal operating 
activities do not include buying and 

selling of fixed assets, including 
investments and operating assets, 
then the entity reports gains and 
losses on disposal of such assets by 
deducting from the proceeds on 
disposal the carrying amount of the 
asset and related selling expenses. 

True and fair view 
1 Sch 45, s396, s404 
The requirement to show a true and fair view 
overrides all other accounting requirements 
of the Companies Act. Where compliance 
with the requirements of the Companies Act 
would not be sufficient to give a true and fair 
view, the necessary additional information 
must be given in the financial statements or 
notes. In special circumstances it may be 
necessary to depart from the requirements of 
the Companies Act, accounting standards or 
UITF abstracts in order to show a true and 
fair view. In such circumstances, disclosure 
must be made, in a note, of the particulars of 
the departure, the reasons for it and its 
effect.  

Accounting standards and UITF abstracts are 
applicable to all financial statements whose 
purpose is to give a true and fair view, and in 
applying them preparers should be guided by 
the spirit and reasoning behind the standards 
and abstracts. However, they do not 
supersede the exercise of an informed 
judgement in determining what constitutes a 
true and fair view in each circumstance. A 
justifiable reason may therefore exist why an 
accounting standard or UITF abstract may 
not be applicable in a given situation, for 
example, when application would conflict with 
the giving of a true and fair view. However, 
because accounting standards and UITF 
abstracts are formulated with the objective of 
ensuring that the information resulting from 
their application faithfully represents the 
underlying commercial activity, the ASB 
envisages that only in exceptional 
circumstances will departure from the 
requirements of an accounting standard or 
UITF abstract be necessary in order for the 
financial statements to give a true and fair 
view. 
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True and fair view (continued) 
Particulars of any material departure from an 
accounting standard or UITF abstract, the 
reasons for it and its financial effects should 
be disclosed in the financial statements. The 
disclosure made should be equivalent to that 
given in respect of departures from specific 
accounting provisions of companies 
legislation. 

Although medium-sized companies are not 
required to comply with 1 Sch 45 (and state 
whether the financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with applicable 
accounting standards, disclosing particulars 
and reasons for any departure), the 
requirements of the Foreword to accounting 
standards result in the same information, 
plus the financial effect, being given. 

Realised profits 
1 Sch 10(2), 13(a) 
Only realised profits may be taken to the 
profit and loss account, unless there are 
special reasons for a departure from this 
principle. Where there is a departure the 
particulars, reasons and effect have to be 
disclosed.  

FRS 102.A4.29 

The determination of profits available for 
distribution is a complex area where 
accounting and company law interface. In 
determining profits available for distribution 
an entity may refer to Technical Release 
02/10 Guidance on realised and distributable 
profits under the Companies Act 2006 issued 
by the institute of Chartered Accountants in 
England and Wales and the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants in Scotland, or any 
successor document, to determine profits 
available for distribution. 

Notes 
s410A 
Where a company has material risks and 
arrangements resulting from arrangements 
that are not reflected in its balance sheet, 
information is required to be disclosed about 
the nature and business purpose of such 
arrangements and the financial impact on the 
company. 
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General 
s414A 
All companies except companies entitled to 
the small company exemptions are required 
to prepare a strategic report for each 
financial year of the company. For a financial 
year in which the company is a parent 
company and the directors prepare group 
accounts, the strategic report must be a 
consolidated report relating to the 
undertakings included in the consolidation. 

s414B 
A company is entitled to small companies 
exemption in relation to the strategic report 
for a financial year if—  
(a) it is entitled to prepare accounts for the 
year in accordance with the small companies 
regime, or  
(b) it would be so entitled but for being or 
having been a member of an ineligible group. 

s423 

The directors’ report and annual accounts 
should be sent to every member of the 
company, every holder of the company’s 
debentures and every person who is entitled 
to receive notice of general meetings. 

Author’s note 
There is no statutory requirement for private 
companies to lay their annual accounts and 
reports before a general meeting of 
members. However, such companies may 
have such a requirement in their Articles.  

  

 

Review of the business 
FRS 102.3.24(b) 

The entity shall disclose a description of the 
nature of the entity’s operations and its 
principal activities, unless this is disclosed in 
the business review (or similar statement) 
accompanying the financial statements. 

s414C 
The strategic report must contain: 

(a) a fair review of the company’s business; 
and 

(b) a description of the principal risks and 
uncertainties facing the company. 

The review required must be a balanced and 
comprehensive analysis of the development 
and performance of the company’s business 
during the financial year and the position of 
the business at the end of that year, 
consistent with the size and complexity of the 
business.  

The review must, to the extent necessary for 
an understanding of the development, 
performance or position of the business, 
include: 

(a) analysis using financial key performance 
indicators and  

(b) where appropriate analysis using other 
key performance indicators including 
information related to environmental and 
employee matters. The report must, where 
appropriate, include references to and 
additional explanations of amounts included 
in the annual accounts of the company. 
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The directors present their strategic report for the year ended 31 December 2013. 

Review of the business 
The group’s principal activities during the year continued to be the manufacture and installation of 
fire prevention and related electronic equipment. 

The key financial and other performance indicators during the year were as follows: 

 
 2013 2012 Change 
 £’000 £’000 % 
    
Turnover 212,850 180,000 +18% 
Group operating profit  7,088 7,955 -11% 
Profit after tax 4,447 4,435 - 
Equity shareholders’ funds 47,560 36,480 +30% 
    
Current assets as % of current liabilities (‘quick ratio’) 224% 187% +20% 
Customer satisfaction 4.5 4.1 +10% 
Average number of employees 618 539 +15% 
 
Turnover increased by 18% during the year primarily due to the acquisition of Extinguishers Limited 
on 1 May 2013. Extinguishers Limited contributed £18,200,000 of turnover in the period post 
acquisition. The company was bought for a consideration of £8,750,000 satisfied by the issue of 
2,500,000 ordinary shares of £1 at £3.50 each. Turnover for this company in the next financial 
year is expected to be significantly higher than that achieved this year. The balance of the increase 
in turnover is primarily attributable to the successful launch of a new EC-approved fire hydrant 
which was sold to a number of UK local authorities. 

Total operating profit decreased by 11% during the year. This fall was caused by an impairment of 
Tangible Fixed Assets of £2,200,000 and the expense related to the flood damage of £655,000. 
This has been offset by the contribution from the acquisition of Extinguishers Limited and a 
significantly better performance from the group’s joint venture, Showers Limited. There was also a 
better underlying return from existing UK business although a substantial improvement is expected 
next year due to the new fire hydrant product. 

Profit after tax declined marginally. However, this is stated after a loss of £2,037,000 on the 
disposal of Hose Limited and exceptional items described above of £2,855,000. Adjusting for this, 
underlying profit after tax was 120% higher than in the previous year. 
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s414C (6) 
The strategic report of medium sized 
company need not provide key performance 
indicators relating to non-financial 
information. 

“Key performance indicators” means factors 
by reference to which the development, 
performance or position of the company’s 
business can be measured effectively. 

s414C(12) 
No disclosures are required about impending 
developments or matters in the course of 
negotiation if the disclosure would, in the 
opinion of the directors, be seriously 
prejudicial to the interests of the company. 

Author’s note 
The strategic report shown on pages 7 to 11 
is intended to be illustrative only and should 
not be used as a model for companies’ 
financial statements since the level of detail 
required, including key performance 
indicators, will depend on the specific 
circumstances of each company.  
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Review of the business (continued) 
Shareholders’ funds increased by 30% due to retained earnings and the new shares issued for the 
purchase of Extinguishers Limited. 

The group’s “quick ratio” (current assets as a percentage of current liabilities) has increased due to 
sales of the new fire hydrant product towards the year end for which payment was not received until 
January 2014. 

Customer satisfaction is a key indicator given the group’s reliance on contracts which are subject to 
periodic tender. This is monitored by annual questionnaires and other, informal, feedback. The 
results of our questionnaires showed a 10% improvement in customer satisfaction compared to last 
year. 

The total average number of employees increased by 15% during the year. This was partially 
attributable to the acquisition of Extinguishers Limited but also due to an increased number of 
persons engaged in research and development activities related to the new fire hydrant. Average 
employee numbers are expected to decline slightly in the next year as a result of the disposal of 
Hose Limited. The number of employees participating in our employee share scheme increased by 
8% during the year. 

The products manufactured and sold by the group have minimal environmental impact. However, 
the board believes that good environmental practices support the board’s strategy by enhancing the 
reputation of the group, the efficiency of production and the quantity of products. Consequently, 
the group continues to put environmental responsibilities high on the agenda and increased the 
percentage of its products recycled from 45% to 52% during the year. In terms of a direct impact on 
the environment carbon dioxide emissions have reduced by 4% during the year. This was achieved 
by increasing energy efficiency and reducing wastage. 

Principal risks and uncertainties 
The group has established a risk committee that meets quarterly and which evaluates the group’s 
risk appetite. The principal risks and uncertainties facing the group are broadly grouped as – 
competitive, legislative and financial instrument risk. 

 Competitive Risks 
In the UK the group is reliant on certain major local authorities for contracts which are subject to 
periodic competitive tender. Renewal of these contracts is uncertain and based on financial and 
performance criteria. 

In the USA the principal competitive risk relates to the probability of large multi-nationals entering 
into the market via “loss leader” products. 

 Legislative Risks 
In the UK and Europe, fire safety equipment must be manufactured to EU standards. These 
standards are subject to continuous revision and any new Directive may have a material impact on 
the ability of the group to manufacture and supply products at a profit. In addition compliance 
imposes costs and failure to comply with the standards could materially affect the group’s ability to 
operate. 

In the USA, the equivalent standards are subject to individual State legislatures. These standards 
vary considerably between individual States and make it difficult to supply a uniform product that 
meets all requirements. 

 Financial Instrument Risks 
The group has established a risk and financial management framework whose primary objectives 
are to protect the group from events that hinder the achievement of the group’s performance 
objectives. 

The objectives aim to limit undue counterparty exposure, ensure sufficient working capital exists 
and monitor the management of risk at a business unit level.
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Signature 
s414D 
The strategic report must be approved by the 
board of directors and signed on behalf of the 
board by a director or the secretary of the 
company. 
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Principal risks and uncertainties (continued) 
 Use of derivatives 

The group uses forward foreign currency contracts to reduce exposure to the variability of foreign 
exchange rates by fixing the rate of any material payments in a foreign currency. The group also 
uses interest rate swaps to adjust interest rate exposures in order to guarantee fixed interest 
payments where payments are variable and hence exposed to interest rate movements. Hedge 
accounting is used when certain criteria is met as explained in the accounting policy note on page 
73. 

 Exposure to price, credit, liquidity and cash flow risk 
Price risk arises on financial instruments because of changes in, for example, commodity prices or 
equity prices. The group’s major joint venture and associate investments, which the group does not 
intend to sell in the short-term, are held at net asset value and are therefore not exposed to price 
risk. Listed investments with a fair value of £560,000 are exposed to price risk but this exposure is 
within the group’s risk appetite. 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for that 
other party by failing to discharge an obligation. Group policies are aimed at minimising such losses, 
and require that deferred terms are only granted to customers who demonstrate an appropriate 
payment history and satisfy credit worthiness procedures. Details of the group’s debtors are shown 
in Note 15 to the financial statements. The Group limits individual trade debtor counterparty 
exposure to £3,000,000 and at the balance sheet date no single trade debtor exceeded 50% of that 
amount. In addition, £4,000,000 of loan notes were received in the year related to the sale of Hose 
Limited to six counterparties none of which exceeded £1,000,000. 

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated 
with financial liabilities. The group aims to mitigate liquidity risk by managing cash generation by its 
operations, applying cash collection targets throughout the group. The group also manages liquidity 
risk via revolving credit facilities and long term debt. During the year additional shares were issued 
and debt raised to fund the purchase of Extinguishers Limited. 

Cash flow risk is the risk of exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to a particular 
risk associated with a recognised asset or liability such as future interest payments on a variability 
rate debt. The group manages this risk, where significant, by use of derivatives as explained above. 

 

 

†) By order of the board 

 

 

 

G Hilton 

Secretary 

 

31 March 2014 

  



Illustrative financial statements 

General comments on the directors’ report 

12 

Directors of the company 
s416(1)(a) 
Disclose names of persons who were 
directors at any time during the financial 
year. It is also regarded as good practice to 
show any changes between the year end and 
the date of the report. 

The retirement of directors will depend on 
the Articles of Association. It is probable that 
this will include directors appointed during 
the year. 

Recommended dividend 
s416(3) 
State the amount of dividend recommended 
(if any). Companies subject to the small 
companies exemption are exempt from this 
requirement. 

s830(1) 
A company shall not make a distribution 
except out of profits available for the 
purpose. 

s837(4) 
If the audit report is qualified (i.e. it is not a 
report without qualification to the effect that, 
in the auditors’ opinion, the financial 
statements have been properly prepared in 
accordance with the Companies Act), a 
distribution cannot be made unless and until 
the auditor has made a statement in writing 
that the qualification is not material for 
determining whether a distribution would 
contravene the Act. This statement must 
have been circulated to members in 
accordance with s423 for a private company 
or laid before the company in a general 
meeting.  

Research and development 

7 Sch 7(1)(c) 
Give an indication of the activities (if any) in 
the field of research and development of the 
company or, in a group directors’ report, the 
company and its subsidiary undertakings.  

Future developments 
7 Sch 7(1)(b) 
Give an indication of likely future 
developments in the business of the company 
(in a group directors’ report the company and 
its subsidiary undertakings). 

 
 

Events since the balance sheet date 
7 Sch 7(1)(a) 
Give particulars of any important events 
affecting the company or, in a group 
directors’ report, the company or any of its 
subsidiary undertakings which have occurred 
since the end of the year. 

FRS 102.32 
Section 32 of FRS 102 also requires that 
certain events after the end of the reporting 
period be disclosed in a note  
to the financial statements. See notes 23  
and 33. 

Foreign branches 
7 Sch 7(1)(d)(2) 
Give an indication of the existence of 
branches (as defined in s1046(3)) of the 
company outside the United Kingdom. 

Financial Instruments 
7 Sch 6 
The report must contain an indication of: 

(a) the financial risk management 
objectives and policies of the company 
and its subsidiary undertakings 
including the policy for hedging each 
major type of forecast transaction for 
which hedge accounting is used; and 

(b) the exposure of the company (or in the 
group directors’ report, the company 
and its subsidiaries) to price risk, credit 
risk, liquidity risk and cash flow risk. 

Unless such information is not material for 
the assessment of the assets, liabilities, 
financial position and profit or loss.  

Companies subject to the small companies 
regime are not required to make these 
disclosures 
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Registered No. 1591134 
 
The Directors present their report for the year ended 31 December 2013. 
 
Directors of the company 
The current directors are shown on page 3.  

P A MacBryde was appointed on 1 January 2013 and M C Holman was appointed on 22 July 2013. 

In addition, A Stanton was a director until 7 January 2013 when he resigned. 

J Corless and M C Holman retire from the board at the Annual General Meeting and, being eligible, 
offer themselves for re-election. J Archer retires by rotation and, being eligible, offers himself for 
re-election.  

Dividends 
The directors recommend a final ordinary dividend of 8.79p per ordinary share amounting to 
£1,061,000 making a total of ordinary dividends of £1,859,000 for the year. Preference dividends 
of £175,000 (2012: £175,000) were also paid during the year. 

Research and development 
Due to the development of the new fire hydrant, and the purchase of Extinguishers Limited, the 
average number of staff employed by the group on research and development has increased from 
32 to 60. 

The main fire prevention research and development projects involve improved fire detection and 
sprinkler systems and fire retardant fabrics for motor vehicles and aircraft. 

Research and development in the electronics business is concentrated on the development of 
internet enabled safety equipment. 

Future developments 
The directors aim to maintain the management policies which have resulted in the group’s 
substantial growth in recent years. They consider that the next year will show a further significant 
growth in sales from continuing operations, particularly of exports to the United States and, in 
Europe, from the new EC-approved fire hydrant. 

Events since the balance sheet date 
On 14 January 2014, a short leasehold building with a net book value of £880,000 was severely 
damaged by fire. It is expected that insurance proceeds will fall short of the costs of rebuilding and 
loss of stocks by some £350,000. 

Financial instruments 
Details of financial instruments are provided in the strategic report on page 9. 
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Going concern 
FRS 102.3.8 
When preparing financial statements, the 
management of an entity using FRS 102 shall 
make an assessment of the entity’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. An entity is a 
going concern unless management either 
intends to liquidate the entity or to cease 
trading, or has no realistic alternative but to 
do so. In assessing whether the going 
concern assumption is appropriate, 
management takes into account all available 
information about the future, which is at 
least, but is not limited to, twelve months 
from the date when the financial statements 
are authorised for issue. 
FRS 102.3.9 
When management is aware, in making its 
assessment, of material uncertainties related 
to events or conditions that cast significant 
doubt upon the entity’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, the entity shall disclose 
those uncertainties. When an entity does not 
prepare financial statements on a going 
concern basis, it shall disclose that fact, 
together with the basis on which it prepared 
the financial statements and the reason why 
the entity is not regarded as a going concern. 
Author’s note 
Good Practice Group has made a going 
concern statement in accordance with the 
FRC guidance, Going Concern and Liquidity 
Risk: Guidance for Directors of UK 
Companies 2009. This guidance applies to all 
UK companies.  

The going concern statement made by Good 
Practice Group is based on Example 1(a) of 
Appendix II of the FRC guidance. This is 
because the group has uncomplicated 
circumstances and little or no exposure to 
economic difficulties that may impact the 
going concern assumption. 
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Going Concern 
The group’s business activities, together with 
the factors likely to affect its future 
development, its financial position, financial 
risk management objectives, details of its 
financial instruments and derivative 
activities, and its exposures to price, credit, 
liquidity and cash flow risk are described in 
the Strategic Report on pages 7 to 11. 

The group has considerable financial 
resources together with long-term contracts 
with a number of customers and suppliers 
across different geographic areas and 
industries. As a consequence, the directors 
believe that the group is well placed to 
manage its business risks successfully despite 
the current uncertain economic outlook. 

After making enquiries, the directors have a 
reasonable expectation that the company and 
the group have adequate resources to 
continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future. Accordingly, they 
continue to adopt the going concern basis in 
preparing the annual report and accounts. 
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Directors’ liabilities 
s236(2)-(3)  
If at any time during the financial year or at 
the time when the directors’ report is 
approved any qualifying third party indemnity 
provision or any qualifying pension scheme 
indemnity provision is in force for the benefit 
of one of more persons who were then 
directors of the company the directors’ report 
(whether made by the company or otherwise) 
must state that any such provision is or was 
so in force. 

s236(4)-(5)  
If at any time during the financial year or at 
the time when the directors’ report is 
approved any qualifying third party indemnity 
provision or any qualifying pension scheme 
indemnity provision is in force for the benefit 
of one of more persons who were then 
directors of an associated company (whether 
made by the company or otherwise) the 
directors’ report must state that any such 
provision is or was so in force. 

s234  
A ‘qualifying third party indemnity provision’ 
means a provision for indemnity against 
liability incurred by a director to a person 
other than the company or an associated 
company to which conditions (a) to (b) below 
are satisfied. 

(a) the provision does not provide any 
indemnity against any liability incurred by 
the director to pay (i) a fine imposed in 
criminal proceedings, or (ii) a sum 
payable to a regulatory authority by way 
of a penalty in respect of non-compliance 
with any requirement of a regulatory 
nature (however arising); and 

(b) the provision does not provide any 
indemnity incurred by the director (i) in 
defending criminal proceedings in which 
he is convicted (ii) in defending civil 
proceedings brought by the company, or 
an associated company, in which 
judgement is given against him; or (iii) in 
connection with any application under 
any of the following provisions in which 
the court refuses to grant him relief 
(namely s661(3) or (4) (acquisition of 
shares by innocent nominee)) or s1157 
(general power to grant relief in case of 
honest and reasonable conduct). 

s235 

A ‘qualifying pension scheme indemnity 
provision’ is any provision by which a 
company directly or indirectly provides (to 
any extent) an indemnity for a director of the 
company that is a trustee of an occupational 
pension scheme against liability incurred in 
connection with the company’s activities as 
trustee of the scheme and in relation which 
conditions (a) to (b) below are satisfied. 

 (a) the provision does not provide any 
indemnity against any liability incurred by 
the director to pay (i) a fine imposed in 
criminal proceedings, or (ii) a sum 
payable to a regulatory authority by way 
of a penalty in respect of non-compliance 
with any requirement of a regulatory 
nature (however arising); and 

(b) the provision does not provide any 
indemnity against any liability incurred by 
the director in defending criminal 
proceedings in which he is convicted  

s252 

For this purpose bodies corporate and 
companies are associated if one is a 
subsidiary of another or both are subsidiaries 
of the same body corporate or company. 

Author’s note 
We do not believe that ‘qualifying third party 
indemnity provision’ includes the purchase or 
maintenance of insurance against liability as 
this falls under s233. 

Qualifying indemnity provisions provided 
under s390B of the Companies Act 1985 in 
force at 1 October 2007 remain in force. 
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Directors’ liabilities 
The company has granted an indemnity to 
one or more of its directors against liability in 
respect of proceedings brought by third 
parties, subject to the conditions set out in 
section 234 of the Companies Act 2006. 
Such qualifying third party indemnity 
provision remains in force as at the date of 
approving the directors’ report. 

During the year the company had in force an 
indemnity provision in favour of one or more 
directors of Sprinklers Inc. against liability in 
respect of proceedings brought by third 
parties, subject to the conditions set out in 
section 234 of the Companies Act 2006. 

On 1 November 2013, the company granted 
an indemnity to one or more of its directors 
in connection with the company’s activities as 
trustee of the UK Group Employee pension 
Scheme, subject to the conditions set out in 
section 235 of the Companies Act 2006. This 
qualifying pension scheme indemnity remains 
in force as at the date of approving the 
directors’ report. 
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Political donations 
7 Sch 3 
If the company or its subsidiaries have made 
any political donation to any political party or 
other political organisation, any political 
donation to any independent election 
candidate or incurred any political 
expenditure and the amount of the 
donation/expenditure or the aggregate 
amount of all donations/expenditure 
exceeded £2,000, disclose: 

(a) the name of each political party, 
organisation or independent election 
candidate to whom any such donation has 
been made; 

(b) the total amount given to that party, 
organisation or candidate by way of such 
donations in the financial year; and 

(c) the total amount incurred in respect of 
political expenditure in the financial year. 

Wholly-owned subsidiaries of companies 
incorporated in the United Kingdom are 
exempt. 

7 Sch 4 

If the company or its subsidiaries have made 
any contributions to a non-EU political party 
disclose: 

(a) the amount of the contribution; or 

(b) if it has made two or more contributions 
in the year a statement of the total 
amount of the contribution. 

A non EU political party means any political 
party which carries on, or proposes to carry 
on, activities wholly outside member States. 

Wholly-owned subsidiaries of companies 
incorporated in the United Kingdom are 
exempt. 

Shares 
7 Sch 8, 9 
Where shares in a public company are 
purchased or are acquired by forfeiture or 
surrender in lieu of forfeiture, or in 
pursuance of s659 of the Act or s662(1) or 
where shares are subject to a lien or charge 
under s670(2) or (4), disclose: 

 the number, nominal value and 
percentage of the called-up shares of 
that class of shares acquired or charged 
during the period and, if acquired by 
purchase, give also consideration paid 
and reasons for purchase; 

 the maximum number, nominal value 
and percentage of the called-up shares 
of that class held or charged at any time 
during the period; 

 the number, nominal value and 
percentage of the called-up shares of 
that class so acquired or charged which 
have been disposed of or cancelled 
during the period, and the amount of the 
proceeds of disposal, if any; and 

 where any shares have been so charged, 
the amount of the charge. 
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Political donations 
During the year, the company made a political 
contribution of £3,500 to the United Party 
and £2,500 to political parties outside the 
EU. 
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Disabled employees 
7 Sch 10 
If the company had more than 250 average 
number of weekly employees under contracts 
of service working wholly or mainly in the UK 
give a statement describing the policy applied 
during the year: 

(a) for giving full and fair consideration to 
applications for employment made by 
disabled persons, having regard to their 
particular aptitudes and abilities; 

(b) for continuing the employment of, and for 
arranging appropriate training for, 
employees of the company who have 
become disabled persons during the 
period when they were employed by the 
company; and 

(c) for training, career development and 
promotion of disabled persons employed 
by the company. 

Employee involvement 
7 Sch 11 
This requirement relates to any company with 
more than 250 average number of weekly 
employees under contracts of service 
working wholly or mainly in the UK. Describe 
the action taken during the year to introduce, 
maintain or develop arrangements aimed at: 

 providing employees systematically with 
information on matters of concern to 
them as employees; 

 consulting employees or their 
representatives on a regular basis so 
that the views of employees can be 
taken into account in making decisions 
which are likely to affect their interests; 

 encouraging the involvement of 
employees in the group’s performance 
through an employees’ share scheme or 
by some other means; and 

 achieving a common awareness on the 
part of all employees of the financial and 
economic factors affecting the 
performance of the company. 

 
 
 
 

Author’s note 
Although the requirement applies to the 
company, it is good practice for the 
disclosure to relate to the group and to be 
triggered if the group employs more than 
250 employees even if the company itself 
employs fewer than 250. 
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Disabled employees 
The group gives full consideration to 
applications for employment from disabled 
persons where the candidate’s particular 
aptitudes and abilities are consistent with 
adequately meeting the requirements of 
the job. Opportunities are available to 
disabled employees for training, career 
development and promotion. 

Where existing employees become disabled, 
it is the group’s policy to provide continuing 
employment wherever practicable in the 
same or an alternative position and to 
provide appropriate training to achieve 
this aim. 

Employee involvement 
The company operates a framework for 
employee information and consultation which 
complies with the requirements of the 
Information and Consultation of Employees 
Regulations 2004. During the year, the policy 
of providing employees with information 
about the group has been continued through 
the newsletter ‘Good Practice Group News’ in 
which employees have also been encouraged 
to present their suggestions and views on the 
group’s performance. Regular meetings are 
held between local management and 
employees to allow a free flow of information 
and ideas. Employees participate directly in 
the success of the business through the 
group’s profit sharing schemes and are 
encouraged to invest in the group through 
participation in share option schemes. 
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Statement as to disclosure of 
information to auditors 
s418(2) 
The report must contain a statement to the 
effect that in the case of each director at the 
time the report is approved so as far as each 
director is aware there is no relevant 
information of which the company’s auditors 
are unaware and he has taken all the steps he 
ought to take as a director to make himself 
aware of the any relevant audit information 
and to establish that the company’s auditors 
are aware of that information. 

Re-appointment of auditors  
s485, s487 
Auditors must be reappointed for each 
financial year unless the exemption 
conditions are met. Where no auditor has 
been reappointed by the end of the next 
period for appointing auditors any auditor in 
office before that time is normally deemed to 
be reappointed except in certain 
circumstances. 

s475 
Auditors need not be appointed if the 
company is exempt from audit by virtue of 
either s477 (small companies), s480 
(dormant companies) or s482 (non-profit 
making companies subject to public sector 
audit). 
Author’s note 
There is no requirement to refer to the 
appointment or reappointment of auditors in 
the directors’ report, although it is common 
practice to do so. 

Signature 
s419(1) 
The directors’ report must be approved by 
the board of directors and signed on behalf of 
the board by a director or the secretary of 
the company. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

s433 
Every copy of a directors’ report which is 
published (ie issued, circulated or made 
available for public inspection) must state the 
name of the person who signed it on behalf 
of the board. 

s446(3) 
The copies of the balance sheet and 
directors’ report delivered to the Registrar 
must state the name of the person who 
signed it on behalf of the Board. 
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Disclosure of information to the auditors 
So far as each person who was a director at the date of approving this report is aware, there is no 
relevant audit information, being information needed by the auditor in connection with preparing its 
report, of which the auditor is unaware. Having made enquiries of fellow directors and the group’s 
auditor, each director has taken all the steps that he/she is obliged to take as a director in order to 
made himself/herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the auditor is 
aware of that information. 

Re-appointment of auditors 
In accordance with s.485 of the Companies Act 2006, a resolution is to be proposed at the Annual 
General Meeting for reappointment of Chartered Accountants & Co LLP as auditor of the Company. 

 

 

†) By order of the board 

 

 

 

G Hilton 

Secretary 

 

31 March 2014 
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Directors’ responsibilities in respect 
of the financial statements 
APB 2010/02 App 17 
An illustrative example of a directors’ 
responsibilities statement for a non-publicly 
traded company appears in Appendix 17 of 
APB 2010/02. This has been replicated in 
Good Practice Group Limited except for the 
fourth bullet point on going concern since a 
separate statement on going concern is 
included in the Directors’ Report. The third 
bullet point does not apply to Small or 
Medium-Sized companies.  
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Directors’ responsibilities statement 
The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report, Directors’ Report and the financial 
statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations. 

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under 
that law the directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and 
applicable law). Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless 
they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and the 
company and of the profit or loss of the group for that period.  

In preparing those financial statements, the directors are required to: 

 select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 

 make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and 
 state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material 

departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and 
The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show 
and explain the group’s and the company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at 
any time the financial position of the group and company and enable them to ensure that the 
financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for 
safeguarding the assets of the group and company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
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Independent auditor’s report 
s495(1) 
An audit report is required to be attached to 
all annual accounts of the company of which 
copies are required to be sent to members 
under s423. 

s495(2) 
The auditor’s report must include: 

(a) an introduction identifying the annual 
accounts that are the subject of the audit 
and the financial reporting framework 
that has been applied in their preparation; 

(b) a description of the scope of the audit 
identifying the auditing standards in 
accordance with which the audit was 
conducted. 

s495(3) 
The audit report must state clearly whether, 
in the auditor’s opinion, the annual accounts: 

(a) give a true and fair view of the company 
and/or group at the end of the financial 
year and of the profit or loss for the 
financial year; 

(b) have been properly prepared in 
accordance with the relevant financial 
reporting framework; and 

(c) have been prepared in accordance with 
the requirement of this Act (and, where 
applicable, Article 4 of the IAS 
Regulation). 

s495(4) 
The auditor’s report must be either 
unqualified or qualified and must include a 
reference to any matters to which the auditor 
wishes to draw attention by way of emphasis 
without qualifying the report. 

s496 
The auditor must state in his report on the 
annual accounts whether in his opinion the 
information given in the directors’ report is 
consistent with the financial statements. 
s498(2) 
The auditor shall state in his report if he is of 
the opinion that: 

 adequate accounting records have not 
been kept, or that returns adequate for 
the audit have not been received from 
branches not visited by him; or  

 the company’s individual accounts are 
not in agreement with the accounting 
records or returns. 

s498(3) 
The auditor must state in his report if he fails 
to obtain all the information and explanations 
which, to the best of his knowledge and 
belief, are necessary for the purposes of his 
audit. 
s498(4) 
If the requirements related to disclosure of 
directors’ benefits (see pages 112-114) are 
not complied with the auditor must include a 
statement in his report giving the required 
particulars. 
s498(5) 
If the directors have prepared accounts in 
accordance with the small companies regime 
and, in the auditor’s opinion, they were not 
entitled to do so, the auditor shall state that 
fact in his report. 
s503(3) 
The auditor’s report must state the name of 
the auditor and be signed and dated. Where 
the auditor is an individual, the report must 
be signed by him. Where the auditor is a firm, 
the report must be signed by the senior 
statutory auditor in his own name, for and on 
behalf of the auditor. 
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Independent auditor’s report 
We have audited the financial statements of Good Practice Group Limited for the year ended 31 
December 2013 which comprise the Group Income Statement, the Group Statement of 
Comprehensive Income, the Group and Parent Company Statement of Changes in Equity, the Group 
and Parent Company Statement of Financial Position, the Group Cash Flow Statement and the 
related notes 1 to 34. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation 
is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice). 

This report is made solely to the company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of 
Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to 
the company's members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and 
for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company's members as a body, for our 
audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors 
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set out on page 25, the 
directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that 
they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance 
with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). These standards 
require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s (APB’s) Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

Scope of the audit of the financial statements 
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements 
sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the 
accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s and parent company's circumstances and have 
been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by the directors; and the overall presentation of the financial statements. In 
addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Report and Financial 
Statements to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements. If we become 
aware of any material misstatements or uncertainties we consider the implications for our report. 
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ISA 700 (revised) 
Auditor’s reports should have the following 
basic elements: 

 an appropriate title; 

 an appropriate addressee. Reports 
under the Companies Act require the 
auditor to report to the company’s 
members and are typically addressed to 
either the members or the shareholders 
of the company; 

 an introductory paragraph identifying 
the financial statements of the entity 
that have been audited and the period 
covered by the financial statements; 

 a statement that those charged with 
governance are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements 
and a statement that the auditor is to 
audit and express an opinion on the 
financial statements in accordance with 
applicable legal requirements and ISAs 
(UK and Ireland). The report should also 
state that those standards require the 
auditor to comply with the APB’s Ethical 
Standards for Auditors; 

 a scope paragraph which should either 
(a) cross-refer to a ‘Statement of the 
Scope of an Audit’ that is maintained on 
the APB’s website; or (b) cross-refer to a 
statement of the Scope of an Audit that 
is included elsewhere within the annual 
report; or (c) include a description of the 
scope of an audit as specified by ISA 
700; 

 the opinion paragraph should: 
– clearly state the audit opinion as 

required by the relevant financial 
reporting framework including 
applicable law; and  

– clearly state that the financial 
statements give a true and fair view; 

 other reporting responsibilities should 
be addressed in separate sections of the 
auditor’s report following the opinion on 
the financial statements; 

 if the auditor is required to report on 
certain matters by exception these 
should be described under the heading 
‘Matters on which we are required to 
report by exception’ and incorporate a 
suitable conclusion; 

 the location of the office where the 
auditor is based 

 the name of the auditor;  
 the signature of the auditor; and 

 the date on which the auditor signed the 
report. 

ABP 2010/02 
The APB Bulletin contains illustrative 
examples of unmodified and modified 
auditor’s reports which are consistent with 
the requirements of the Companies Act and 
ISA 700. 

The example used in Good Practice Group 
Limited is based on Example 5 in Appendix 2 
of the APB Bulletin. 

TECH 1/03(4) 
It is clear that the auditor assumes 
responsibility for the audit report to the 
shareholders as a body. The decision in Royal 
Bank of Scotland v Bannerman Johnstone 
Maclay and others (“Bannerman”) indicates 
that the absence of a disclaimer may 
(depending on the other circumstances in the 
particular case) enable an inference to be 
drawn that the auditor has assumed 
responsibility for the audit report to a third 
party. Having taken advice from Leading 
Counsel, the Institute recommends that 
auditors who wish to manage the risk of 
liability to third parties use a disclaimer. 

The example used in Good Practice Group 
Limited has used the wording recommended 
by the ICAEW and placed it in the second 
paragraph of the audit report. 
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Opinion on the financial statements 
In our opinion the financial statements: 

 give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and parent company’s affairs as at 31 
December 2013 and of the group’s profit for the year then ended;  

 have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice; and 

 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006  
In our opinion the information given in the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report for the financial 
year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements. 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception  
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion: 

 adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate 
for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or 

 the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records 
and returns; or 

 certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 
 we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

 

 

Truman Fayre (Senior Statutory Auditor)  

for and on behalf of Chartered Accountants & Co. LLP, Statutory Auditor   

London 

31 March 2014 

Author’s note 

Audit teams should always use the most recent version of the relevant audit report on the Audit 
Reports Database as this illustrative report may have been superseded.  

Audit teams should also ensure that they apply the most recent internal guidance on the format of 
the signatures required on the audit reports to be delivered to the company and to the registrar. 

Companies House have issued a document detailing the most common reasons why a set of 
submitted annual accounts is rejected. This document can be found at 
www.companieshouse.gov.uk/about/pdf/commonAccountsRejections.pdf 
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General 
s404(1)(b) 
Group financial statements must include a 
consolidated profit and loss account dealing 
with the profit or loss of the parent company 
and its subsidiary undertakings.  

FRS 102.3.23 

An entity shall clearly identify each of the 
financial statements and the notes and 
distinguish them from other information in 
the same document. In addition, and entity 
shall display the following information 
prominently, and repeat it when necessary 
for an understanding of the information 
presented: 

 The name of the reporting entity and any 
change in its name since the end of the 
preceding reporting period; 

 Whether the financial statements cover 
the individual entity of a group of entities; 

 The date of the end of the reporting 
period and the period covered by the 
financial statements. 

Income Statement presentation 
1Sch formats, s404(3)  
The profit and loss account must comply with 
one of the prescribed formats in the 
Regulations. Format 1 of 1 Sch as modified 
by 6 Sch is illustrated opposite. Not all the 
statutory format headings are included in this 
illustration (see appendix 3). 

1 Sch 4, 6 
Since the items in the profit and loss account 
formats are denoted by Arabic numbers they 
may be disclosed in the notes to the financial 
statements rather than on the face of the 
profit and loss account. The items may also 
be combined if either they are not material or 
the combination facilitates assessment 
(providing, in the latter case, the individual 
items are disclosed in the notes) or they must 
be adapted where the special nature of a 
company’s business requires. 

1 Sch 3(1)-(2)  
Greater detail can be given in the financial 
statements than that prescribed by the 
formats. New items may be inserted for 
income or expenditure not otherwise 
covered. 

 
 

1 Sch 2 
The format chosen may not be changed from 
year to year unless, in the directors’ opinion, 
there are special reasons for a change. 
Particulars of any change must be disclosed 
and the reasons for the change must be 
explained in a note to the financial 
statements. 

1 Sch 5  
The directors must not include a heading or 
sub-heading for an item in the balance sheet 
if there is no amount for that item to be 
shown. 

1 Sch 7 
For every item in the profit and loss account 
the corresponding amounts for the previous 
financial year should also be shown. If that 
corresponding amount is not comparable, the 
former amount may be adjusted and 
particulars of the non-comparability and of 
any adjustment be disclosed in a note to the 
financial statements. 

1 Sch 8 

Amounts in respect of assets or income may 
not be set off against amounts in respect of 
items representing liabilities or expenditure 
or vice versa. 

1 Sch 9  
The directors must, in determining how items 
are presented, have regard to the substance 
of reported transactions in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles or 
practice. 

FRS 102.5.2 
An entity shall present its total 
comprehensive income for a period either: 
(a) in a single statement of comprehensive 
income, in which case the statement of 
comprehensive income presents all items of 
income and expense  recognised in the 
period, or 
(b) in two statements - an income statement 
(which is referred to as the profit and loss 
account by the Act) and a statement of 
comprehensive income – in which case the 
income statement presents all items of 
income and expense recognised in the period 
except those that are recognised in total 
comprehensive income outside of profit or 
loss as permitted of required by FRS 102. 
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Group Income Statement    
   

 

  

2013 
Continuing 
operations 

2013 
Discontinued 

operations 

2013 
Total 

2012 
Continuing 
operations 

2012 
Discontinued 

operations 

2012 
Total 

 
 Notes £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

 
Turnover 2 170,654 42,196 212,850 133,372 46,628 180,000 
Cost of sales  (134,030) (38,121) (172,151) (105,517) (39,449) (144,966) 

  ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 

Gross profit  36,624 4,075 40,699 27,855 7,179 35,034 
        

Distribution costs  (14,449) (2,387) (16,836) (10,134) (4,196) (14,330) 
Administrative expenses:        
Before exceptional items  (12,007) (2,251) (14,258) (9,397) (3,528) (12,925) 
Impairment of tangible fixed assets 5 (2,200) - (2,200) – – – 
Flood damage 5 (655) - (655) – – – 
  (14,862) (2,251) (17,113) (9,397) (3,528) (12,925) 
  7,313 (563) 6,750 8,324 (545) 7,779 
Other operating income  688 - 688 650 - 650 
Loss on revaluation of investment properties  (350) - (350) (474) - (474) 

  ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 

        
Group operating profit 3 7,651 (563) 7,088 8,500 (545) 7,955 

  ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 

Share of profit in joint venture  1,557 - 1,557 555 - 555 
Share of profit in associates  405 - 405 195 - 195 
Amortisation of goodwill arising on acquisition of 
associate  (70) - (70) (70) - (70) 
        
Profit/(loss) on disposal of tangible fixed assets  1,250 - 1,250 (850) - (850) 
Loss on disposal of fixed asset investments  (350) - (350) – – – 

        

Loss on sale of discontinued operations 5 - (2,037) (2,037) - - - 
  ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 

Profit on ordinary activities before investment 
income, interest and taxation  10,443 (2,600) 7,843 8,330 (545) 7,785 
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Income statement presentation 
(continued) 
FRS 102.5.3 
A change from the single-statement approach 
to the two-statement approach, or vice versa, 
is a change in accounting policy to which 
Section 10 Accounting Policies, Estimates 
and Errors applies. 

FRS 102.5.5A 

In addition an entity shall include, in the 
statement of comprehensive income, line 
items that present the following amounts for 
the period: 

a) Classified by nature (excluding amounts 
in (b)) the components of other 
comprehensive income recognised as 
part of the total comprehensive income 
outside profit and loss as permitted or 
required by this FRS. An entity may 
present the components of other 
comprehensive income recognised as 
part of total comprehensive income 
outside profit or loss as permitted or 
required by this FRS. An entity may 
present the components of other 
comprehensive income either: 

a. Net of related tax effects; or 

b. Before the related tax effects with 
one amount shown for the aggregate 
amount of income tax relating to 
those components. 

b) Share of other comprehensive income of 
associates and jointly controlled entities 
accounted for by the equity method. 

c) Total comprehensive income.  

FRS 102.5.6 (a) 

An entity shall present profit or loss for the 
period attributable to: 

 Non-controlling interest; and 

 Owners of the parent 

FRS 102.5.7D 

An entity shall also disclose on the face of the 
income statement (or statement of 
comprehensive income) an amount 
comprising the total of: 

 The post-tax profit or loss of discontinued 
operations; and 

 The post-tax gain or loss attributable to 
the impairment or on the disposal of the 

assets or disposal groups constituting 
discontinued operations. 

A line by line analysis shall be presented in 
the income statement (or statement of 
comprehensive income), in a column 
identified as relating to discontinued 
operations. A total column shall also be 
presented. 

FRS 102.7E 

An entity shall re-present the disclosures in 
5.7D for periods presented in the financial 
statements so that the disclosures relate to 
all operations that have been discontinued by 
the end of the reporting period for the latest 
period presented. 

FRS 102.5.9 

An entity shall present additional line items, 
headings and subtotals in the statement of 
comprehensive income (and in the income 
statement), when such presentation is 
relevant to an understanding of the entity’s 
financial performance. 

FRS 102.5.9A 

When items of income and expense are 
material, an entity shall disclose by their 
nature and amount separately, either in the 
statement of comprehensive income (or in 
the income statement) or in the notes. 

s474(1), FRS 102.5.7C 
Turnover must be presented on the face of 
the income statement (or statement of 
comprehensive income) and should be shown 
net of VAT, trade discounts and any other 
taxes based on turnover. 

FRS 102.5.9B  

This FRS does not require disclosure of 
“operating profit”. However, if an entity 
elects to disclose the results of operating 
activities the entity should ensure that the 
amount disclosed is representative of 
activities that would normally be regarded as 
“operating “. For example, it would be 
inappropriate to exclude items clearly related 
to operations (such as inventory write-downs 
and restructuring and relocation expenses) 
because they occur irregularly or 
infrequently or are unusual in amount.  
Similarly, it would be inappropriate to exclude 
items on the grounds that they do not involve 
cash flows, such as depreciation and 
amortisation expenses. 
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2013 

Continuing 
operations 

2013 
Discontinued 

operations 
 

 
2013 
Total 

 
 

 
2012 

Continuing 
operations 

 
2012 

Discontinued 
operations 

2012 
Total 

 
 

 Notes £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
        
Profit on ordinary activities before  
investment income, interest and taxation  10,443 (2,600) 7,843 8,330 (545) 7,785 

        

Gain on financial assets at fair value through profit 
and loss account  

 
95 - 95 

 
- 

 
- - 

Net (loss)/gain on financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit and loss account  (23) - (23) 30 

 
- 30 

Income from investments  250 - 250 200 - 200 
Bank interest receivable  1,079 - 1,079 395 - 395 
Interest payable and similar charges 7 (1,403) - (1,403) (1,254) - (1,254) 
Other finance costs 8 (55) - (55) (109) - (109) 

        

  (57) - (57) (820) - (820) 
        

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 2 10,386 (2,600) 7,786 7,592 (545) 7,047 
Tax on profit on ordinary activities 9 (3,339) - (3,339) (2,612) - (2,612) 

        

Profit/ (loss) for the financial year  7,047 (2,600) 4,447 4,980 (545) 4,435 
 
Profit for the financial year attributable to: 
Non-controlling interests  

 

 238 

  

37 
Owners of the parent company    4,209   4,398 
    4,447   4,435 
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Income statement presentation 
(continued) 

FRS 102.5.8 
Under the FRS, the effects of corrections of 
material errors and changes in accounting 
policies are presented as retrospective 
adjustments of prior periods rather than as 
part of profit or loss in the period in which 
they arise. 
FRS 102.5.11 
Unless otherwise required under the 
regulations an entity shall present an 
analysis of expenses using a classification 
based on either the nature of expenses or 
the function of expenses within the entity, 
whichever provides information that is 
reliable and more relevant. 
Analysis by nature of expenses are 
aggregated in the statement of 
comprehensive income (or in the profit and 
loss account, under the two statement 
approach) according to their nature (eg 
depreciation, purchases of materials, 
transport costs, employee benefits and 
advertising costs), and are not reallocated 
among various functions within the entity. 
Analysis by function of expense 
(b) Under this method of classification, 
expenses are aggregated according to their 
function as part of cost of sales or, for 
example, the costs of distribution or 
administrative activities. At a minimum, an 
entity discloses its cost of sales under this 
method separately from other expenses. 
Author’s note 
Good Practice Group Limited demonstrates 
the functional method of presenting income 
and expense. Accordingly, information on 
depreciation and on employee expense is 
required to be given in the notes. 
Interest payable and similar charges 
6 Sch 20 
In consolidated financial statements, the 
investor’s share of any joint ventures’ or 
associates’ interest included after operating 
profit should be shown separately from the 
amounts for the group. This analysis has 
been given in note 8 to the financial 
statements, rather than on the face of the 
profit and loss account. Either presentation is 
acceptable. 

 

 

Other finance costs/(income) 
FRS 102.14.13 

For investments in associates accounted for 
in accordance with the cost model, an 
investor shall disclose the amount of 
dividends and other distributions recognised 
as income. 

Profit on ordinary activities before 
taxation 
1 Sch 6 
Every profit and loss account of a company 
must show the amount of the company’s 
profit or loss on ordinary activities 
before taxation. 

Taxation 
FRS 102.29.22 

An entity shall present tax expense (income) 
in the same component of total 
comprehensive income (ie continuing or 
discontinued operations, and profit or loss or 
other comprehensive income) or equity as 
the transaction or other event that resulted 
in the tax expense (income).  

Extraordinary items after taxation 
1 Sch 69(2), 6 Sch 17(4) 
The amount of each extraordinary item 
should be shown individually either on the 
face of the profit and loss account or in the 
notes. The tax effect of the aggregate 
extraordinary profit or loss and, in the  
case of consolidated financial statements, 
the amount attributable to minority 
shareholders must be shown. An adequate 
description of each extraordinary item  
must be given to enable its nature to  
be understood. 

FRS 102.5.10A 
Extraordinary items are material items 
possessing a high degree of abnormality 
which arise from events or transactions that 
fall outside the ordinary activities of the 
reporting entity and which are not expected 
to recur. 

Profit for the financial year  
1 Sch formats 
The face of every profit and loss account 
should show separately the profit or loss for 
the financial year. 

s495(3)(a)(iii) 
This is the item referred to in the audit 
opinion. 
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Group Income statement (continued) 

FRS 102.5.7 

Under the two statement approach an entity 
shall present in an income statement, the 
items to be included in a profit and loss 
account in accordance with Part 1 of LMCR. 

FRS 102.15.20 

For jointly controlled entities accounted for in 
accordance with the equity method, the 
venturer shall disclose separately its share of 
the profit or loss of such investments and its 
share of any discontinued operations of such 
jointly controlled entities. 

FRS 102.5.7B 

The statement of comprehensive income shall 
begin with profit or loss as its first line and 
shall display, as a minimum, line items that 
present amounts in paragraph 5.5A and 
paragraph 5.6(b) for the period. 

FRS 102.16.7 

Investment property whose fair value can be 
measured reliably without undue cost or 
effort shall be measured at fair value at each 
reporting date with changes in fair value 
recognised in profit or loss. If a property 
interest held under a lease is classified as 
investment property, the item accounted for 
at fair value is that interest and not the 
underlying property. Paragraphs 11.27 to 
11.32 provide guidance on determining fair 
value. An entity shall account for all other 
investment property as property, plant and 
equipment using the cost model in Section 
17. 

Group statement of comprehensive 
income. 
FRS 102 Glossary - Other comprehensive 
income 

Items of income and expense (including 
reclassification adjustments) that are not 
recognised in profit or loss as required or 
permitted by FRS 102. 

FRS 102.5.6(b) 

An entity shall present the following items as 
allocations of other comprehensive income in 
the statement of comprehensive income for 
the period: 

Total comprehensive income for the period 
attributable to: 

 Non-controlling interest; and 
 Owners of the parent. 

FRS 102.28.23 d) 

An entity shall recognise remeasurement of 
the net defined benefit liability in other 
comprehensive income. 

FRS 102.28.24B 

The difference between the interest income 
on plan assets and the return on plan assets 
is included in the remeasurement of the net 
defined benefit liability. 

FRS 102.28.25 

Remeasurement of the net defined benefit 
liability comprises: 

 Actuarial gains and losses; and 
 The return on plan assets, excluding 

amounts included in net interest on the 
net defined benefit liability. 

FRS 102.29.22 

An entity shall present tax expense (income) 
in the same component of total 
comprehensive income (ie continuing or 
discontinued operations, and profit or loss or 
other comprehensive income) or equity as 
the transaction or other event that resulted 
in the tax expense (income). 
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Group statement of comprehensive income   

 2013 2012 

 £000 £000 

Profit for the financial year  4,447 4,435 
Exchange differences on retranslation of subsidiary undertakings 300 (121) 
Remeasurement gain/(loss) recognised on defined benefit pension schemes 617 (564) 
Movement on deferred tax relating to pension liability (185) 144 

   

Total other comprehensive income/(loss) 732 (541) 
Total comprehensive income for the year 5,179 3,894 

   

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to: 
Non-controlling interests 238 37 
Owners of the parent company 4,941 3,857 
 5,179 3,894 

   

   

   

Company statement of comprehensive income   

   

 2013 2012 

 £000 £000 
Profit for the financial year  3,302 6,305 
Remeasurement gain/(loss) recognised on defined benefit pension scheme 233 (720) 

Movement on deferred tax relating to pension scheme liability (45) 158 

   

Total other comprehensive income/(loss) 188 (562) 

Total comprehensive income for the year 3,490 5,743 
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Statement of changes in equity 
Author’s note 
An entity is required to present its changes in 
equity for a period, either in a statement of 
changes in equity or, if specified conditions 
are met and an entity chooses, in a 
statement of income and retained earnings. 
This statement presents the profit and loss 
and changes in retained earnings for a 
reporting period. 
FRS 102.6.3 
An entity shall present a statement of 
changes in equity showing in the statement: 

a) Total comprehensive income for the 
period, showing separately the total 
amounts attributable to owners of the 
parent and to non-controlling interests. 

b) For each component of equity, the 
effects of retrospective application or 
retrospective restatement recognised in 
accordance with Section 10. 

c) For each component of equity, a 
reconciliation between the carrying 
amount at the beginning and the end of 
the period, separately disclosing 
changes resulting from: 
(i) profit or loss; 
(ii) other comprehensive income; and 
(iii) the amounts of investments by, and 
dividends and other distributions to 
owners, showing separately issues of 
shares, treasury share transactions, 
dividends and other distributions to 
owners, and changes in ownership 
interests in subsidiaries that do not 
result in a loss of control. 
 

FRS 102.6.3A 
For each component of equity, an entity shall 
present, either in the statement of changes 
in equity or in the notes, an analysis of other 
comprehensive income by item. 

1 Sch 59 
Disclose movements in all reserves and the 
opening and closing balances. 

Statement of income and retained 
earnings 
FRS 102.3.18  
This paragraph permits an entity to present a 
statement of income and retained earnings in 
place of a statement of comprehensive 

income and a statement of changes in equity 
if the only changes to its equity during the 
periods for which financial statements are 
presented arise from profit or loss, payment 
of dividends, correction of prior period 
material errors, and changes in accounting 
policy. Good Practice Group Limited has not 
been able to use this presentation. 
FRS 102.6.5 
An entity shall present, in the statement of 
income and retained earnings, the following 
items in addition to the information required 
by Section 5 Statement of Comprehensive 
Income and Income Statement: 
(a) retained earnings at the beginning of the 
reporting period. 
(b) dividends declared and paid or payable 
during the period. 
(c) restatements of retained earnings for 
corrections of prior period material errors. 
(d) restatements of retained earnings for 
changes in accounting policy. 
(e) retained earnings at the end of the 
reporting period. 
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Group Called-up 
share 

capital 

Share 
Premium 

Capital re-
demption 

 reserve  

Reserve 
for own 
shares  

Equity 
component 

of 
convertible 
preference 

shares  

Merger 
reserve  

Non-dis-
tributable 

reserve 

Profit and 
loss 

account 

Share-
holders 

equity 

Non 
controlling 

interest 

Total 
Equity 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
At 1 January 
2012 

10,000 500 - (774) 200 - 6,098 17,249 33,273 85 33,358 

Profit for the year - - - - - - (474) 4,872 4,398 37 4,435 
Other comprehensive income - - - - - - - (541) (541) - (541) 
Total comprehensive income 
for the year 

- - - - - - (474) 4,331 3,857 37 3,894 

Equity dividends paid (note 22) - - - - - - - (1,170) (1,170) - (1,170) 
Share based payment expense        398 398 - 398 
At 31 December 
2013 

10,000 500 - (774) 200 - 5,624 20,808 36,358 122 36,480 

            
Profit for the year - - - - - - (465) 4,674 4,209 238 4,447 
Other comprehensive income - - - - - - - 732 732 - 732 
Total comprehensive income 

for the year 
- - - - - - (465) 5,406 4,941 238 5,179 

Equity dividends paid (note 22) - - - - - - - (1,431) (1,431) - (1,431) 
New shares issued 2,575 100 - - - 6,250 - - 8,925 - 8,925 
Share issue costs - (100) - - - - - - (100) - (100) 
Transfer in respect of issue 
costs on preference shares 

- (7) - - - - - 7 - - - 

Share buy back (500) - 500 - - - - (1,800) (1,800) - (1,800) 
Share based payment 

transactions 
- - - - - - - 307 307 - 307 

            
            

At 31 December 2013 12,075 493 500 (774) 200 6,250 5,159 23,297 47,200 360 47,560 
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Parent Called-up 
capital 

Share 
Premium 

Capital 
redemption 

reserve  

Reserve for 
own shares  

Equity 
component 

of 
convertible 
preference 

shares  

Merger 
reserve  

Non-
distributable 

reserve 

Profit and 
loss 

account 

Total 
Equity 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
At 1 January 2012 10,000 500 - (774) 200 - 3,304 6,208 19,438 
Profit for the year - - - - - - (150) 6,305 6,155 
Other comprehensive (loss) - - - - - - - (562) (562) 
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - - - (150) 5,743 5,593 
Equity dividends paid (note 22) - - - - - - - (1,170) (1,170) 
Share options awarded to employees of subsidiaries - - - - - - - 70 70 
Share based payment transactions - - - - - - - 398 398 
At 31 December 2012  10,000 500 - (774) 200 - 3,154 11,249 24,329 
          
Profit for the year - - - - - - (389) 3,302 2,913 
Other comprehensive income - - - - - - - 188 188 
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - - - (389) 3,490 3,101 
Equity dividends paid (note 22) - - - - - - - (1,431) (1,431) 
New shares issued 2,575 100 - - - 6,250 - - 8,925 
Share buy back (500) - 500 - - - - (1,800) (1,800) 
Share issue costs - (100) - - - - - - (100) 
Transfer - (7) - - - - - 7 - 
Share options awarded to employees of subsidiaries - - - - - - - 70 70 
Share based payment transactions - - - - - - - 237 237 

          
          

At 31 December 2013 12,075 493 500 (774) 200 6,250 2,765 11.822 33,331 
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General 
s404(1)(a) 
Group financial statements must include a 
consolidated balance sheet dealing with the 
state of affairs of the parent company and its 
subsidiary undertakings. 

Presentation 
s404(3), 1 Sch formats, 6 Sch 17, 20, FRS 
102.4.2 
The balance sheet must comply with one of 
the prescribed formats in the Regulations. 
Format 1 of 1 Sch modified by 6 Sch is 
illustrated opposite. Not all of the statutory 
format headings are included in this 
illustration (see appendix 3). 
1 Sch 1, 1 Sch 4-5, 1 Sch formats, 6 Sch 17, 
20 
The face of every balance sheet must show 
the items denoted by letters or Roman 
numbers in the format specified by the 
Companies Act, unless the amounts are nil in 
both years. The items must be shown under 
the headings and subheadings specified by 
the formats. Items to which Arabic numbers 
are assigned may be combined on the face of 
the financial statements if they are either not 
material or the combination facilitates 
assessment (providing, in the latter case, the 
individual items are disclosed in the notes). 
With balance sheet format 1, the total can be 
presented at the Total Assets less Current 
Liabilities level or anywhere thereafter. 

1 Sch 4 
The arrangement and headings of items 
denoted by an Arabic number in the formats 
should be adapted to suit any special nature 
of a company’s business. 

1 Sch 3 
Greater detail can be given in the financial 
statements than that prescribed by the 
formats. New items may be inserted for 
assets or liabilities not otherwise covered. 

1 Sch 2 
The format chosen may not be changed from 
year to year unless, in the directors’ opinion, 
there are special reasons for a change. 
Particulars of any change must be disclosed 
and the reasons for the change must be 
explained in a note to the financial 
statements. 

1 Sch 7 
For every item in the balance sheet the 
corresponding amounts for the previous 
financial year should also be shown. If that 
corresponding amount is not comparable, the 
former amount may be adjusted and 
particulars of the non-comparability and of 
any adjustment be disclosed in a note to the 
financial statements. 

1 Sch 8 

Amounts in respect of assets or income may 
not be set off against amounts in respect of 
items representing liabilities or expenditure 
or vice versa. 

1 Sch 9  
The directors must, in determining how items 
are presented, have regard to the substance 
of reported transactions in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles or 
practice. 

FRS 102.4.3  

An entity shall present additional line items, 
headings and subtotals in the statement of 
financial position when such presentation is 
relevant to the entity’s financial position. 

FRS 102.4.4A 

In instances where the amount of debtors due 
after more than one year is so material in the 
context of the total net current assets that 
the absence of disclosure of the debtors due 
after more than one year on the face of the 
statement of financial position readers may 
misinterpret the financial statements, the 
amount should be disclosed on the face of 
the statement of financial position within 
current assets. In most cases it will be 
satisfactory to disclose the amount due after 
more than one year in the notes to the 
financial statements. 

FRS 102.4.7 

An entity shall classify a creditor as due 
within one year when the entity does not 
have an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least twelve 
months after reporting date. 
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Group statement of financial position     
   2013  2012 
 Notes £000 £000 £000 £000 

Fixed assets      
Intangible assets 11  3,747  1,685 
Tangible assets 12  31,601  30,055 
Investments: 13     
Investment in joint ventures  1,835  978  
Investment in associate  1,377  1,177  
Other investments  1,361  1,276  

      

   4,573  3,431 
      

   39,921  35,171 
Current assets      
Stocks 14 25,825  20,100  
Debtors: 15     
amounts falling due within one year  17,132  10,782  
amounts falling due after one year  3,000  855  

      

  20,132  11,637  
Short term deposits 24 1,483  2,039  
Cash at bank and in hand 24 5,441  9,291  

      

  52,881  43,067  
Creditors: amounts falling due within 
one year 16 23,658  23,906  

      

Net current assets   29,223  19,161 
      

      
Total assets less current liabilities   69,144  54,432 

      

Creditors: amounts falling due after 
more than one year 17  15,803  12,454 
      
Provisions for liabilities  20  2,693  2,085 
      
Accruals and deferred income      
Deferred government grants   2,057  1,690 

      

   20,553  16,229 
      

Net assets excluding pension liability   48,591  38,203 
Defined benefit pension liability 25  1,031  1,723 
      

Net assets   47,560  36,480 
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FRS 102.4.14 
If, at the reporting date, an entity has a 
binding sale agreement for a major disposal 
of assets, or a disposal group, the entity shall 
disclose the following information: 

 A description of the asset(s) or the 
disposal group; 

 A description of the facts and 
circumstances of the sale; and 

 The carrying amount of the assets or, for 
a disposal group, the carrying amounts of 
the underlying assets and liabilities. 

Intangible assets: Goodwill 
FRS 102.19.22 

The acquirer shall at the acquisition date 
recognise goodwill acquired in a business 
combination as an asset. 

Fixed assets 
1 Sch 17-19 
Fixed assets must be stated at purchase price 
or production cost, subject to provisions for 
depreciation or impairment in value, unless 
they are carried at valuation. 

Investments in joint venture and 
associate 
FRS 102.14.11 

Unless otherwise required under the 
Regulations, an investor shall classify 
investments in associates as fixed assets. 
6 Sch 20-21 
The consolidated balance sheet should 
include, as a fixed asset investment, the 
investor’s share of the net assets of its 
associates shown as a separate item. 

FRS 102.15.19(b) 

The financial statements shall disclose the 
carrying amount of investments in jointly 
controlled entities. 

Current assets 
See comments on company balance sheet on 
page 46. 

Financial Instruments 
FRS 102.11.41 

An entity shall disclose the carrying amounts 
of each of the following categories of 
financial assets and financial liabilities at the 

reporting date, in total, either in the 
statement of financial position or in the 
notes: 

 Financial assets measured at fair value 
through profit or loss; 

 Financial assets that are debt instruments 
measured at amortised cost; 

 Financial assets that are equity 
instruments measured at cost less 
impairment; 

 Financial liabilities measured at fair value 
through profit or loss. Financial liabilities 
that are not held as part of a trading; 
portfolio and are not derivatives shall be 
shown separately 

 Financial liabilities measured at amortised 
cost; and 

 Loan commitments measured at cost less 
impairment. 

Author’s note 

The above disclosures are given by Good 
Practice Group Limited in the relevant notes 
to the financial statements. 

 

Author’s note 

Disclosures required under FRS 102.4.12 
(disclosures for share capital and reserves) on 
share capital are made in the notes to the 
financial statements. 

Extraordinary items 
FRS 102.5.10A 

Extraordinary items are material items 
possessing a high degree of abnormality 
which arise from events or transactions that 
fall outside the ordinary activities of the 
reporting entity and which are not expected 
to recur. 

Author’s note 

We would expect the occurrence of 
extraordinary items to be very rare. 
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   2013  2012 
 Notes £000 £000 £000 £000 
Capital and reserves       
Called up share capital 21  12,075  10,000 
Share premium account 23  493  500 
Capital redemption reserve 23  500  – 
Reserve for own shares 23  (774)  (774) 
Equity component of convertible 
preference shares 23  200  200 
Merger reserve 23  6,250  – 
Non-distributable reserve 23  5,159  5,624 
Profit and loss account 23  23,297  20,808 

      

Equity attributable to owners of the 
parent company   47,200  36,358 
Non-controlling interests   360  122 

      

   47,560  36,480 
      
            

 

 

Sir James Smith 
Chairman 

 

31 March 2014 
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Deferred tax 
FRS 102.29.23 

An entity shall present deferred tax liabilities 
within provisions for liabilities and deferred 
tax assets within debtors. 

Government Grants 
FRS 102.24.6 (b), (c), (d) 

An entity shall disclose the following: 

 the nature and amounts of grants 
recognised in the financial statements 

 unfulfilled conditions and other 
contingencies attaching to grants that 
have been recognised in income; and 

 an indication of other forms of 
government assistance from which the 
entity has directly benefited. 

Pensions 
Author’s note 

Neither the Companies Act, nor FRS 102, 
detail where a defined benefit pension 
surplus or deficit should be placed on the 
statement of financial position. We have 
therefore followed the previous guidance in 
FRS 17.47 requiring this to be presented 
after accruals and deferred income, but 
before capital and reserves. 

Non-controlling interests 
6 Sch 17(2)  
The amount of capital and reserves 
attributable to minority interests should be 
disclosed separately and under an 
appropriate heading.  

Capital and reserves 
For other matters see comments on company 
balance sheet on page 46. 

Signature 
s414, 433 
The group balance sheet is not required to be 
signed, but it is considered to be good 
practice to do so. 

Only one director need sign the balance 
sheet on behalf of the board. The copy of the 
balance sheet delivered to the Registrar of 
Companies must be signed and state the 
name of the director. 

 

FRS 102.32.9 

An entity shall disclose the date when the 
financial statements were authorised for 
issue and who gave that authorisation. If the 
entity’s owners or others have the power to 
amend the financial statements after issue, 
the entity shall explain that fact. 
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General and presentation  
See comments on group balance sheet on 
pages 42 and 44. 

s394 
Individual accounts must be prepared by a 
company for its financial year. 

s399(2), s434(2) 
The balance sheet of the parent company 
must be included with the group 
financial statements. 

Current assets 
1 Sch 23-24 
Current assets are to be valued at the lower 
of purchase price or production cost and net 
realisable value. 

FRS 102.4.4A 
The amount of debtors due after more than 
one year should be disclosed on the face of 
the balance sheet where the amount is so 
material in the context of the total net 
current assets that in the absence of such 
disclosure on the face of the balance sheet, 
readers may misinterpret the financial 
statements. 

1 Sch formats 
Disclose investments held as current assets 
under that heading. 

Capital and reserves 
FRS 102.22.16 

An entity shall deduct from equity the fair 
value of the consideration given for the 
treasury shares. 

s610(1) 
If a company issues shares at a premium, 
whether for cash or otherwise, a sum equal 
to the aggregate amount or value of the 
premiums on those shares shall be 
transferred to an account called “the share 
premium account”. 

Signature 
s414 
The parent company balance sheet published 
with the group financial statements must be 
signed by a director of the company. Only 
one director need sign the balance sheet on 
behalf of the board.  

s445(5), s446(3) 
The copy of the balance sheet delivered to 
the Registrar of the Companies must be 
signed and must state the name of the 
person who signed it on behalf of the board. 

s433 
Every copy of the balance sheet which is 
published by or on behalf of the company 
shall state the name of the person who 
signed the balance sheet on behalf of the 
board. 

FRS 102.32.9 

An entity shall disclose the date when the 
financial statements were authorised for 
issue and who gave that authorisation. If the 
entity’s owners or others have the power to 
amend the financial statements after issue, 
the entity shall explain that fact. 
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   2013  2012 
 Notes £000 £000 £000 £000 

Fixed assets      
Tangible assets 12  13,840  14,104 
Investments 13  16,336  8,371 

      

   30,176  22,475 
      

Current assets      
Stocks 14  11,620  7,125 
Debtors: 15     
 amounts falling due within one year  6,118  4,977  
 amounts falling due after one year  8,900  6,350  

      

   15,018  11,327 
Cash at bank and in hand   2,230  6,554 

      

   28,868  25,006 
Creditors: amounts falling due within  

one year 16  9,615  7,524 
      

      
Net current assets   19,253  17,482 

      

      
Total assets less current liabilities   49,429  39,957 
      
Creditors: amounts falling due after 

more than one year 17  13,328  12,454 
      
Provisions for liabilities  20  789  969 
      
Accruals and deferred income      
Deferred government grants   1,183  925 

      

   15,300  14,348 
      

Net assets excluding pension liability   34,129  25,609 
Defined benefit pension liability 25  798  1,280 
      
Net Assets   33,331  24,329 

            
      
Capital and reserves      
Called up share capital 21  12,075  10,000 
Share premium account 23  493  500 
Capital redemption fund reserve 23  500  – 
Reserve for own shares 23  (774)  (774) 
Equity component of convertible 

preference shares 23  200  200 
Merger reserve 23  6,250  – 
Non-distributable reserve 23  2,765  3,154 
Profit and loss account 23  11,822  11,249 

      
      
   33,331  24,329 

            

Sir James Smith 
Chairman 
31 March 2014 
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General 
FRS 102.7.3 
An entity shall present a statement of cash 
flows that presents cash flows for a reporting 
period classified by operating activities, 
investing activities and financing activities. 

Format and classification 
FRS 102.7.4 
Operating activities are the principal revenue-
producing activities of the entity. Therefore, 
cash flows from operating activities generally 
result from the transactions and other events 
and conditions that enter into determination 
of profit or loss. Examples of cash flows from 
operating activities are; 
(a) cash receipts from the sale of goods or 
rendering of services; 
(b) cash receipts from royalties, fees, 
commissions and other revenue; 
(c) cash payments to suppliers for goods and 
services; 
(d) cash payments to and on behalf of 
employees; 
(e) cash payments or refunds of income tax, 
unless they can be specifically identified with 
financing and investing activities; 
(f) cash receipts and payments from 
investments, loans and other contracts held 
for dealing or trading purposes, which are 
similar to inventory acquired specifically for 
resale; and  
(g) cash advances and loans made to other 
parties by financial institutions. 
Some transactions, such as the sale of an 
item of plant by a manufacturing entity may 
give rise to a gain or loss that is included in 
profit of loss. However, the cash flows 
relating to such transactions are cash flows 
from investing activities. 

FRS 102.7.5 
Investing activities are the acquisition and 
disposal of long-term assets and other 
investments not included in cash equivalents. 
Examples of cash flows arising from investing 
activities are: 
(a) cash payments to acquire property, plant 
and equipment (including self-constructed 
property, plant and equipment), intangible 
assets and other long-term assets. 

(b) cash receipts from sales of property, plant 
and equipment, intangible assets and other 
long-term assets. 
(c) cash payments to acquire equity or debt 
instruments of other entities and interests in 
joint ventures (other than payments for those 
instruments classified as cash equivalents or 
held for dealing or trading) 
(d) cash receipts from sales of equity or debt 
instruments of other entities and interests in 
joint ventures (other than receipts for those 
instruments classified as cash equivalents or 
held for dealing or trading) 
(e) cash advances and loans made to other 
parties 
(f) cash receipts from the repayment of 
advances and loans made to other parties 
(g) cash payments for futures contracts, 
forward contracts, option contracts and swap 
contracts, except when the contracts are held 
for dealing or trading, or the payments are 
classified as financing activities 
(h) cash receipts from futures contracts, 
forward contracts, option contracts and swap 
contracts except when the contracts are held 
for dealing or trading, or the receipts are 
classified as financing activities 
When a contract is accounted for as a hedge 
an entity shall classify the cash flows of the 
contract in the same manner as the cash 
flows of the item being hedged. 
FRS 102.7.6 
Financing activities are activities that result 
in changes in the size and composition of the 
contributed equity and borrowings of an 
entity. Examples of cash flows arising from 
financing activities are: 
(a) cash proceeds from issuing shares or 
other equity instruments 
(b) cash payments to owners to acquire or 
redeem the entity’s shares 
(c) cash proceeds from issuing debentures, 
loans, notes, bonds, mortgages and other 
short term or long term borrowings 
(d) cash repayments of amounts borrowed 
(e) cash payments by a lessee for the 
reduction of the outstanding liability relating 
to a finance lease. 
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Group statement of cash flows    

  2013 2012 
 Notes £000 £000 

    
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities 24(a) (859) 3,964 

    

    
Investing activities    
Dividends from joint venture   700 545 
Interest received   993 345 
Dividends received   200 160 
Payments to acquire intangible fixed assets   (575) (1,010) 
Payments to acquire tangible fixed assets   (12,815) (3,875) 
Receipts from sales of tangible fixed assets   8,625 2,765 
Payments to acquire investments   (465) (230) 
Receipts from sales of investments   125 – 
Receipt of government grants   1,392 765 
Sale of subsidiary undertaking  13 55 – 
Net overdrafts disposed of with subsidiary undertaking  13 2,117 – 
Purchase of subsidiary undertaking  13 (500) – 
Net cash acquired with subsidiary undertaking  13 230 – 
Dividends from associate   135 105 

    

Net cash flow from investing activities  217 (430) 
    
Financing activities    
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests   (30) (30) 
Dividends paid to preference shareholders   (175) (175) 
Interest paid   (973) (1,075) 
Interest element of finance lease rental payments   (40) (50) 
Issue costs on new long-term loans   (50) (56) 
Issue of ordinary share capital   175 – 
Share issue costs   (100) – 
Purchase of own shares   (1,700)  
Share purchase costs   (100)  
New long-term loans   4,660 4,500 
Repayment of long-term loans   (500) – 
Repayments of capital element of finance leases and  

hire purchase contracts   (370) (243) 
Equity dividends paid  22 (1,431) (1,170) 
Net cash flow from financing activities  (634) 1,701 

    

    
(Decrease)/Increase in cash and cash equivalents  (1,276) 5,235 
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents  (120) (78) 
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January  7,560 2,403 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 24(b) 6,164 7,560 
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Format and classification (continued) 
FRS 102.7.10 

An entity shall present separately major 
classes of gross cash receipts and cash 
payments from investing and financing 
activities, except to the extent permitted by 
7.10A and 7.10D. The aggregate cash flows 
arising from acquisitions and disposals of 
subsidiaries or other business units shall be 
presented separately and classified as 
investing activities. 

FRS 102.7.10A 

Cash flows arising from the following 
operating, investing or financing activities 
may be reported on a net basis: 

 cash receipts and payments on behalf of 
customers when the cash flows reflect the 
activities of the customer rather than 
those of the entity; and 

 cash receipts and payments for items in 
which the turnover is quick, the amounts 
are large and the maturities are short. 

Foreign currencies 
FRS 102.7.11 
An entity shall record cash flows arising from 
transactions in a foreign currency in the 
entity’s functional currency by applying to 
the foreign currency amount the exchange 
rate between the functional currency and the 
foreign currency at the date of the cash flow 
or an exchange rate that approximates the 
actual rate (for example, a weighted average 
exchange rate for the period). 

FRS 102.7.12 
An entity shall translate cash flows of a 
foreign subsidiary at the exchange rate 
between the entity’s functional currency and 
the foreign currency at the date of the cash 
flow or at an exchange rate that 
approximates the actual rate. 

FRS 102.7.13 
Unrealised gains and losses arising from 
changes in foreign currency exchange rates 
are not cash flows. However to reconcile cash 
and cash equivalents at the beginning and 
the end of the period, the effect of exchange 

rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 
held or due in a foreign currency must be 
presented in the statement of cash flows. 
Therefore the entity shall remeasure cash 
and cash equivalents held during the 
reporting period (such as amounts of foreign 
currency held and foreign currency bank 
accounts) at period-end exchange rates. The 
entity shall present the resulting unrealised 
gain or loss separately from cash flows from 
operating, investing and financing activities. 

Interest and dividends 
FRS 102.7.14 
An entity shall present separately cash flows 
from interest and dividends received and 
paid. The entity shall classify these cash 
flows consistently from period to period as 
operating, investing or financing activities.  
FRS 102.7.15 
An entity may classify interest paid and 
interest and dividends received as operating 
cash flows because they are included in 
profit or loss. Alternatively, the entity may 
classify interest paid and interest and 
dividends received as financing cash flows 
and investing cash flows respectively, 
because they are costs of obtaining financial 
resources or returns on investments. 
FRS 102.7.16 
An entity may classify dividends paid as a 
financing cash flow because they are a cost 
of obtaining financial resources. 
Alternatively, the entity may classify 
dividends paid as a component of cash flows 
from operating activities because they are 
paid out of operating cash flows. 
Income tax 
FRS 102.7.17 
An entity shall present separately cash flows 
arising from income tax and shall classify 
them as cash flows from operating activities 
unless they can be specifically identified with 
financing and investing activities. When tax 
cash flows are allocated over more than one 
class of activity, the entity shall disclose the 
total amount of taxes paid. 
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Non cash transactions 
FRS 102.7.18 
An entity shall exclude from the statement of 
cash flows investing and financing 
transactions that do not require the use of 
cash and cash equivalents. An entity shall 
disclose such transactions elsewhere in the 
financial statements in a way that provides all 
the relevant information about those 
investing and financing activities. 

Components of cash and cash 
equivalents 
FRS 102.7.20 
An entity shall present the components of 
cash and cash equivalents and shall present a 
reconciliation of the amounts presented in 
the statement of cash flows to the equivalent 
items presented in the statement of financial 
position. However, an entity is not required to 
present this reconciliation if the amount of 
cash and cash equivalents presented in the 
statement of cash flows is identical to the 
amount similarly described in the statement 
of financial position. 

FRS 102.7.21 

An entity shall disclose, together with a 
commentary by management, the amount of 
significant cash and cash equivalent balances 
held by the entity that are not available for 
use by the entity. Cash and cash equivalents 
held by an entity may not be available for use 
by the entity because of, among other 
reasons, foreign exchange controls or legal 
restrictions.
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Basis of preparation 
FRS 102.3.24(a) 

An entity shall disclose in the notes the legal 
form of the entity, its country of 
incorporation and the address of its 
registered office (or principal place of 
business, if different from registered office). 

1 Sch 45 
Disclose whether the accounts have been 
prepared in accordance with applicable 
accounting standards and particulars of any 
material departure from those standards 
giving the reason. Medium-sized companies 
are exempt from this requirement. 

FRS 102.3.23 (d), (e) 

An entity shall display the following 
information prominently, and repeat it when 
necessary for an understanding of the 
information presented: 

 The presentation currency 

 The level of rounding, if any, used in 
presenting amounts in the financial 
statements. 

Accounting policies – General 
1 Sch 44 
Disclose a description of each of the 
accounting policies that is material in the 
context of an entity’s financial statements. 
This must include the policies with respect to 
the depreciation and diminution in value of 
assets. 

FRS 102.8.5 
An entity shall disclose the following in the 
summary of significant accounting policies: 
a) The measurement basis (or bases) used 

in the preparing the financial 
statements. 

b) The other accounting policies used that 
are relevant to an understanding of the 
financial statements. 

1 Sch 10-15 
Disclose if any fundamental accounting 
principles (going concern, consistency, 
prudence and accruals) have not been 
observed, giving particulars of the nature of 
the departure, the reason and the effect. In 
the absence of such disclosure there is a 
presumption that the four fundamental 
concepts have been observed. 

Information about judgements 
FRS 102.8.6 
An entity shall disclose, in the summary of 
significant accounting policies or other 
notes, the judgements, apart from those 
involving estimations, that management has 
made in the process of applying the entity’s 
accounting policies and that have the most 
significant effect on the amounts recognised 
in the financial statements. 
 

Information about key sources of 
estimation uncertainty 
FRS 102.8.7 
An entity shall disclose in the notes 
information about the key assumptions 
concerning the future, and other key sources 
of estimation uncertainty at the reporting 
date, that have a significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year. In respect of those assets and 
liabilities, the notes shall include details of: 
a) Their nature; and 
b) Their carrying amount as at the end of 

the reporting period. 
Basis of consolidation 
FRS 102.19.6 

All business combinations shall be accounted 
for by applying the purchase method, except 
for group reconstructions and public benefit 
entity combinations that are in substance a 
gift or that are a merger. 

FRS 102.19.7 

Applying the purchase method involves 
identifying the acquirer, measuring the cost 
of the business combination, and allocating, 
at the acquisition date, the cost of the 
business combination to the assets acquired 
and liabilities and provisions for contingent 
liabilities assumed. 

Associates 

FRS 102.14.12 (a) 

The financial statements shall disclose the 
accounting policy for investments in 
associates. 
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1. Accounting policies 
Statement of compliance  

Good Practice Group Limited is a limited 
liability company incorporated in England. 
The Registered Office is 47 Mining Lane, 
London EC4 3AB. 

The Group’s financial statements have been 
prepared in compliance with FRS 102 as it 
applies to the financial statements of the 
Group for the year ended 31 December 
2013. 

The Group transitioned from previously 
extant UK GAAP to FRS 102 as at 1 January 
2012. An explanation of how transition to 
FRS 102 has affected the reported financial 
position and financial performance is given in 
note 34. 

Basis of preparation and change in 
accounting policy 
The financial statements of Good Practice 
Group Limited were approved for issue by the 
Board of Directors on 31 March 2014. The 
financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with applicable accounting 
standards. The financial statements are 
prepared in sterling which is the functional 
currency of the group and rounded to the 
nearest £’000. 

Basis of consolidation 
The group financial statements consolidate 
the financial statements of Good Practice 
Group Limited and all its subsidiary 
undertakings drawn up to 31 December each 
year. No profit and loss account is presented 
for Good Practice Group Limited as permitted 
by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006. 

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date 
of their acquisition, being the date on which 
the Group obtains control and continue to be 
consolidated until the date that such control 
ceases. Control comprises the power to 
govern the financial and operating policies of 
the investee so as to obtain benefit from its 
activities. 

Extinguishers Limited has been included in 
the group financial statements using the 
purchase method of accounting. Accordingly, 
the group profit and loss account and 
statement of cash flows include the results 
and cash flows of Extinguishers Limited for 
the eight month period from its acquisition 
on 1 May 2013. The purchase consideration 
has been allocated to the assets and liabilities 

on the basis of fair value at the date of 
acquisition. 

The group profit and loss account and 
statement of cash flows also include the 
results and cash flows of Sprinklers Inc. for 
the seven-month period from its 
incorporation on 5 June 2013 and includes 
the results and cash flows of Hose Limited for 
the eleven month period to 30 November 
2013, the date of its sale outside the group. 

Entities in which the group holds an interest 
and which are jointly controlled by the group 
and one or more other venturers under a 
contractual arrangement are treated as joint 
ventures. 
In the group financial statements, joint 
ventures are accounted for using the equity 
method. 

Entities, other than subsidiary undertakings 
or joint ventures, in which the group has a 
participating interest and over whose 
operating and financial policies the group 
exercises a significant influence are treated 
as associates. In the group financial 
statements, associates are accounted for 
using the equity method. 

In the parent company financial statements 
investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures 
and associates are accounted for at cost less 
impairment. 

Judgements and key sources of estimation 
uncertainty 

The preparation of the financial statements 
requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the 
amounts reported for assets and liabilities as 
at the balance sheet date and the amounts 
reported for revenues and expenses during 
the year. However, the nature of estimation 
means that actual outcomes could differ 
from those estimates. The following 
judgements (apart from those involving 
estimates) have had the most significant 
effect on amounts recognised in the financial 
statements. 
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Joint ventures 

FRS 102.15.19(a) 

The financial statements shall disclose the 
accounting policy for recognising 
investments in jointly controlled entities. 

Change in accounting policy 
FRS 102.10.13 

When an amendment to this FRS has an 
effect on the current period or any prior 
period, or might have an effect on future 
periods, an entity shall disclose the following: 

a) The nature of the change in accounting 
policy 

b) For the current period and each prior 
period presented, to the extent 
practicable, the amount of the 
adjustment for each financial statement 
line item affected. 

c) The amount of the adjustment relating to 
periods before those presented, to the 
extent practicable. 

d) An explanation if it is impracticable to 
determine the amounts to be disclosed in 
(b) or (c) above 

Financial statements of subsequent periods 
need not repeat these disclosures. 

FRS 102.10.14 

When a voluntary change in accounting policy 
has an effect on the current period or any 
prior period, an entity shall disclose the 
following: 

a) The nature of the change in accounting 
policy. 

b) The reasons why applying the new 
accounting policy provides reliable and 
more relevant information. 

c) To the extent practicable, the amount of 
the adjustment for each financial 
statement line item affected, shown 
separately: 

i. For the current period; 

ii. For each period presented; and 

iii. In aggregate for periods before 
those presented. 

d) An explanation if it is impracticable to 
determine the amounts to be disclosed in 
(c) above. 

Financial statements of subsequent periods 
need not repeat these disclosures. 

Changes in accounting estimate 
FRS 102.10.18 

An entity shall disclose the nature of any 
change in an accounting estimate and the 
effect of the change on assets, liabilities, 
income and expense for the current period. If 
it is practicable for the entity to estimate the 
effect of the change in one or more future 
periods, the entity shall disclose those 
estimates. 

Correction of prior period errors 

FRS 102.10.23 

An entity shall disclose the following about 
material prior period errors: 

a) The nature of the prior period error. 

b) For each prior period presented, to the 
extent practicable, the amount of the 
correction for each financial statement 
line item affected. 

c) To the extent practicable, the amount of 
the correction at the beginning of the 
earliest prior period presented. 

d) An explanation if it is not practicable to 
determine the amounts to be disclosed in 
(b) or (c) above. 

Financial statements of subsequent periods 
need not repeat these disclosures. 
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1. Accounting policies (continued) 
Judgements and key sources of estimation 
uncertainty (continued) 

Development expenditure 

Development expenditure is capitalised in 
accordance with the accounting policy given 
below. Initial capitalisation of costs is based 
on management’s judgement that technical 
and economic feasibility is confirmed, usually 
when a product development project has 
reached a defined milestone according to an 
established project management model. In 
determining the amounts to be capitalised 
management makes assumptions regarding 
the expected future cash generation of the 
assets, discount rates to be applied and the 
expected period of benefits. 

Operating lease commitments 

The Group has entered into commercial 
property leases as a lessor on its investment 
property portfolio and as a lessee it obtains 
use of property, plant and equipment. The 
classification of such leases as operating or 
finance  lease requires the Group to 
determine, based on an evaluation of the 
terms and conditions of the arrangements, 
whether it retains or acquires the significant 
risks and rewards of ownership of these 
assets and accordingly whether the lease 
requires an asset and liability to be 
recognised in the statement of financial 
position.  

The following are the Groups key sources of 
estimation uncertainty: 

Revaluation of investment properties 

The Group carries its investment property at 
fair value, with changes in fair value being 
recognised in profit or loss. The Group 
engaged independent valuation specialists to 
determine fair value at 31 December 2013. 
The valuer used a valuation technique based 
on a discounted cash flow model as there is a 
lack of comparable market data because of 
the nature of the property. The determined 
fair value of the investment property is most 
sensitive to the estimated yield as well as the 
long term vacancy rate. The key assumptions 
used to determine the fair value of 
investment property are further explained in 
note 12. 

 

Pension and other post-employment 
benefits 

The cost of defined benefit pension plans and 
other post-employment medical benefits are 
determined using actuarial valuations. The 
actuarial valuation involves making 
assumptions about discount rates, future 
salary increases, mortality rates and future 
pension increases. Due to the complexity of 
the valuation, the underlying assumptions 
and the long term nature of these plans, such 
estimates are subject to significant 
uncertainty. In determining the appropriate 
discount rate, management considers the 
interest rates of corporate bonds in the 
respective currency with at least AA rating, 
with extrapolated maturities corresponding 
to the expected duration of the defined 
benefit obligation. The underlying bonds are 
further reviewed for quality, and those 
having excessive credit spreads are removed 
from the population bonds on which the 
discount rate is based, on the basis that they 
do not represent high quality bonds. The 
mortality rate is based on publicly available 
mortality tables for the specific country. 
Future salary increases and pension 
increases are based on expected future 
inflation rates for the respective country. 
Further details are given in note 25.  

Goodwill and intangible assets 

The Group establishes a reliable estimate of 
the useful life of goodwill and intangible 
assets arising on business combinations. This 
estimate is based on a variety of factors such 
as the expected use of the acquired business, 
the expected usual life of the cash generating 
units to which the goodwill is attributed, any 
legal, regulatory or contractual provisions 
that can limit useful life and assumptions 
that market participants would consider in 
respect of similar businesses. 
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Goodwill  
1 Sch 22 
Positive purchased goodwill should be 
capitalised and classified as an asset on the 
balance sheet. Internally generated goodwill 
should not be capitalised. 

1 Sch 22 
Where goodwill is regarded as having a 
limited useful economic life, it should be 
amortised on a systematic basis over that 
life. The method and period of amortisation 
should be disclosed and the reason for 
choosing that period.  

6 Sch 21(1) 
Goodwill arising on the acquisition of joint 
ventures and associates should be treated in 
the same way as any other goodwill. 

1 Sch 22(2) 
Where Goodwill is not amortised or is 
amortised over a period exceeding 20 years 
then the grounds for rebutting the 20 year 
presumption must be given. This should be a 
reasoned explanation based on the specific 
factors involved. In addition, where goodwill 
is not amortised the financial statements 
shall state that they depart from the 
Companies Act requirements to amortise 
goodwill for the overriding purpose of giving 
a true and fair view. Particulars of the 
departure, the reasons for it and its effect 
should be given in sufficient detail. 

FRS 102.19.22 

The acquirer shall, at the date of acquisition: 

 Recognise goodwill acquired in a business 
combination as an asset; and 

 Initially measure goodwill at its cost, 
being the excess of the costs of the 
business acquisition over the acquirer’s 
interest in the net amount of the 
identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities. 

FRS 102.19.23 

After initial recognition the acquirer shall 
measure goodwill acquired in a business 
combination at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment 
losses. Goodwill shall be considered to have a 
finite useful life, and shall be amortised on a 
systematic basis over its life. If an entity is 
unable to make a reliable estimate of the 
useful life of goodwill, the life shall not 
exceed five years. 

FRS 102.19.24 

If the acquirers interest in the net amount of 
the identifiable assets, liabilities and 
provisions for contingent liabilities exceeds 
the cost of the business combination 
(‘negative goodwill’) it shall: 

 Recognise and separately disclose the 
resulting excess on the face of the 
statement of financial position on the 
acquisition date, immediately below 
goodwill, and followed by a subtotal of the 
net amount of goodwill and the excess. 

 Recognise subsequently the excess up to 
the fair value of non-monetary assets 
acquired in profit or loss in the periods in 
which the non-monetary assets are 
recovered. Any excess exceeding the fair 
value of the assets acquired shall be 
recognised in profit or loss in the periods 
expected to be benefited. 
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1. Accounting policies (continued) 
Judgements and key sources of estimation 
uncertainty (continued) 

Impairment of non-financial assets 

Where there are indicators of impairment of 
individual assets, the Group performs 
impairment tests based on fair value less 
costs to sell or a value in use calculation. The 
fair value less costs to sell calculation is 
based on available data from binding sales 
transactions in an arm’s length transaction 
on similar assets or observable market prices 
less incremental costs for disposing of the 
asset. The value in use calculation is based 
on a discounted cash flow model. The cash 
flows are derived from the budget for the 
next five years and do not include 
restructuring activities that the Group is not 
yet permitted to or significant future 
investments that will enhance the asset’s 
performance of the cash generating unit 
being tested. The recoverable amount is 
most sensitive to the discount rate used for 
the discounted cash flow model as well as the 
expected future cash flows and the growth 
rate used for extrapolation purposes.  

Taxation 

The Group establishes provisions based on 
reasonable estimates, for possible 
consequences of audits by the tax authorities 
of the consequences of audits by the tax 
authorities of the respective countries in 
which it operates. The amount of such 
provisions is based on various factors, such 
as experience with previous tax audits and 
differing interpretations of tax regulations by 
the taxable entity and the responsible tax 
authority. 

Management estimation is required to 
determine the amount of deferred tax assets 
that can be recognised, based upon likely 
timing and level of future taxable profits 
together with an assessment of the effect of 
future tax planning strategies. Further details 
are contained in note 9. 

Goodwill 
Positive goodwill acquired on each business 
combination is capitalised, classified as an 
asset on the statement of financial position 
and amortised on a straight line basis over its 
useful life.  

Goodwill acquired in a business combination 
is, from the acquisition date, allocated to 
each cash generating unit that is expected to 
benefit from the synergies of the 
combination. 

If a subsidiary, associate or business is 
subsequently sold or discontinued, any 
goodwill arising on acquisition that has not 
been amortised through the profit and loss 
account is taken into account in determining 
the profit or loss on sale or discontinuance. 
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Intangible assets 
FRS 102.18.8 

An intangible asset acquired in a business 
combination is normally recognised as an 
asset because its fair value can be measured 
with sufficient reliability. However, an 
intangible asset acquired in a business 
combination is not recognised when it arises 
from legal or other contractual rights and 
there is no history or evidence of exchange 
transactions for the same or similar assets, 
or otherwise estimating fair value would be 
dependent on immeasurable variables. 

FRS 102.18.9 

An entity shall measure an intangible asset 
initially at cost. 

FRS 102.18.18 

An entity shall measure intangible assets 
after initial recognition using the cost model 
or the revaluation model. Where the 
revaluation model is selected, this shall be 
applied to all intangible assets in the same 
class. If an intangible asset in a class of 
revalued intangible assets cannot be revalued 
because there is no active market for this 
asset, the asset shall be carried at cost less 
any accumulated amortisation and 
impairment losses. 

FRS 102.18.18A 

After recognition under the cost model, an 
entity shall measure its assets at cost less 
any accumulated amortisation and any 
accumulated impairment losses.  

FRS 102.18.18B  

After recognition under the revaluation 
model, an intangible asset shall be carried at 
a revalued amount, being its fair value at the 
date of revaluation less any subsequent 
accumulated amortisation and subsequent 
accumulated impairment losses, provided 
that the fair value can be determined by 
reference to an active market. 

FRS 102.18.18D 

Revaluations shall be made with sufficient 
regularity to ensure that the carrying amount 
does not differ materially from that which 
would be determined using fair value at the 
end of the reporting period. 

 

 

FRS 102.18.19, 18.20 

For the purpose of this FRS, all intangible 
assets shall be considered to have a finite 
useful life. If an entity is unable to make a 
reliable estimate of the useful life shall not 
exceed five years 

FRS 102.18.21 

An entity shall allocate the depreciable 
amount of an intangible asset on a systematic 
basis over its useful life.  The amortisation 
charge for each period shall be recognised in 
profit or loss, unless another section of FRS 
102 requires the cost to be recognised as 
part of the cost of an asset. 

FRS 102.18.25 

To determine whether an intangible asset is 
impaired, an entity shall apply Section 27 
Impairment of Assets. 

FRS 102.18.27 

An entity shall disclose the following for each 
class of intangible assets: 

a) The useful lives or the amortisation 
rates used and the reasons for 
choosing those periods. 

b) The amortisation methods used. 

Impairment of non-financial assets 

FRS 102.27.7 

An entity shall assess at each reporting date 
whether there is an indication that an asset 
may be impaired. If any such indication 
exists, the entity shall estimate the 
recoverable amount of the asset. If there is 
no indication of impairment, it is not 
necessary to estimate the recoverable 
amount. 

FRS 102.27.6 

An entity shall recognise an impairment loss 
immediately in profit or loss unless the asset 
is carried at a revalued amount in 
accordance with another section (for 
example, property, plant and equipment). 
Any decrease in a revalued amount shall be 
treated as a revaluation decrease in 
accordance with that other section. 

FRS 102.27.28 

Any impairment loss recognised for all 
assets, including goodwill, shall be reversed 
in a subsequent period if, and only if, the 
reasons for the impairment have ceased to 
exist. 
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1. Accounting policies (continued) 
Intangible assets 
Intangible assets acquired separately from a 
business are capitalised at cost. Intangible 
assets acquired as part of an acquisition of a 
business are capitalised separately from 
goodwill if the fair value can be measured 
reliably on initial recognition. Intangible 
assets acquired as part of an acquisition are 
not recognised where they arise from legal or 
other contractual rights, and where there is 
no history of exchange transactions. 
Intangible assets, excluding development 
costs, created within the business are not 
capitalised and expenditure is charged 
against profits in the year in which it is 
incurred. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible 
assets are stated at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment. 
Intangible assets are amortised on a straight 
line basis over their estimated useful. The 
carrying value of intangible assets is 
reviewed for impairment if events or changes 
in circumstances indicate the carrying value 
may not be recoverable.  

The useful economic lives of intangible assets 
are as follows: 

Development costs – 10 years 

Patents – 10 years 

Customer lists – 10 years 

If there are indicators that the residual value 
or useful life of an intangible asset has 
changed since the most recent annual 
reporting period previous estimates shall be 
reviewed and, if current expectations differ 
the residual value, amortisation method or 
useful life shall be amended. Changes in the 
expected useful life or the expected pattern 
of consumption of benefit shall be accounted 
for as a change in accounting estimate. 

Impairment of non-financial assets 
The Group assesses at each reporting date 
whether an asset may be impaired. If any 
such indication exists the Group estimates 
recoverable amount of the asset. If it is not 
possible to estimate the recoverable amount 
of the individual asset, the Group estimates, 
the recoverable amount of the cash-

generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-
generating unit is the higher of its fair value 
less costs to sell and its value in use. If the 
recoverable amount is less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset is 
impaired and it is reduced to its recoverable 
amount through an impairment in profit and 
loss unless the asset is carried at a revalued 
amount where the impairment loss of a 
revalued asset is a revaluation decrease.  

An impairment loss recognised for all assets, 
including goodwill, is reversed in a 
subsequent period if and only if the reasons 
for the impairment loss have ceased to apply. 
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Investment properties 
FRS 102.16.7 
Investment property whose fair value can be 
measured reliably without undue cost or 
effort shall be measured at fair value at each 
reporting date with changes in fair value 
recognised in profit or loss. An entity shall 
account for all other investment property as 
property plant and equipment using the cost 
model in Section 17. 
FRS 102.16.8 
If a reliable measure of fair value is no longer 
available without undue cost and effort for an 
item of investment property measured using 
the fair value model, the entity shall 
thereafter account for that item as property, 
plant and equipment in accordance with 
Section 17 until a reliable measure of fair 
value becomes available. The carrying 
amount of the investment property on that 
date becomes its cost under Section 17. 
Paragraph 16.10(e)(iii) requires disclosure of 
this change. It is a change in circumstances 
and not a change in accounting policy. 
Tangible fixed assets 
FRS 102.17.15 
An entity shall measure all items or property 
plant and equipment after initial recognition 
using the cost model or the revaluation 
model. Where the revaluation model is 
selected, this shall be applied to all items of 
property, plant and equipment in the same 
class (ie having a similar nature, function or 
use in the business). An entity shall recognise 
the costs of day to day servicing of an item 
of property, plant and equipment in profit or 
loss in the period in which the costs are 
incurred. 
FRS 102.17.15A 
Under the cost model, an entity shall 
measure an item of property, plant and 
equipment at cost less any accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. 
FRS 102.17.15B 
Under the revaluation model and item of 
property, plant and equipment whose fair 
value can be measured reliably shall be 
carried at a revalued amount, being its fair 
value at the date of revaluation less any 
subsequent accumulated depreciation and 
subsequent impairment losses. Revaluations 
shall be made with sufficient regularity to 

ensure that the carrying amount does not 
differ materially from that which would be 
determined using fair value at the end of the 
reporting period. 
FRS 102.17.15E 
If an asset’s carrying amount is increased as 
a result of a revaluation, the increase shall be 
recognised in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated in equity. However, the 
increase shall be recognised in profit and loss 
to the extent that it reverses a revaluation 
decrease of the same asset previously 
recognised in profit or loss.  
FRS 102.17.15F 
The decrease of an asset’s carrying amount 
as a result of revaluation shall be recognised 
in other comprehensive income to the extent 
of any previously recognised revaluation 
increase accumulated in equity, in respect of 
that asset. If a revaluation decrease exceeds 
the accumulated revaluation gains 
accumulated in equity in respect of that 
asset, the excess shall be recognised in profit 
or loss.  
Depreciation 
1Sch 18, FRS 102.17.18 
The difference between the purchase price or 
production cost (or revalued amount) and 
estimated residual value of a fixed asset 
which has a limited useful economic life 
should be allocated on a systematic basis to 
each accounting period during the useful life 
of the asset. The depreciation charge for 
each period should be recognised as an 
expense in the profit and loss account unless 
it is permitted to be included in the carrying 
amount of another asset. For each major 
class of depreciable asset the method of 
depreciation and the useful economic lives 
(or depreciation rates) should be disclosed. 

FRS 102.17.31 

An entity shall disclose the following for each 
class of property plant and equipment: 

a) The measurement basis used for 
determining the gross carrying 
amount. 

b) The depreciation methods used. 

c) The useful lives or the depreciation 
rates used. 
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1. Accounting policies (continued) 
Investment properties 
Certain of the group’s properties are held for 
long-term investment. Investment properties 
are accounted for as follows: 

 Investment properties are initially 
recognised at cost which includes 
purchase cost and any directly 
attributable expenditure. 

 Investment properties whose fair value 
can be measured reliably are measured 
at fair value. The surplus or deficit on 
revaluation is recognised in the profit 
and loss account accumulated in the 
profit and loss reserve unless a deficit 
below original cost, or its reversal, on an 
individual investment property is 
expected to be permanent, in which case 
it is recognised in the profit and loss 
account for the year. 

Property, Plant and Equipment 
Property, plant and equipment are stated at 
cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses. Such cost 
includes costs directly attributable to making 
the asset capable of operating as intended.  

Depreciation is provided on all property, plant 
and equipment, at rates calculated to write 
off the cost, less estimated residual value, of 
each asset on a systematic basis over its 
expected useful life as follows: 

 Leasehold land 
and buildings 

– over the shorter 
of the lease term 
and 20 years 

 Plant and 
machinery 

– over 5 to 15 
years 

The carrying values of tangible fixed assets 
are reviewed for impairment when events or 
changes in circumstances indicate the 
carrying value may not be recoverable. 
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Depreciation (continued) 
1 Sch 33, 35(1) 
On revaluation of assets other than 
investment properties, the revalued amount 
less any residual value should be depreciated 
over the remaining useful economic life. 
Depreciation charged prior to the revaluation 
should not be written back to the profit and 
loss account, except to the extent that it 
relates to a provision for diminution in value 
which is subsequently found to be 
unnecessary. 

Equity investments 
1 Sch 19(2) 
Provisions for diminution in value shall be 
made in respect of any fixed asset which has 
diminished in value if the reduction is 
expected to be permanent (whether its useful 
economic life is limited or not). 

FRS 102.11.40 

In accordance with paragraph 8.5, an entity 
shall disclose, in the summary of significant 
accounting policies, the measurement basis 
(or bases) used for financial instruments and 
other accounting policies that are relevant to 
an understanding of the financial statements. 

Author’s note 

Under Section 11 of FRS 102, entities have 
an accounting policy choice to either follow 
the provisions of sections 11 and 12 of the 
standard or apply the recognition and 
measurement provisions of IAS 39 and the 
disclosure requirements of Sections 11 and 
12 of FRS 102. Good Practice Group Limited 
has chosen to follow the provisions of 
Sections 11 and 12 of FRS 102. 

Revenue recognition 
FRS 102.23.30 

An entity shall disclose the accounting 
policies adopted for the recognition of 
revenue, including the methods adopted to 
determine the stage of completion of 
transactions involving the rendering of 
services. 

FRS 102.23.3 

An entity shall measure revenue at the fair 
value of the consideration received or 
receivable. The fair value of the 
consideration takes into account the amount 

of trade discounts, prompt settlement 
discounts and volume rebates allowed by the 
entity. 

FRS 102.23.10 

An entity shall recognise revenue from the 
sale of goods when all the following 
conditions are satisfied: 

 The entity has transferred to the buyer 
the significant risks and rewards of 
ownership of the goods; 

 The entity retains neither continuing 
managerial involvement to the degree 
usually associated with ownership nor 
effective control over the goods sold; 

 The amount of revenue can be measured 
reliably; 

 It is probable that the economic benefits 
associated with the transaction will flow 
to the entity; and 

 The costs incurred or to be incurred in 
respect of the transaction can be 
measured reliably. 

FRS 102.23.14 

When the outcome of a transaction involving 
the rendering of services can be measured 
reliably, an entity shall recognise revenue 
associated with the transaction by reference 
to the stage of completion of the transaction 
at the end of the reporting period. 

FRS 102.23.29 

An entity shall recognise revenue on the 
following bases: 

 Interest shall be recognised using the 
effective interest method. When 
calculating the effective interest rate, 
an entity shall include any related fees, 
finance charges paid or received, 
transaction costs and other premiums 
or discounts. 

 Royalties shall be recognised on an 
accrual basis in accordance with the 
substance of the relevant agreement. 

 Dividends shall be recognised when the 
shareholder’s right to receive payment 
is established. 
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1. Accounting policies (continued) 
Equity investments 
Equity investments are recognised initially at 
fair value which is normally the transaction 
price (but excludes any transaction costs, 
where the investment is subsequently 
measured at fair value through profit and 
loss). Subsequently, they are measured at fair 
value through profit or loss except for those 
equity investments that are not publicly 
traded and whose fair value cannot otherwise 
be measured reliably which are recognised at 
cost less impairment until a reliable measure 
of fair value becomes available.  

If a reliable measure of fair value is no longer 
available, the equity instrument’s fair value 
on the last date the instrument was reliably 
measurable is treated as the cost of the 
instrument. 

Revenue recognition 
Revenue is recognised to the extent that the 
group obtains the right to consideration in 
exchange for its performance. Revenue is 
measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received, excluding discounts, 
rebates, VAT and other sales taxes or duty. 
The following criteria must also be met 
before revenue is recognised: 

Sale of goods 
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised 
when the significant risks and rewards of 
ownership of the goods have passed to the 
buyer, usually on dispatch of the goods, the 
amount of revenue can be measured reliably, 
it is probable that the economic benefits 
associated with the transaction will flow to 
the entity and the costs incurred or to be 
incurred in respect of the transaction can be 
measured reliably. 

Rendering of services 
Revenue from the installation of fire 
extinguishers, fire prevention equipment and 
fire retardant fabrics is recognised by 
reference to the stage of completion. Stage 
of completion is measured by reference to 
labour hours incurred to date as a percentage 
of total estimated labour hours for each 

contract. Where the contract outcome cannot 
be measured reliably, revenue is recognised 
only to the extent of the expenses recognised 
that are recoverable. 

Interest income 
Revenue is recognised as interest accrues 
using the effective interest method. 

Dividends 
Revenue is recognised when the Group’s right 
to receive payment is established. 
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Government grants 
FRS 102.24.6 
An entity shall disclose the accounting policy 
adopted for grants. 
FRS 102.24.4 
An entity shall recognised grants either 
based on the performance model or the 
accrual model. This policy choice shall be 
applied on a class-by-class basis. 
FRS 102.24.5 
An entity shall measure grants at the fair 
value of the asset received or receivable. 
FRS 102.24.5A 
Where the grant becomes repayable it shall 
be recognised as a liability when the 
repayment meets the definition of a liability. 
FRS 102.24.5B 
An entity applying the performance model 
shall recognise grants as follows: 
a) a grant that does not impose specified 

future performance conditions on the 
recipient is recognised in income when 
the grant proceeds are receivable. 

b) A grant that imposes specified future 
performance conditions on the recipient 
is recognised in income only when the 
performance conditions are met. 

c) Grants received before the revenue 
recognition criteria are satisfied are 
recognised as a liability. 

FRS 102.24.5C 
An entity applying the accrual model shall 
classify grants either as a grant relating to 
revenue or a grant relating to assets. 
FRS 102.24.5D  
Grants relating to revenue shall be 
recognised on a systematic basis over the 
periods in which the entity recognises the 
related costs for this the grant is intended to 
compensate. 
FRS 102.24.5F 
Grants relating to assets shall be recognised 
in the income on a systematic basis over the 
expected useful life of the asset. 
Stocks 

1 Sch 23-24, FRS 102.13.4 
An entity shall measure inventories at the 
lower of cost and estimated selling price less 
costs to complete and sell. 

 

FRS 102.13.4A 

Inventories held for distribution shall be 
measured at current replacement cost 
adjusted, when applicable, for any loss if 
service potential. 

1 Sch 28(1)-(2)  
The Act allows the use of FIFO, LIFO, 
weighted average price and other similar 
methods for valuing stocks and fungible 
assets but the method chosen must appear to 
the directors to be appropriate.  

FRS 102.13.18 

An entity shall measure the cost of 
inventories by using the FIFO or weighted 
average cost formula. An entity shall use the 
same cost formula for all inventories having a 
similar nature and use to the entity. For 
inventories with a different nature or use, 
different cost formulas may be justified. LIFO 
is not permitted by this FRS. 

FRS 102.13.22 

An entity shall disclose the accounting 
policies adopted in measuring inventories, 
including the cost formula used. 

Research and development 

FRS 102.18.8H 

An entity may recognise an intangible asset 
arising from development (or from the 
development phase of an internal project) if, 
and only if, an entity can demonstrate all of 
the following: 
(a) The technical feasibility of completing the 
intangible asset so that it will be available for 
use or sale. 
(b) Its intention to complete the intangible 
asset and use or sell it. 
(c) Its ability to use or sell the intangible 
asset. 
(d) How the intangible asset will generate 
probable future economic benefits. Among 
other things, the entity can demonstrate the 
existence of a market for the output of the 
intangible asset or the intangible asset itself 
or, if it is to be used internally, the 
usefulness of the intangible asset. 
(e) The availability of adequate technical, 
financial and other resources to complete the 
development and to use or sell the intangible 
asset. 
(f) Its ability to measure reliably the 
expenditure attributable to the intangible 
asset during its development. 
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1. Accounting policies (continued) 
Government grants 

Government grants are recognised when it is 
reasonable to expect that the grants will be 
received and that all related conditions will be 
met, usually on submission of a valid claim 
for payment. 

Government grants in respect of capital 
expenditure are credited to a deferred 
income account and are released to profit 
over the expected useful lives of the relevant 
assets by equal annual instalments.  

Grants of a revenue nature are credited to 
income so as to match them with the 
expenditure to which they relate.  

Stocks 

Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. Cost includes all costs 
incurred in bringing each product to its 
present location and condition, as follows: 

Raw materials, 
consumables and 
goods for resale 

– purchase cost on 
a first-in, first-
out basis 

Work in progress and 
finished goods 

– cost of direct 
materials and 
labour plus 
attributable 
overheads based 
on a normal level 
of activity 

Net realisable value is based on estimated 
selling price less any further costs expected 
to be incurred to completion and disposal. 

Research and development 

Research and development expenditure is 
written off as incurred, except that 
development expenditure incurred on an 
individual project is capitalised as an 
intangible asset when the group can 
demonstrate the technical feasibility of 
completing the intangible asset so that it will 
be available for use or sale, its intention to 
complete and its ability to use or sell the 
asset, how the asset will generate future 
economic benefits, the availability of 
resources to complete the asset and the 
ability to measure reliably the expenditure 
during development 

Following initial recognition of the 
development expenditure as an asset, the 
cost model is applied requiring the asset to 
be carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment 
losses. Amortisation of the asset begins when 
development is complete and the asset is 
available for use. It is amortised evenly over 
the period of expected future benefit. During 
the period of development the asset is tested 
for impairment annually. 
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Research and development (continued) 
1 Sch 3(2), 21(1), FRS 102.18.8E   
Pure and applied research expenditure may 
not be capitalised and should be written off in 
the year of expenditure through the profit 
and loss account. Development expenditure 
may be capitalised under Section 18 in 
certain special circumstances. 

FRS 102.18.8H 

An entity may recognise an intangible asset 
arising from development if, and only if, it 
can demonstrate all of the following: 

 technical feasibility of completing the 
intangible asset 

 its intention to complete the intangible 
asset and use of sell it 

 its ability to use of sell the intangible 
asset 

 How the intangible asset will generate 
future economic benefits 

 The availability of adequate technical, 
financial and other resources to complete 
the development and to use or sell the 
asset 

 The ability to measure reliably the 
expenditure attributable to the asset 
during the development phase. 

FRS 102.18.8K 

Where an entity adopts a policy of 
capitalising expenditure in the development 
phase that meets the conditions in Section 
18, that policy shall be applied consistently 
to all expenditure that meets the 
requirements. 

1 Sch 21(2) 
Give the period over which capitalised 
development expenditure is being written  
off and the reasons for capitalising 
development costs. 

Provisions for liabilities 

FRS 102.21.7, FRS 102.21.11 

When the effect of the time value of money is 
material, the amount of a provision shall be 
the present value of the amount expected to 
be required to settle the obligation. When a 
provision is measured at the present value 
the unwinding of the discount shall be 

recognised as a finance cost in profit or loss 
in the period it arises. 

Deferred tax 

FRS 102.29.6 
Deferred tax shall be recognised in respect of 
all timing differences at the reporting date, 
except as otherwise required by paragraphs 
29.7 to 29.9.  
FRS 102.29.7 
Unrelieved tax losses and other deferred tax 
assets shall be recognised only to the extent 
that it is probable that they will be recovered 
against the reversal of deferred tax liabilities 
or other future taxable profits. 
FRS 102.29.8 
Deferred tax shall be recognised when the 
tax allowances for the cost of a fixed asset 
are received before or after the depreciation 
of the fixed asset is recognised in profit and 
loss. If and when all conditions for retaining 
the tax allowances have been met, the 
deferred tax shall be reversed. 
FRS 102.29.9 
Deferred tax shall be recognised when 
income and expenses from a subsidiary, 
associate or branch, or interest in joint 
venture have been recognised in the financial 
statements, and will be assessed to or 
allowed for tax in a future period, except 
where: 
a) the reporting entity is able to control the 

reversal of the timing difference; and 
b) it is probable that the timing difference 

will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future. 

FRS 102.29.12 
An entity shall measure a deferred tax 
liability/ asset using the tax rates and laws 
that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the reporting date that are 
expected to apply in the periods in which the 
timing difference is expected to reverse.  
FRS 102.29.17 

An entity shall not discount current or 
deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax assets. 
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1. Accounting policies (continued) 
Provisions for liabilities 

A provision is recognised when the group has 
a legal or constructive obligation as a result 
of a past event and it is probable that an 
outflow of economic benefits will be required 
to settle the obligation. 

Provisions for the expected costs of 
maintenance under guarantees are charged 
against profits when products have been 
invoiced. The effect of the time value of 
money is not material and therefore the 
provisions are not discounted. 

Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all 
timing differences which are differences 
between taxable profits and total 
comprehensive income that arise from the 
inclusion of income and expenses in tax 
assessments in periods different from those 
in which they are recognised in the financial 
statements, except that: 

 provision is made for deferred tax that 
would arise on remittance of the 
retained earnings of overseas 
subsidiaries, associates and joint 
ventures only to the extent that, at the 
balance sheet date, dividends have been 
accrued as receivable; 

 where there are differences between 
amounts that can be deducted for tax 
for assets (other than goodwill) and 
liabilities compared with the amounts 
that are recognised for those assets and 
liabilities in a business combination a 
deferred tax liability/(asset) shall be 
recognised. The amount attributed to 
goodwill is adjusted by the amount of 
the deferred tax recognised; and  

 unrelieved tax losses and other deferred 
tax assets are recognised only to the 
extent that the directors consider that it 
probable that they will be recovered 
against the reversal of deferred tax 
liabilities or other future taxable profits. 

Deferred tax is measured on an undiscounted 
basis at the tax rates that are expected to 

apply in the periods in which timing 
differences reverse, based on tax rates and 
laws enacted or substantively enacted at the 
balance sheet date. 
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Foreign currency translation 
FRS 102.30.26 
An entity shall disclose the currency in which 
the financial statements are presented. When 
the presentational currency is different from 
the functional currency, an entity shall state 
that fact and shall disclose the functional 
currency and the reason for using a different 
presentation currency. 
FRS 102.30.27 
When there is a change in functional currency 
of either the reporting entity or a significant 
foreign operation, the entity shall disclose 
that fact and the reason for the change in 
functional currency. 
1 Sch 70 
Disclose the basis of translation of foreign 
currency balances and transactions and the 
treatment of exchange differences. 

FRS 102.30.2 
Each entity shall identify its functional 
currency. An entity’s functional currency is 
the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates. 
FRS 102.30.9 
At the end of each reporting period, an entity 
shall: 
a) translate foreign currency monetary 

items using the closing rate; 
b) translate non-monetary items that are 

measured in terms of historical cost in a 
foreign currency using the exchange rate 
at the date of the transaction; and 

c) translate non-monetary items that are 
measured at fair value in a foreign 
currency using the exchange rates at the 
date when the fair value was determined. 

FRS 102.30.10 
An entity shall recognise, in the profit or loss 
in the period in which they arise, exchange 
differences arising on the settlement of 
monetary items or on translating monetary 
items at rates different from those at which 
they are translated on initial recognition 
during the period or in previous periods, 
except as described in paragraph 30.13. 

FRS 102.30.11 

When another section of this FRS requires a 
gain or loss on a monetary item to be 
recognised in other comprehensive income, 
an entity shall recognise any exchange 
component of that gain or loss in other 
comprehensive income. 

FRS 102.30.13 

Exchange differences arising on a monetary 
item that forms part of a reporting entity’s 
net investment in a foreign operation shall be 
recognised in profit or loss in the separate 
financial statements of the reporting entity 
or the individual financial statements of the 
foreign operation as appropriate. In the 
consolidated financial statements such 
exchange differences shall be recognised in 
other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in equity. They shall not be 
recognised in profit or loss on disposal of the 
net investment. 
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1. Accounting policies (continued) 
Foreign currencies 
Company 
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially 
recorded in the entity’s functional currency 
by applying the spot exchange rate ruling at 
the date of the transaction. Monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are retranslated at the rate of 
exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. All 
differences are taken to the profit and loss 
account.  

Group 
Each entity in the group determines its own 
functional currency and items included in the 
financial statements of each entity are 
measured using that functional currency. 

The assets and liabilities of overseas 
subsidiary undertakings are translated into 
the presentational currency at the rate of 
exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. 
Income and expenses for each statement of 
comprehensive income are translated at 
exchange rates at the dates of transaction. 
All resulting exchange differences are 
recognised in other comprehensive income. 
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Financial Instruments  
FRS 102.12.7 

When a financial asset or financial liability is 
recognised initially, an entity shall measure it 
at its fair value, which is normally the 
transaction price (including transaction costs 
except in the initial measurement of financial 
assets and liabilities that are measured at fair 
value through profit or loss).  

FRS 102.12.8 

At the end of each reporting period, an entity 
shall measure all financial instruments within 
the scope of Section 12 at fair value and 
recognise changes in the fair value in profit 
or loss. 

FRS 102.12.9 

If a reliable measure of fair value is no longer 
available for an equity instrument (or a  
contract linked to such an instrument) that is 
not publicly traded but is measured at fair 
value through profit or loss, its fair value at 
the last date the instrument was reliably 
measurable is treated as the cost of the 
instrument. The entity shall measure the 
instrument at this cost amount less 
impairment until a reliable measure of fair 
value becomes available. 
 

Author’s note 

Under Section 11 of FRS 102, entities have 
an accounting policy choice to either follow 
the provisions of sections 11 and 12 of the 
standard or apply the recognition and 
measurement provisions of IAS 39 and the 
disclosure requirements of Sections 11 and 
12 of FRS 102. Good Practice Group Limited 
has chosen to follow the provisions of 
Sections 11 and 12 of FRS 102. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

FRS 102.7.2 

Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash that are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value. 
Therefore, an investment normally qualifies 
as a cash equivalent only when it has a short 
maturity of, say, three months or less from 
the date of acquisition. Bank overdrafts are 
normally considered financing activities 
similar to borrowings. However, if they are 

repayable on demand and form an integral 
part of an entity’s cash management, bank 
overdrafts are a component of cash and cash 
equivalents. 
 
Loan notes 
FRS 102.11.13 

When a financial asset or financial liability is 
recognised initially, an entity shall measure it 
at the transaction price (including transaction 
costs except in the initial measurement of 
financial assets and liabilities that are 
measured at fair value through profit or loss) 
unless the arrangement constitutes, in effect, 
a financing transaction. 

FRS 102.11.14 

At the end of each reporting period, an entity 
shall measure financial instruments as 
follows, without any deduction for 
transaction costs the entity may incur on sale 
or other disposal: 

(a) Debt instruments that meet the conditions 
of paragraph 11.8(b) shall be measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate method. Debt instruments that are 
payable or receivable within one year shall be 
measured at the undiscounted amount of the 
cash or other consideration expected to be 
paid or received (net of impairment) unless 
the arrangement constitutes, in effect, a 
financing transaction. 
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1. Accounting policies (continued) 
Derivative instruments 
The group uses forward foreign currency 
contracts to reduce exposure to foreign 
exchange rates. The group also uses interest 
rate swaps to adjust interest rate exposures. 

Derivative financial instruments are initially 
measured at fair value on the date on which a 
derivative contract is entered into and are 
subsequently measured at fair value through 
profit or loss. Derivatives are carried as 
assets when the fair value is positive and as 
liabilities when the fair value is negative.  

The fair value of the forward currency 
contracts is calculated by reference to 
current forward exchange contracts with 
similar maturity profiles. The fair value of 
interest rate swap contracts are determined 
by calculating the present value of the 
estimated future cash flows based on 
observable yield curves. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents in the balance 
sheet comprise cash at banks and in hand 
and short term deposits with an original 
maturity date of three months or less. For the 
purpose of the consolidated cash flow 
statement, cash and cash equivalents consist 
of cash and cash equivalents as defined 
above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. 

Loan notes 

Loan notes which are basic financial 
instruments are initially recorded at the 
present value of future payments discounted 
at a market rate of interest for a similar loan. 
Subsequently, they are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. Loan notes that are receivable 
within one year are not discounted. 

 

 

 

Short-term debtors and creditors 

Debtors and creditors with no stated interest 
rate and receivable or payable within one 
year are recorded at transaction price. Any 
losses arising from impairment are 
recognised in the income statement in other 
operating expenses. 
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Leasing and hire purchase commitments 
FRS 102.20.9 
At the commencement of the lease term, a 
lessee shall recognise its rights of use and 
obligations under finance leases as assets 
and liabilities in its statement of financial 
position at amounts equal to the fair value of 
the leased asset or, if lower, the present 
value of the minimum lease payments, 
determined at the inception of the lease.  
FRS 102.20.11 
A lessee shall apportion minimum lease 
payments between the finance charge and 
the reduction of the outstanding liability 
using the effective interest method. The 
lessee shall allocate the finance charge to 
each period during the lease term so as to 
produce a constant periodic rate of interest 
on the remaining balance of the liability.  
FRS 102.20.15 

A lessee shall recognise lease payments 
under operating leases (excluding costs for 
services such as insurance and maintenance) 
as an expense of a straight line basis unless 
either: 

a) another systematic basis is 
representative of the time pattern of the 
users benefit, even if the payments are 
not on that basis, or 

b) the payments to the lessor are structured 
to increase in line with expected general 
inflation to compensate for the lessors 
expected inflationary cost increases. 

FRS 102.20.15A 

A lessee shall recognise the aggregate 
benefit of lease incentives as a reduction to 
the expense recognised in accordance with 
paragraph 20.15 over the lease term, on a 
straight-line basis unless another systematic 
basis is representative of the time pattern of 
the lessee’s benefit from the use of the 
leased asset. Any costs incurred by the lessee 
(for example costs for termination of a pre-
existing lease, relocation or leasehold 
improvements) shall be accounted for in 
accordance with the application section of 
this FRS. 
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1. Accounting policies (continued) 
Leasing and hire purchase commitments 
Assets held under finance leases, which are 
leases where substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of the asset have 
passed to the group, and hire purchase 
contracts are capitalised in the balance sheet 
and are depreciated over the shorter of the 
lease term and the asset’s useful lives. A 
corresponding liability is recognised for the 
lower of the fair value of the leased asset and 
the present value of the minimum lease 
payments in the balance sheet. Lease 
payments are apportioned between the 
reduction of the lease liability and finance 
charges in the income statement so as to 
achieve a constant rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability. 

Rentals payable under operating leases are 
charged in the profit and loss account on a 
straight line basis over the lease term. Lease 
incentives are recognised over the lease term 
on a straight line basis. 
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Pensions and other post-retirement benefits 
FRS 102.28.15 
An entity shall measure the net defined 
benefit liability for its obligations under 
defined benefit plans at the net total of the 
following amounts: 

 the present value of its obligation under 
defined benefit plans (its defined benefit 
obligation) at the reporting date; minus 

 the fair value at the reporting date of 
plan assets (if any) out of which the 
obligations are to be settled. 

FRS 102.28.17 
An entity shall measure its defined benefit 
obligation on a discounted present value 
basis. The entity shall determine the rate 
used to discount the future payments by 
reference to market yields at the reporting 
date on high quality corporate bonds. 
FRS 102.28.18 
An entity shall use the projected unit credit 
method to measure its defined benefit 
obligation and the related expense. 
FRS 102.28.22 
An entity shall recognise a plan surplus as a 
defined benefit plan asset only to the extent 
that it is able to recover the surplus either 
through reduced contributions in the future 
or through refunds from the plan. 
FRS 102.28.23 
An entity shall recognise the cost of a 
defined benefit plan as follows: 
a) the change in the net defined benefit 

liability arising from employee service 
rendered during the period in profit or 
loss; 

b) net interest on the net defined benefit 
liability during the reporting period in 
profit or loss; 

c) plan introductions, benefit changes, 
curtailments and settlements in profit or 
loss; and 

d) remeasurement of the net defined 
benefit liability in other comprehensive 
income. 

Some defined benefit plans require 
employees of third parties to contribute to 
the plan. Contributions by employees reduce 
the cost of the benefits to the entity. 
 

 

FRS 102.28.24 

The net interest on the net defined benefit 
liability shall be determined by multiplying 
the net defined benefit liability by the 
discount rate, both as at the start of the 
annual reporting period, taking account of 
any changes in the net defined benefit 
liability during the period as a result of 
contribution and benefit payments.  

FRS 102.28.24B 

Interest income on plan assets, excluding the 
effect of any surplus that is not recoverable, 
is a component of the return on plan assets, 
and is determined by multiplying the fair 
value of the plan assets by the discount rate 
both as determined at the start of the annual 
reporting period, taking into account any 
changes in the net defined benefit liability 
during the period as a result of contribution 
and benefit payments. The difference 
between the interest income on plan assets 
and the return on plan assets is included in 
the remeasurement of the defined benefit 
liability. 

FRS 102.28.25 
Remeasurement of the net defined benefit 
liability comprises: 
a) actuarial gains and losses; and 

b) the return on plan assets, excluding 
amounts included in net interest on the 
defined benefit liability. 

FRS 102.28.38 
Where an entity participates in a defined 
benefit plan that shares risks between 
entities under common control it shall obtain 
information about the plan as a whole 
measured in accordance with this FRS on the 
basis of assumptions that apply to the plan as 
a whole. If there is a contractual agreement 
or stated policy for charging the net defined 
benefit cost of a defined benefit plan as a 
whole measured in accordance with this FRS 
to individual group entities, the entity shall, 
in its individual financial statements , 
recognise the net defined benefit cost of a 
defined benefit plan so charged. If there is 
not such agreement or policy, the net defined 
benefit plan shall be recognised in the 
individual financial statements of the group 
entity which is legally responsible for the 
plan. The other group entities shall, in their 
individual financial statements, recognise a 
cost equal to their contribution payable for 
the period. 
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1. Accounting policies (continued) 
Pensions and other post-retirement benefits 
The Group operates two defined benefit 
pension schemes, both of which require 
contributions to be made to separately 
administered funds. The UK scheme was 
closed to new members in June 2002 from 
which time membership of a defined 
contribution plan is available. The Group has 
also agreed to provide certain additional 
post-employment healthcare benefits to 
senior employees in the United States. These 
benefits are unfunded. 

The cost of providing benefits under the 
defined benefit plans is determined 
separately for each plan using the projected 
unit credit method, which attributes 
entitlement to benefits to the current period 
(to determine current service cost) and to the 
current and prior periods (to determine the 
present value of defined benefit obligations) 
and is based on actuarial advice. When a 
settlement or a curtailment occur the change 
in the present value of the scheme liabilities 
and the fair value of the plan assets reflects 
the gain or loss which is recognised in the 
income statement during the period in which 
it occurs. 

The net interest element is determined by 
multiplying the net defined benefit liability by 
the discount rate, at the start of the period 
taking into account any changes in the net 
defined benefit liability during the period as a 
result of contribution and benefit payments. 
The net interest is recognised in profit or loss 
as other finance revenue or cost. 

Re-measurements, comprising actuarial gains 
and losses, the effect of the asset ceiling and 
the return on the net defined benefit liability 
(excluding amounts included in net interest) 
are recognised immediately in other 
comprehensive income in the period in which 
they occur. Re-measurements are not 
reclassified to profit and loss in subsequent 
periods. 

The defined net benefit pension asset or 
liability in the balance sheet comprises the 
total for each plan of the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation (using a discount 
rate based on high quality corporate bonds), 
less the fair value of plan assets out of which 
the obligations are to be settled directly. Fair 
value is based on market price information 
and in the case of quoted securities is the 
published bid price. The value of a net 

pension benefit asset is limited to the amount 
that may be recovered either through 
reduced contributions or agreed refunds 
from the scheme. 

Contributions to defined contribution 
schemes are recognised in the profit and loss 
account in the period in which they become 
payable. 

Good Practice Group Limited is the 
sponsoring employer of the United Kingdom 
defined benefit scheme as it has legal 
responsibility for the plan. There is no 
contractual agreement or stated policy for 
charging the defined benefit cost of the plan 
as a whole to individual group entities and 
therefore the company has recognised the 
entire net defined benefit cost and relevant 
net defined benefit liability of the United 
Kingdom scheme in its individual financial 
statements. 

Author’s note 

Good Practice Group Limited has recognised 
the full deficit for the UK defined benefit plan 
in its individual financial statements as there 
is no contractual agreement or stated policy 
for charging the net defined benefit cost of 
the plan as a whole to the individual group 
entities and it is legally responsible for the 
plan. 
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Defined benefit plans (continued) 

Defined contribution plans 
FRS 102.28.13 
An entity shall recognise the contribution 
payable for a period; 
a) as a liability, after deducting any 

amount already paid. 
b) As an expense, unless another section 

of this FRS requires the cost to be 
recognised as part of the cost of an 
asset such as inventories or property, 
plant and equipment. 

Multi-employer plans and state plans 
FRS 102.28.11 
Multi-employer plans and state plans are 
classified as defined contribution plans or 
defined benefit plans on the basis of the 
terms of the plan, including any constructive 
obligation that goes beyond the formal 
terms. However, if sufficient information is 
not available to use defined benefit 
accounting for a multi-employer plan that is a 
defined benefit plan, an entity shall account 
for the plan in accordance with paragraphs 
28.13 and 28.13A as if it was a defined 
contribution plan and make the disclosures 
required by paragraphs 28.40 and 28.40A. 
An entity shall account for a state plan in the 
same way as for a multi-employer plan. 
 
FRS 102.28.11A 
Where an entity participates in a defined 
benefit plan, which is a multi-employer plan 
that in accordance with paragraph 28.11 is 
accounted for as if the plan were a defined 
contribution plan, and the entity has entered 
into an agreement with the multi-employer 
plan that determines how the entity will fund 
a deficit, the entity shall recognise a liability 
for the contributions payable that arise from 
the agreement (to the extent that they relate 
to the deficit) and the resulting expense in 
profit or loss in accordance with paragraphs 
28.13 and 28.13A.  

Share-based payments 
FRS 102.26.7 
For equity-settled share-based payment 
transactions, an entity shall measure the goods 
or services received, and the corresponding 
increase in equity, directly, at the fair value of 
the goods or services received, unless that fair 

value cannot be estimated reliably.  
If the entity cannot estimate reliably the fair 
value of the goods or services received, the 
entity shall measure their value, and the 
corresponding increase in equity, indirectly, by 
reference to the fair value of the equity 
instruments granted. 

FRS 102.26.14 
For cash-settled share-based payment 
transactions, an entity shall measure the goods 
or services acquired and the liability incurred at 
the fair value of the liability. Until the liability is 
settled, the entity shall re-measure the fair 
value of the liability at each reporting date and 
at the date of settlement, with any changes in 
fair value recognised in profit or loss for the 
period. 

FRS 102.26.16 
If a share based payment award is granted by 
an entity to the employees of one or more 
members in the group, the members are 
permitted to recognise and measure the 
share based payment expense on the basis of 
a reasonable allocation of the expense for 
the group. 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 
FRS 102.11.13 
When a financial asset or a financial liability is 
recognised initially, an entity shall measure it at 
the transaction price (including transaction 
costs except in the initial measurement of 
financial assets and liabilities that are measured 
at fair value through profit or loss) unless the 
arrangement constitutes a financing 
transaction. A financing transaction may take 
place in connection with the sale of goods and 
services, for example, if payment is deferred 
beyond normal business terms or is financed at 
a rate of interest that is not a market rate. If a 
financing transaction the entity shall measure 
the financial asset or financial liability at the 
present value of the future payments 
discounted at a market rate of interest for a 
similar debt instrument.  

FRS 102.11.40 

An entity shall disclose the measurement 
basis (or bases) used for financial 
instruments and the other accounting 
policies used for financial instruments that 
are relevant to an understanding of the 
financial statements. 
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1. Accounting policies (continued) 
Share-based payments 
Equity-settled transactions 
The cost of equity-settled transactions with 
employees is measured by reference to the fair 
value of the equity instruments granted at the 
date at which they are granted and is 
recognised as an expense over the vesting 
period, which ends on the date on which the 
relevant employees become fully entitled to the 
award. Fair value is determined by an external 
valuer using an appropriate pricing model. In 
valuing equity-settled transactions, no account 
is taken of any vesting conditions, other than 
conditions linked to the price of the shares of 
the company (market conditions) and non 
vesting conditions.  No expense is recognised 
for awards that do not ultimately vest, except 
for awards where vesting is conditional upon a 
market or non vesting condition, which are 
treated as vesting irrespective of whether or 
not the market or non vesting condition is 
satisfied, provided that all other performance 
conditions are satisfied. 

At each balance sheet date before vesting, the 
cumulative expense is calculated, representing 
the extent to which the vesting period has 
expired and management’s best estimate of the 
achievement or otherwise of non-market 
conditions and of the number of equity 
instruments that will ultimately vest or in the 
case of an instrument subject to a market 
condition, be treated as vesting as described 
above. The movement in cumulative expense 
since the previous balance sheet date is 
recognised in the income statement, with a 
corresponding entry in equity. 

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are 
modified or a new award is designated as 
replacing a cancelled or settled award, the cost 
based on the original award terms continues to 
be recognised over the original vesting period. 
In addition, an expense is recognised over the 
remainder of the new vesting period for the 
incremental fair value of any modification, 
based on the difference between the fair value 
of the original award and the fair value of the 
modified award, both as measured on the date 
of the modification. No reduction is recognised 
if this difference is negative. 

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is 
treated as if it had vested on the date of 
cancellation, and any cost not yet recognised in 
the profit and loss account for the award is 

expensed immediately. Any compensation paid 
up to the fair value of the award at the 
cancellation or settlement date is deducted 
from equity, with any excess over fair value 
expensed in the profit and loss account. 

The financial effect of awards by the parent 
company of options over its equity shares to the 
employees of subsidiary undertakings are 
recognised by the parent company in its 
individual financial statements. In particular the 
parent company records an increase in its 
investment in subsidiaries with a credit to equity 
equivalent to the cost in the subsidiary 
undertakings. 

Cash-settled transactions 
The cost of cash-settled transactions is 
measured at fair value using an appropriate 
option pricing model. Fair value is established 
initially at the grant date and at each balance 
sheet date thereafter until the awards are 
settled. During the vesting period a liability is 
recognised representing the product of the fair 
value of the award and the portion of the 
vesting period expired as at the balance sheet 
date. From the end of the vesting period until 
settlement, the liability represents the full fair 
value of the award as at the balance sheet date. 
Changes in the carrying amount for the liability 
are recognised in profit or loss for the period. 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 
All interest-bearing loans and borrowings which 
are basic financial instruments are initially 
recognised at the present value of cash payable 
to the bank (including interest). After initial 
recognition they are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest rate method, 
less impairment. The effective interest rate 
amortisation is included in finance revenue in 
the income statement.  
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Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 
(continued) 
FRS 102.11.14 
At the end of each reporting period, an entity 
shall measure financial instruments as 
follows: 
Debt instruments that meet the conditions in 
11.8(b) shall be measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. Debt 
instruments that are payable or receivable 
within one year shall be measured at the 
undiscounted amount of the cash or other 
consideration expected to be paid or 
received. If the arrangement constitutes a 
financing transaction the entity shall 
measure the debt instrument at the present 
value of the future payments discounted at a 
market rate of interest for a similar debt 
instrument. 
FRS 102.11.16 
The effective interest method is a method of 
calculating the amortised cost of a financial 
asset or a financial liability (or group of 
financial assets or financial liabilities) and of 
allocating the interest income or interest 
expense over the relevant period. The 
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash payments or 
receipts through the expected life of the 
financial instrument or, where appropriate, a 
shorter period, to the carrying amount of the 
financial asset or financial liability. The 
effective interest rate is determined on the 
basis of the carrying amount of the financial 
asset or liability at initial recognition. Under 
the effective interest rate method: 

 The amortised cost of a financial 
asset (liability) is the present value 
of future cash receipts (payments) 
discounted at the effective interest 
rate; and 

 The interest expense (income) in a 
period equals the carrying amount of 
the financial liability (asset) at the 
beginning of a period multiplied by 
the effective interest rate for the 
period. 

Classification of shares as debt or equity 
FRS 102.22.5(e) 
A preference share that provides for 
mandatory redemption by the issuer for a 
fixed or determined amount at a fixed or 
determinable future date, or gives the holder 
the right to require the issuer to redeem  
the instrument at or after a particular date 

for a fixed or determinable amount, is a 
financial liability.  
FRS 102.22.13 
On issuing convertible debt or similar 
compound financial instruments that contain 
both a liability and an equity component, an 
entity shall allocate the proceeds between 
the liability component and the equity 
component. To make the allocation, the 
entity shall first determine the amount of the 
liability component as the fair value of a 
similar liability that does not have a 
conversion feature or similar associated 
equity component. The entity shall allocate 
the residual amount as the equity 
component.  
FRS 102.22.14 
The entity shall not revise the allocation in a 
subsequent period. 
FRS 102.22.15 
In periods after the instruments were issued, 
the entity shall account for the liability 
component as a financial instrument. 
Treasury shares 
FRS 102.22.16 
Treasury shares are the equity instruments of 
an entity that have been issued and 
subsequently reacquired by the entity. An 
entity shall deduct from equity the fair value 
of the consideration given for the treasury 
shares. The entity shall not recognise a gain 
or loss in the profit or loss on the purchase, 
sale, issue or cancellation or treasury shares.  

Author’s note 
Shares acquired by Employee Share 
Ownership trust are not Treasury Shares as 
defined by the Companies Act. The 
accounting treatment does not imply that as 
a matter of law the shares were purchased by 
the company and are therefore not required 
to be cancelled. 

Discontinued operations 
FRS 102 - Glossary 

A component of an entity that has been 
disposed of and: 
(a) represented a separate major line of 
business or geographical area of operations; 
(b) was part of a single co-ordinated plan to 
dispose of a separate major line of business 
or geographical area of operations; or 
(c) was a subsidiary acquired exclusively with 
a view to resale.
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1. Accounting policies (continued) 
Classification of shares as debt or equity 
An equity instrument is a contract that 
evidences a residual interest in the assets of 
an entity after deducting all its liabilities. 
Accordingly, a financial instrument is treated 
as equity if: 

(i) there is no contractual obligation to 
deliver cash or other financial assets or to 
exchange financial assets or liabilities on 
terms that may be unfavourable; and 

(ii) the instrument is a non-derivative that 
contains no contractual obligations to 
deliver a variable number of shares or is a 
derivative that will be settled only by the 
Group exchanging a fixed amount of cash 
or other assets for a fixed number of the 
Group’s own equity instruments. 

When shares are issued, any component that 
creates a financial liability of the company or 
group is presented as a liability in the balance 
sheet; measured initially at fair value net of 
transaction costs and thereafter at amortised 
cost until extinguished on conversion or 
redemption. The corresponding dividends 
relating to the liability component are 
charged as interest expense in the income 
statement. The initial fair value of the liability 
component is determined using a market rate 
for an equivalent liability without a 
conversion feature. 

The remainder of the proceeds on issue is 
allocated to the equity component and 
included in shareholders’ equity, net of 
transaction costs. The carrying amount of the 
equity component is not re-measured in 
subsequent years. 

Transaction costs are apportioned between 
the liability and equity components of the 
shares based on the allocation of proceeds to 
the liability and equity components when the 
instruments are first recognised. 

The group’s 7% cumulative redeemable 
preference shares have been accounted for 
as such a hybrid instrument. 

Treasury shares 
Treasury shares held by the Employee Share 
Trust are classified in capital and reserves, as 

‘reserve for own shares’ and recognised at 
cost. Consideration received for the sale of 
such shares is also recognised in equity, with 
any difference between the proceeds from 
sale and the original cost taken to the profit 
and loss reserve.  No gain or loss is 
recognised on the purchase, sale issue or 
cancellation of equity shares. 

Discontinued operations 

The group recognises as discontinued 
operations components which have been 
disposed of which represented a separate 
major line of business of geographical area of 
operation, which were part of a single co-
ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major 
line of business or geographical area of 
operation, or a subsidiary which was acquired 
exclusively for resale. 
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Turnover and segmental analysis 
s474(1),FRS 102. 23.4 
Turnover must be net of trade discounts, VAT 
and similar taxes and derive from the 
provision of goods and services falling within 
the company’s ordinary activities. 

FRS 102.23.30(b) 

An entity shall disclose; 

The amount of each category of revenue 
recognised in the period, showing separately, 
at a minimum, revenue arising from; 

i. The sale of goods 

ii. The rendering of services 

iii. Interest 

iv. Royalties 

v. Dividends 

vi. Commissions 

vii. Grants 

viii. Any other significant types of revenue 

FRS 102.23.31 
An entity shall disclose the following: 

a) The amount of contract revenue 
recognised as revenue in the period 

b) The methods used to determine the 
contract revenue recognised in the 
period 

c) the methods used to determine the 
stage of completion of contracts in 
progress 

1 Sch 68 
If in the course of the financial year the 
company has carried on business of two or 
more classes that in the opinion of the 
directors, differ substantially from each 
other, the amount of the turnover 
attributable to each class must be stated and 
the class described. 

If in the course of the financial year the 
company has supplied markets that, in the 
opinion of the directors, differ significantly 
from each other, the amount of the turnover 
attributable to each such market must also 
be stated. “Market” means a market 
delimited by geographical bounds. 

Where in the opinion of the directors the 
disclosure of any information required by the 
paragraph would be seriously prejudicial to 
the interests of the company, that 
information need not be disclosed. 
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2. Turnover  
Turnover represents the amounts derived from the provision of goods and services which fall within 
the company’s ordinary activities, stated net of value added tax. 

The group operates in two principal areas of activity, that of electronics and the manufacture and 
installation of fire prevention equipment. The group operates within two geographical markets, the 
United Kingdom and the United States. 

The discontinued operations comprise Hose Limited, the subsidiary that manufactured rubber 
hosepipes. 

The results of Extinguishers Limited, which was acquired on 1 May 2013, all relate to fire 
prevention activity. Its turnover, both by source and destination, all relates to the United Kingdom. 

Turnover is analysed as follows: 
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2. Turnover and segmental analysis (continued) 
Area of activity 

   Fire prevention    
 Electronics equipment   Total 

 

 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

       
Group turnover       
Continuing operations:       
 Total sales of goods 79,709 75,933 74,875 39,283 154,584 115,216 

Rendering of services - - 23,245 22,456 23,245 22,456 
 Inter-segment sales (7,175) (4,300) – – (7,175) (4,300) 

       
 Sales to third parties 72,534 71,633 98,120 61,739 170,654 133,372 
Discontinued operations:       
 Sales to third parties – – 42,196 46,628 42,196 46,628 

       
 72,534 71,633 140,316 108,367 212,850 180,000 

              
       

                    
Geographical area 

 United Kingdom United States Total 
 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

 

Group turnover       
Turnover by destination:      
Sales to third parties      
Continuing operations 129,835 96,672 40,819 36,700 170,654 133,372 
Discontinued operations 42,196 46,628 – – 42,196 46,628 

       
 172,031 143,300 40,819 36,700 212,850 180,000 

              
      
Turnover by origin:      
Continuing operations:      
Total sales 116,322 82,317 67,022 65,680 183,344 147,997 
Inter-segment sales (8,235) (11,385) (4,455) (3,240) (12,690) (14,625) 

       
Sales to third parties 108,087 70,932 62,567 62,440 170,654 133,372 
Discontinued operations 42,196 46,628 – – 42,196 46,628 

       
 150,283 117,560 62,567 62,440 212,850 180,000 
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Operating profit 
FRS 102.18.29 

An entity shall disclose the aggregate amount 
of research and development expenditure 
recognised as an expense during the period. 

1 Sch formats,  
Disclose the total depreciation and 
amortisation charge for the period either on 
the face of the profit and loss account 
(formats 2 or 4) or separately in a note to the 
financial statements (formats 1 or 3). This 
should be shown for all fixed assets, 
both tangible and intangible. 

FRS 102.30.25 

An entity shall disclose the amount of 
exchange differences recognised in profit or 
loss during the period, except for those 
arising on financial instruments measured at 
fair value through profit or loss. 

1 Sch 19 
Impairment losses recognised in the profit 
and loss account should be included within 
operating profit under the appropriate 
heading and disclosed as an exceptional item 
if appropriate. These should be shown either 
on the face of the profit and loss account or 
separately in a note to the financial 
statements. 

FRS 102.24.6(b) 

An entity shall disclose the nature and 
amounts of grants recognised in the financial 
statements.  
FRS 102.20.16 
A lessee shall make the following disclosures 
for operating leases: 

b) lease payments recognised as an 
expense 
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3. Group operating profit 
 

This is stated after charging/(crediting): 

 
2013 

 
2012 

 £000 £000 

Research and development expenditure written off 2,140 910 
Amortisation of deferred development expenditure (see note 11) 125 40 

   
Total research and development 2,265 950 

      
   
Depreciation of owned assets (see note 12) 3,082 2,302 
Depreciation of assets held under finance   
leases and hire purchase contracts (see note 12) 308 308 
Impairment loss on fixed assets (see note 5) 2,200 – 

   
Total depreciation charge 5,590 2,610 

      
   
Amortisation of development expenditure (see note 11) 125 40 
Amortisation of customer lists (see note 11) 60 - 
Amortisation of patents (see note 11) 50 10 
Amortisation of goodwill (see note 11) 160 25 
Foreign exchange differences 106 95 
Provision for maintenance warranties (see note 20) 200 50 
Operating lease rentals – land and buildings 55 50 
 – plant and machinery 192 130 
Government grants (1,012) (530) 
Auditors’ remuneration (see note 4) 600 372 
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Auditor’s remuneration 
SI 2011/2198 
For companies which are not small or 
medium disclose the amount of remuneration 
receivable by the auditors for services other 
than the auditing of the accounts, analysed 
under the following headings and separately 
in respect of services to the company and its 
subsidiaries on the one hand and to 
associated pension schemes on the other: 
1. auditing the accounts of any associate 

of the company; 
2. audit-related assurance services; 
3. taxation compliance services; 

4. all taxation advisory services not falling 
within paragraph 3 above; 

5. internal audit services; 
6. all assurance services not falling within 

paragraphs 1 to 5 above; 

7. all corporate finance transactions 
entered into, or proposed to be entered 
into, by or on behalf of the company or 
any of its associates not falling within 
paragraphs 1 to 6 above; 

8. all non-audit services not falling within 
paragraphs 2 to 7 above. 

References to ‘associates’ in the categories 
means subsidiaries (except those subject to 
severe long term restrictions) and associated 
pension schemes. Fees for services to 
associated pension schemes must be 
disclosed separately from fees to ‘associates’ 
in the descriptions used in the accounts. 
Companies may wish to refer to subsidiaries, 
where appropriate, to avoid confusion. 

Individual accounts of parents that are 
required to and do prepare group accounts 
and individual accounts of subsidiaries whose 
parent is required to and prepares group 
accounts and the subsidiary is included in 
that consolidation are not required to 
disclose amounts in respect of non-audit 
services provided the group accounts 
disclose this and individual accounts state 
that the group accounts are so required to 
disclose the information. 

Author’s note 
TECH 04/11 provides draft guidance on the 
revised disclosure requirements as amended 
by SI 2011/2198.  
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4. Auditor’s remuneration  
The remuneration of the auditors or its associates is further analysed as follows: 

 2013 2012 
 £000 £000 

   
Audit of the financial statements † 220 180 
Audit of subsidiaries 21 19 
   
Total audit 241 199 
   
Audit related assurance services 10 10 
Other assurance services 30 30 
Taxation compliance services 20 21 
All taxation advisory services 63 40 
Corporate finance services (excluding amounts covered above in other 

assurance services and taxation advisory services) 
 

220 
 

60 
Other non-audit services 16 12 

   

Total non-audit services 359 173 
   

 600 372 
      

† £147,000 (2012 – £121,000) of this relates to the company. 
Included in other fees to auditors is £170,000 (2012: £85,000) relating to the company. 

In addition, £35,000 (2012: £30,000) was receivable in respect of the audit of the group pension 
schemes. 
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Exceptional items 
1 Sch 69(3) 
Disclose the amount of each exceptional item 
not separately disclosed on the face of the 
profit and loss account, either individually or 
as an aggregate of items of a similar type. 

An adequate description of each exceptional 
item should be given to enable its nature to 
be understood. 

1 Sch 69(1) 
State the effect of including an amount 
relating to the preceding financial year  
in the profit and loss account for the  
current year. 

6 Sch 20  
In consolidated financial statements, the 
investor’s share of any exceptional items 
included after operating profit should be 
shown separately from the amounts for  
the group. 

 

Profit/loss on disposal of previously 
acquired business/subsidiary 
undertaking 
FRS 102.9.18A 

Where a parent ceases to control a 
subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognised in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income (or income statement) calculated as 
the difference between the proceeds from 
the disposal (or the event that resulted in 
loss of control) and the proportion of the 
carrying amount of the subsidiary’s net 
assets, including any related goodwill, 
disposed of (or lost) as at the date of disposal 
(or date control is lost). 
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5. Exceptional items 
 2013 2013 2012 
 £000 £000 £000 

    
Recognised in arriving at operating profit:    
 Impairment of tangible fixed assets 2,200  – 
 Costs incurred in respect of flood damage 655  – 

    

  2,855  
Recognised below operating profit:    
 (Profit)/loss on disposal of land and buildings (620)  823 
 (Profit)/loss on disposal of plant and machinery (630)  27 

    

 (1,250)  850 
Loss on disposal of fixed asset investments 350  – 

    

 (900)  850 
Loss on sale of discontinued operations  2,037  – 

    

  1,137 850 
    

  3,992 850 
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Staff costs 
s411 
Disclose the average monthly number of 
persons employed under contracts of service 
and an analysis of this total by categories as 
determined by the directors (having regard to 
the manner in which the group’s activities are 
organised). 

Staff costs of the above employees must be 
analysed into their constituent parts: 

 wages and salaries paid or payable in 
respect of that year; 

 social security costs incurred by the 
company on their behalf; and 

 other pension costs. 
‘Staff’ normally includes the executive 
directors, being employees under contracts 
of service. 

FRS 102.28.40 

An entity shall disclose the amount 
recognised in profit or loss as an expense for 
defined contribution plans. 

FRS 102.28.41 (g)(ii) 

The total costs relating to defined benefit 
plans for the period disclosing separately the 
amounts recognised in profit or loss as an 
expense. 

FRS 102.26.23 

An entity shall disclose the following 
information about the effect of share-based 
payment transactions on the entity’s profit or 
loss for the period and on its financial 
position: 

 the total expense recognised in profit or 
loss for the period; and 

 the total carrying amount at the end of 
the period for liabilities arising from 
share-based payment transactions. 
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6. Staff costs 
(a) Staff costs  

 2013 2012 
 £000 £000 

   
Wages and salaries 8,256 7,078 
Social security costs 821 702 
Other pension costs  1,349 1,183 
Other post-retirement benefit costs (note 26) 28 5 

   

 10,454 8,968 
      

Included in wages and salaries is a total expense of share-based payments of £412,000 (2012: 
£492,000) of which £307,000 (2012: £398,000) arises from transactions accounted for as equity-
settled share-based payment transactions. 

Included in other pension costs are £1,257,000 (2012: £1,078,000) in respect of the defined 
benefit schemes and £92,000 (2012: £105,000) in respect of the defined contribution scheme. 

The average monthly number of employees during the year was made up as follows: 

 2013 2012 
 No. No. 

   
Electronics 156 146 
Manufacturing and installation of fire prevention equipment 359 323 
Research and development 60 32 
Administration 43 38 

   

 618 539 
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Directors’ remuneration 
5 Sch 1(1)-(2), (7) 
Disclose: 

 the aggregate amount of remuneration 
paid or receivable by directors in respect 
of qualifying services; 

 for quoted and AIM companies, the 
aggregate amount of gains made by 
directors on the exercise of their share 
options; 

 the aggregate amount of money paid or 
receivable and the net value of assets 
(other than money and share options) 
received or receivable under long term 
incentive schemes in respect of 
qualifying services (‘assets’ does not 
include shares for companies not quoted 
and not on AIM); 

 the aggregate value of company 
contributions paid to a pension scheme in 
respect of directors’ qualifying services 
and by reference to which the rate or 
amount of any money purchase benefits 
that may become payable will be 
calculated; and 

 for money purchase and defined benefit 
schemes the number of directors to 
whom retirement benefits are accruing. 

The amounts to be disclosed include all 
relevant sums, whether paid by or receivable 
from the company, any of the company’s 
subsidiaries or any other person. 
The amounts to be disclosed include amounts 
paid to or receivable by a person connected 
with the director (a connected person) or by 
a body corporate controlled by him. 
The amounts to be disclosed are sums 
receivable in respect of that year (whenever 
paid) or in the case of sums not receivable in 
respect of a period, the sums paid during the 
year. 
5 Sch 1(3) 
For non-quoted companies and non AIM 
companies, disclose the number of directors 
who exercised share options and, the number 
of directors in respect of whose qualifying 
services shares were received or receivable 
under long term incentive shares. 

5 Sch 7(5) 

Sums paid by way of expenses allowances 
that are charged to UK income tax after the 
end of the relevant year must be shown in the 
first accounts where it is practicable to show 
them and separately disclosed. 

5 Sch 9(1) 

“Remuneration” includes salary, fees and 
bonuses, sums paid by way of expenses 
allowance (chargeable to UK income tax) and 
the estimated money value of any benefits 
received other than in cash, but does not 
include the value of share options granted, or 
gains made on exercise of options thereon, or 
any company pension contributions paid or 
any benefits to which the director is entitled 
under any such scheme or any money or 
other assets paid or received or receivable by 
the director under any long term incentive 
scheme. 

5 Sch 15(1) 
“Qualifying services” means services as a 
director of the company and his services 
while director of the company, as director of 
any subsidiary undertakings or otherwise in 
connection with the management of the 
affairs of the company or any of its subsidiary 
undertakings. 

5 Sch 2(1) 
Where the aggregate of amounts shown 
under 5 Sch 1(1)(a)-(c) total £200,000 or 
more disclose: 

 the amount of the aggregate 
attributable to the highest paid director; 
and 

 the amount of the contributions to 
money purchase schemes so 
attributable. 

5 Sch 2(2) 

Where the highest paid director has 
performed qualifying services in the year by 
reference to which the amount of any defined 
benefits that are payable will be calculated 
disclose the amount of the accrued pension 
at the end of the year and the amount of his 
accrued lump sum. 
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6. Staff costs (continued) 
(b)  Directors’ remuneration 

 2013 2012 
 £000 £000 

   
Aggregate remuneration in respect of qualifying services 448 424 

   

Aggregate amounts receivable under long term incentive plans 50 46 
   

   
 2013 2012 
 No. No. 
   
Number of directors who received shares in respect of qualifying services 4 4 
   

Number of directors who exercised share options 1 2 
   

Number of directors accruing benefits under defined benefit schemes 6 6 
   

   
 2013 2012 
 £000 £000 
In respect of the highest paid director:   
   Aggregate remuneration 110 105 
   

   Accrued pension at the end of the year 39 26 
   

   Accrued lump sum at the end of the year 70 60 
   

The highest paid director exercised share options during the year and also received shares under 
the group’s long term incentive scheme. 

During 2013, £10,000 (2012: £nil) was payable to one director as compensation for loss of office. 
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Directors’ remuneration (continued) 
5 Sch 13(2) 

“Accrued pension” and “accrued lump sum” 
mean the amounts payable under the scheme 
on the director attaining normal age if he had 
left the company at the end of the financial 
year, there was no increase in the general 
level of UK prices from the end of that year to 
normal pension age, no commutation 
questions arose and any amounts 
attributable to voluntary contributions paid 
by the director to the scheme and any money 
purchase benefits which would be payable 
were disregarded. 

5 Sch 2(3) 
For non listed companies also disclose 
whether the highest paid director exercised 
any share options and whether any shares 
were received or receivable by that director 
under a long term incentive scheme. 

5 Sch 3 

Disclose the aggregate amount of retirement 
benefits paid to or receivable by directors 
under pension schemes and retirement 
benefits paid to or receivable by past 
directors under such schemes to the extent 
that they exceed the amount to which they 
were entitled to at the later of the date when 
the benefits first became payable or 31 
March 1997. 
5 Sch 4 
Disclose the aggregate amount of 
compensation payable to directors or past 
directors in respect of loss of office. The 
nature of any compensation otherwise in 
cash shall be disclosed. 

5 Sch 5 
Disclose the aggregate amount of any 
compensation paid to or receivable by third 
parties for making available the services of 
any director. The nature of any compensation 
other than in cash shall be disclosed. 

5 Sch 8 

Where a liability for payments made in 
connection with share transfers by virtue of 
s219 and 222(3) are not disclosed in the 
financial statements on the grounds that the 
person receiving them is liable to account for 
them but the liability is afterwards wholly or 
partly released or not enforced this amount 
should be separately disclosed in the first 
accounts in which it is practicable. 

Interest payable and similar charges 
1 Sch formats, 1 Sch 66(1) 
Disclose interest or similar charges in respect 
of (a) bank loans and overdrafts; and 
(b) other loans. There is no requirement to 
subdivide (a). This does not apply to interest 
due to the company from group undertakings 
as this is disclosed separately, 

FRS 102.11.48(b) 
An entity shall disclose total interest income 
and total interest expense (calculated using 
the effective interest method) for financial 
assets or financial liabilities that are not 
measured at fair value through profit or loss. 
6 Sch 20 

In the consolidated financial statements, the 
investor’s share of any joint ventures or 
associates’ interest after operating profit 
should be shown separately from the 
amounts for the group. 

FRS 102.25.3A 

Where a policy of capitalisation is adopted, 
an entity shall disclose: 

a) the amount of borrowing costs 
capitalised in the period; and 

b) the capitalisation rate used 
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7. Interest payable and similar charges 
 2013 2012 
 £000 £000 

   
Bank loans and overdrafts 643 641 
Convertible cumulative 7% preference shares 309 295 
Other loans 411 268 
Finance charges payable under finance leases and hire purchase contracts 40 50 

   

Group interest payable and similar charges 1,403 1,254 
Share of joint venture’s interest 100 67 
Share of associate’s interest 10 15 

   

 1,513 1,336 
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Tax 
1 Sch 67(2), FRS 102.29.26 
The tax charge should be divided between: 

(a) UK corporation tax, before and after any 
relief from double taxation; 

(b) foreign tax; 

(c) UK income tax; and 

(d) deferred tax. 

Amounts disclosed under (a) and (b) above 
should be further analysed to distinguish tax 
estimated for the current period and any 
adjustments recognised in respect of prior 
periods. 

Amounts (a)-(c) must be stated separately for 
ordinary and extraordinary items. 

1 Sch 67(1), FRS 102.29.25 
Any special circumstances affecting the 
overall tax charge or credit for the period or 
future periods should be explained and their 
individual effects quantified. Such disclosures 
should include any special circumstances 
affecting the tax attributable to recognised 
transactions and other events. 

FRS 102.29.25 
An entity shall disclose information that 
enables users of its financial statements to 
evaluate the nature and financial effect of 
the current and deferred tax consequences 
of recognised transactions and other events.  
FRS 102.29.26 
An entity shall disclose separately the major 
components of tax expense (income). Such 
components of tax expense (income) may 
include: 
 current tax expense (income); 
 any adjustments recognised in the period 

for current tax of prior periods; 
 the amount of deferred tax expense 

(income) relating to the origination and 
reversal of timing differences; 

 the amount of deferred tax expense 
(income) relating to changes in tax rates 
or the imposition of new taxes; 

 adjustments to deferred tax expense 
(income) arising from a change in the tax 
status of the entity or its shareholders; 
and 

 the amount of tax expense (income) 
relating to changes in accounting policies 
and material errors. 

FRS 102.29.27 
An entity shall disclose separately: 
 the aggregate current and deferred tax 

relating to items that are recognised as 
items of other comprehensive income or 
equity; 

 a reconciliation between: 
o the tax expense (income) 

included in profit or loss; 
and 

o the profit or loss on ordinary 
activities before tax 
multiplied by the applicable 
tax rate; 

 the amount of the net reversal of 
deferred tax assets and deferred tax 
liabilities expected to occur during the 
year beginning after the reporting period 
together with a brief explanation for the 
expected reversal; 

 an explanation of changes in the 
applicable tax rates compared with the 
previous reporting period; 

 the amount of deferred tax liabilities and 
deferred tax assets at the end of the 
reporting period for each type of timing 
difference and the amount of unused tax 
losses and tax credits; 

 the expiry date, if any, of timing 
differences, unused tax losses and unused 
tax credits; and 

 an explanation of the nature of the 
potential income tax consequences that 
would result from the payment of 
dividends to its shareholders. 
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8. Other finance costs 
 2013 2012 
 £000 £000 

   
   

Interest on net defined benefit pension liability 55 109 
      

9. Tax 
(a) Tax on profit on ordinary activities 

The tax charge is made up as follows: 

 2013 2012 
 £000 £000 

   
Current tax:   
   
UK corporation tax at 23.25% (2012: 24.5%) 3,527 2,406 
Tax overprovided in previous years (200) (12) 

   

 3,327 2,394 
Double taxation relief (50) (40) 

   

 3,277 2,354 
Foreign tax 1,137 450 

   

Group current tax 4,414 2,804 
Share of joint venture’s current tax 778 385 
Share of associate’s current tax 130 115 

   

Total current tax  5,322 3,304 
   

   
Deferred tax:   
   
Origination and reversal of timing differences (1,066) (192) 
Effect of decreased tax rate on opening liability (9) – 

   

Group deferred tax  (1,075) (192) 
   

Tax on profit on ordinary activities (note 9(c)) 4,247 3,112 
   
   
Group current tax 4,414 2,804 
Group deferred tax  (1,075) (192) 
Group tax on profit on ordinary activities 3,339 2,612 
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Tax (continued) 
FRS 102.29.21 

An entity shall present changes in a current 
tax liability (asset) and changes in a deferred 
tax liability (asset) as a tax expense (income) 
with the exception of those changes arising 
on the initial recognition of a business 
combination which shall be dealt with in 
accordance with paragraph 29.11. 
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9. Tax (continued) 
(b) Tax included in group statement of total other comprehensive income 

The tax charge/(credit) is made up as follows: 

 2013 2012 
 £000 £000 

Deferred tax: 
Actuarial loss on pension scheme (167) 144 
Effect of decreased tax rate on deferred tax balance (18) – 

      

Total tax (credit)/charge (185) 144 
      

(c) Factors affecting the total tax charge 

The tax assessed on the profit on ordinary activities for the year is higher than the standard rate of 
corporation tax in the UK of 23.25% (2012 – 24.5%). The differences are reconciled below: 

 2013 2012 
 £000 £000 

   
Profit on ordinary activities before tax 8,694 7,547 

      
   
Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate of corporation tax 

in the UK of 23.25% (2012 – 24.5%) 2,021 1,849 
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes (including goodwill 

amortisation) 529 883 
Loss on disposal of Hose Limited not allowable for tax purposes 1,087 – 
Decelerated capital allowances (146) 66 
Indexation on capital gains (45) – 
Pension cost charge in excess of pension cost relief 3 (26) 
Losses arising in the year not relievable against current tax 867 313 
Higher taxes on overseas earnings 138 69 
Tax over provided in previous years (200) (12) 
Other (7) (30) 

   

Total tax expense 4,247 3,112 
      

(d) Factors that may affect future tax charges 

A reduction in the UK corporation tax rate from 26% to 24% took effect from 1 April 2012. A 
further reduction from 24% to 23% was substantively enacted in July 2012 and took effect from 1 
April 2013. Further reductions in the UK corporation rate to 22% from 1 April 2014 and 21% from 1 
April 2015, have been announced but have not been substantively enacted.  

The group has tax losses arising in the UK of £2,596,000 (2012 – £1,173,000) that are available 
indefinitely for offset against future taxable profits of those companies in which the losses arose. 
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses as they may not be used to 
offset taxable profits elsewhere in the group, and they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-
making for some time.  
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Tax (continued) 
1 Sch 60,  
The financial statements should disclose: 

 the total deferred tax balance (before 
discounting, where applicable), showing 
the amount recognised for each 
significant type of timing difference 
separately; 

 the impact of discounting on, and the 
discounted amount of, the deferred tax 
balance; and 

 the movement between the opening and 
closing net deferred tax balance, 
analysing separately: 

– the amount charged or credited in the 
profit and loss account for the period; 

– the amount charged or credited directly 
in the statement of total recognised 
gains and losses for the period; and 

– movements arising from the acquisition 
or disposal of businesses. 

FRS 102.29.21 

An entity shall present changes in a current 
tax liability (asset) and changes in a deferred 
tax liability (asset) as tax expense (income) 
with the exception of those changes arising 
on initial recognition of a business 
combination. 

FRS 102.29.22 

An entity shall present tax expense (income) 
in the same component of total 
comprehensive income (ie continuing or 
discontinued operations, and profit or loss or 
other comprehensive income) or equity as 
the transaction or other event that resulted 
in the tax expense (income). 
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9. Tax (continued) 
(d) Factors that may affect future tax charges (continued) 

The group’s overseas tax rates are higher than those in the UK primarily because the profits earned 
in Wireworks Inc. are taxed at a rate of 35% (2012 – 37%).  

No deferred tax is recognised on the unremitted earnings of overseas subsidiaries, associates and 
joint ventures, as the group has no liability to additional taxation should such amounts be remitted 
due to the availability of double taxation relief. 

The market value of the group’s listed investments is in excess of their book values as disclosed in 
note 13; if they were sold at this value there would be a liability to tax, after taking into account 
indexation allowances accrued from the date of acquisition to the balance sheet date, of £243,000 
(2012 – £150,000) on the capital gain arising from the sale. 

(e) Deferred tax 

Group 
The deferred tax included in the balance sheet is as follows: 

 2013 2012 
 £000 £000 

   
Included in debtors (note 15) 311 – 
Included in provisions for liabilities (note 20) (2,244) (2,021) 

   

 (1,933) (2,021) 
      

   
Accelerated capital allowances (2,674) (2,541) 
Share-based payment 253 148 
Tax losses carried forward 311 – 
Pension costs 177 372 

   

Provision for deferred tax (1,933) (2,021) 
      

   
  £000 

   
At 1 January 2013   (2,021) 
Deferred tax credit in group profit and loss account   1,075 
Exchange adjustment  404 
Acquisition of subsidiary undertaking  (1,340) 
Disposal of subsidiary undertaking  134 
Amount credited to other comprehensive income  (185) 

   

At 31 December 2013   (1,933) 
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9. Tax (continued) 
(e) Deferred tax (continued) 
The balance of deferred tax for tax losses carried forward at 31 December 2013 relates to capital 
losses arising in Extinguishers Limited, recoverability of which is dependent on future capital gains 
in excess of those arising from the reversal of deferred tax liabilities. The capital losses to which the 
deferred tax asset relates arose on the disposal of plant and machinery following the closure of one 
of the operating sites. Negotiations are at an advanced stage for the disposal of the land from this 
site, and it is anticipated that such disposal will generate a capital gain significantly in excess of the 
loss arising in the current year, and against which this loss can be relieved. 

Parent Company 
The deferred tax included in the balance sheet is as follows: 

 2013 2012 
 £000 £000 

   
   

Included in provisions for liabilities (note 21) (781) (965) 
      

   
Share-based payment 233 148 
Accelerated capital allowances (1,126) (1,352) 
Pension costs 112 239 

   
Provision for deferred tax (781) (965) 

   
   

   
  £000 

   
At 1 January 2013   (965) 
Deferred tax credit in profit and loss account  264 
Amount credited to other comprehensive income  (80) 

   

At 31 December 2013   (781) 
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Profit attributable to members of the 
parent company 
s408(4) 
Disclose the profit or loss for the financial 
year* of the parent company where the 
exemption to omit the parent’s profit and loss 
account from the financial statements is 
taken. 

Fixed assets (intangible, tangible and 
investments) 
1 Sch 51(1), FRS 102.18.27, FRS 102.17.31 
Disclose separately for each class of asset the 
amounts for cost/valuation and depreciation 
at the beginning and end of the year and the 
movements i.e. aggregate additions, 
disposals, revaluations, impairments and 
transfers. The disclosures should be given for 
each class of tangible fixed assets adopted by 
an entity for revaluation purposes.  

1 Sch 51,  
An entity is not required to show 
corresponding amounts for details of 
additions, disposals, revaluations, transfers 
and cumulative depreciation of fixed assets. 

FRS 102.17.31 
Disclose for each class of asset the net 
carrying amount at the beginning and end of 
the year. 

1 Sch 19(2) 
Provision must be made for any fixed asset 
which has diminished in value if the reduction 
is expected to be permanent. If the provision 
is not shown on the face of the profit and 
loss account, it must be disclosed by way  
of a note. 

Intangible assets 
s610(2), 1 Sch 3(2),  
Preliminary expenses, expenses of and 
commission on share or debenture issues and 
costs of research may not be shown as 
assets. When, on issuing shares, a company 
has transferred a sum to the share premium 
account it may use that sum to write off the 
expenses of the issue of those shares or any 
commission paid on the issue of those shares.  

 
 
 

1 Sch formats, note 3,  
Positive goodwill should be capitalised and 
classified as an asset on the balance sheet to 
the extent that it was acquired for valuable 
consideration. Internally generated goodwill 
should not be capitalised. Goodwill should not 
be revalued, either to increase the carrying 
value above original cost or to reverse prior 
period losses arising from impairment or 
amortisation. 

FRS 102.18.10,  
The cost of separately acquired intangible 
assets comprises: 

 its purchase price, including import 
duties and non refundable purchase 
taxes, after deducting trade 
discounts and rebates; and 

 any directly attributable cost of 
preparing the asset for its intended 
use. 

FRS 102.18.11 
If an intangible asset is acquired in a business 
combination, the cost of that intangible asset 
is its fair value at the acquisition date. 

FRS 102.18.8A 

To assess whether an internally generated 
intangible asset meets the criteria for 
recognition, an entity classifies the 
generation of the asset into: 

a) a research phase; and 

b) a development phase. 

FRS 102.18.8B 

If an entity cannot distinguish the research 
phase from the development phase of an 
internal project to create an intangible asset, 
the entity treats the expenditure on that 
project as if it were incurred in the research 
phase only. 
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10. Profit attributable to the members of the parent company 

The profit dealt with in the financial statements of the parent company is £2,913,000 (2012 – 
£6,155,000). 

 
11. Intangible assets 
Group 

Development Customer    
expenditure lists Patents Goodwill Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
      
Cost:      
At 1 January 2013 1,010 - 500 250 1,760 
Increase during the year 575 - – – 575 
Acquisition of subsidiary undertaking – 595 – 1,342 1,937 

      

At 31 December 2013 1,585 595 500 2,187 4,272 
      

Amortisation:      
At 1 January 2013 40 - 10 80 130 
Provided during the year 125 60 50 160 395 

      

At 31 December 2013 165 60 60 240 525 
      

Carrying amount at 31 December 2013 1,420 535 440 1,352 3,747 
            

      
Carrying amount at 1 January 2013 970 - 490 170 1,630 

            

 

Goodwill is being amortised as follows: 

 goodwill arising on the acquisition of Bright Sparks Limited is being amortised evenly over the 
directors’ estimate of its useful life of 10 years; and 

 goodwill arising on the acquisition of Extinguishers Limited is being amortised evenly over the 
directors’ estimate of its useful life of 10 years. 

Development costs are amortised evenly over their useful lives of 10 years. Amortisation is 
included in administration expenses in the profit and loss account. 

Intangible assets are being amortised as follows: 

 Customer lists are amortised evenly over their useful lives of 10 years. 

 Patents are being amortised evenly over their useful lives of 10 years. 
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Intangible assets (continued) 
FRS 102.18.8C 

An entity shall recognise expenditure on the 
following items as an expense and shall not 
recognise such expenditure as intangible 
assets; 

a) internally generated brands, logos, 
publishing titles, customer lists and 
items similar in substance. 

b) start up activities (ie start up costs), 
which include establishment costs 
such as legal and secretarial costs 
incurred in establishing the legal 
entity, expenditure to open a new 
facility or business (ie pre-opening 
costs) and expenditure for starting 
new operations or launching new 
products or processes (ie pre 
operating costs). 

c) Training activities. 

d) Advertising and promotional 
activities (unless it meets the 
definition of inventories held for 
distribution at no or nominal 
consideration). 

e) Relocating or reorganising part or all 
of an entity. 

f) Internally generated goodwill. 

FRS 102.18.8E 

No intangible asset arising from research (or 
the research phase of an internal project) 
shall be recognised, and all such expenditure 
shall be recognised as an expense when 
incurred. 

FRS 102.18.8H 

An entity may recognise an intangible asset 
arising from development (or from the 
development phase of an internal project) if, 
and only if, an entity can demonstrate all of 
the following: 

a) Technical feasibility of completing 
the intangible asset so that it will be 
available for use or sale. 

b) Its intention to complete the 
intangible asset and use or sell it. 

c) Its ability to use or sell the intangible 
asset. 

d) How the intangible asset will 
generate probable future benefits. 

e) The availability of adequate 
technical, financial and other 
resources to complete the 
development and to use or sell the 
intangible asset. 

f) Its ability to measure reliably the 
expenditure attributable to the 
intangible asset during its 
development. 

FRS 102.18.27 

An entity shall disclose the following for each 
class of intangible assets: 

a) The useful lives or the amortisation 
rates used and the reasons for 
choosing those periods. 

b) The amortisation methods used. 

c) The gross carrying amount and any 
accumulated amortisation 
(aggregated with accumulated 
impairment losses) at the beginning 
and end of the reporting period. 

d) The line item(s) in the statement of 
comprehensive income in which any 
amortisation of intangible assets is 
included. 

e) A reconciliation of the carrying 
amount at the beginning and end of 
the reporting period showing 
separately: 

i. Additions, indicating 
separately those from 
internal development and 
those acquired separately; 

ii. Disposals; 

iii. Acquisitions through 
business combinations; 

iv. Revaluations; 

v. Amortisation; 

vi. Impairment losses; and 

vii. Other changes. 

This reconciliation need not be 
presented for prior periods. 

1 Sch 22(4) 
Where acquired goodwill is included in the 
balance sheet as an asset, the period chosen 
for writing off that goodwill and the reasons 
for choosing that period shall be disclosed. 
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Intangible assets (continued) 
FRS 102.18.28 
An entity shall also disclose: 

a) A description, the carrying amount and 
the remaining amortisation period of 
any individual intangible asset that is 
material to the entity’s financial 
statements 

b) For intangible assets acquired by way of 
a grants and initially recognised at fair 
value: 

i. The fair value initially recognised 
for these assets, and 

ii. Their carrying amounts 

c) The existence and carrying amounts of 
intangible assets to which the entity has 
restricted title or that are pledged as 
security for liabilities. 

d) The amount of contractual commitments 
for the acquisition of intangible assets 

1 Sch 22(4), FRS 102.18.27 
The method and period of amortisation of 
goodwill and intangible assets should be 
disclosed and the reasons for choosing that 
period. 

FRS 102.18.29A 

If intangible assets are accounted for at 
revalued amounts, an entity shall disclose the 
following: 

a) The effective date of the revaluation; 

b) Whether an independent valuer was 
involved; 

c) The methods  and significant 
assumptions applied in estimating the 
assets’ fair values; and 

For each revalued class of intangible assets, 
the carrying amount that would have been 
recognised had the assets been carried under 
the cost model.  
FRS 102.19.26 

An acquirer shall disclose a reconciliation of 
the carrying amount of goodwill at the 
beginning and end of the reporting period, 
showing separately: 

 changes arising from new business 
combinations 

 amortisation 

 impairment losses 

 disposals of previously acquired 
businesses; and  

 other changes. 

FRS 102.19.26A 
An acquirer shall disclose a reconciliation of 
the carrying amount of negative goodwill at 
the beginning and end of the reporting period 
showing separately; 

 changes arising from new business 
combinations 

 amounts recognised in profit or loss for 
negative goodwill 

 disposals of previously acquired 
businesses; and 

 other changes. 

FRS 102.27.32 
An entity shall disclose the following for each 
class of asset indicated in paragraph 27.33: 

 the amount of impairment losses 
recognised in profit or loss during the 
period and the line items(s) in the 
statement of comprehensive income (or 
the income statement if presented) in 
which those impairment losses are 
included; and 

 the amount of reversals of impairment 
losses recognised in profit and loss 
during the period and the line item(s) in 
the statement of comprehensive income 
(or income statement if presented) in 
which those impairment losses are 
reversed. 

FRS 102.27.33 
The information in paragraph 32 shall be 
disclosed for each of the following classes of 
asset: 

 inventories; 

 property plant and equipment (including 
investment property accounted for by 
the cost method); 

 goodwill; 

 intangible assets other than goodwill; 

 investments in associates; and 

 investments in joint ventures. 
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Tangible assets 
FRS 102.17.31 
An entity shall disclose the following for each 
class of property, plant and equipment: 
(d) the gross carrying amount and 
accumulated depreciation (aggregated with 
accumulated impairment losses) at the 
beginning and end of the reporting period. 
(e) a reconciliation of the carrying amount at 
the beginning and end of the reporting period 
showing separately: 

i. additions; 
ii. disposals; 
iii. acquisitions through business 

combinations; 
iv. revaluations; 
v. transfers to investment property if a 

reliable measure of fair value 
becomes available; 

vi. impairment losses recognised or 
reversed in profit or loss in 
accordance with Section 27; 

vii. depreciation; and 
viii. other changes. 

This reconciliation need not be presented for 
prior periods. 
FRS 102.17.32 
The entity shall also disclose the following: 
a) The existence and carrying amounts of 

property, plant and equipment to which 
the entity has restricted title or that is 
pledged as security for liabilities. 

b) The amount of contractual 
commitments for the acquisition of 
property, plant and equipment. 

FRS 102.17.32A 
If items of property, plant and equipment are 
stated at revalued amounts, the following 
shall be disclosed: 

 The effective date of the revaluation; 
 Whether an independent valuer was 

involved; 
 The methods and significant 

assumptions applied in estimating the 
items fair values; and 

 For each revalued class of property, 
plant and equipment, the carrying 
amount that would have been 

recognised had the assets been carried 
under the cost model. 

1 Sch 27(3) 
Disclose any capitalised interest included in 
the production cost of any asset and the fact 
that the interest has been capitalised. 

1 Sch 53, 10 Sch 7 
Distinguish between freeholds, long 
leaseholds (over 50 years unexpired) and 
short leaseholds. 

1 Sch 34, 52,  
For each class of revalued assets, other than 
investment properties, disclose: 

 the name and qualifications of the 
valuer(s) or the valuer’s organisation and 
a description of its nature; 

 the basis or bases of valuation (including 
whether notional directly attributable 
acquisition costs have been included or 
expected selling costs deducted); 

 the date and amounts of the valuation; 
 where historical cost records are 

available, the carrying amount that 
would have been included in the financial 
statements had the tangible fixed assets 
been carried at historical cost less 
depreciation; 

 whether the person(s) carrying out the 
valuation is (are) internal or external to 
the entity; 

 where the directors are not aware of any 
material change in value and therefore 
the valuation(s) have not been updated, 
as described in FRS 15(45), (46), (50), a 
statement to the effect; and 

 where the valuation has not been 
updated, or is not a full valuation, the 
date of the last full valuation. 

In addition, for revalued properties, other 
than investment properties: 

 where properties have been valued as 
fully-equipped operational entities 
having regard to their trading potential, 
a statement to that effect and the 
carrying amount of those properties; and 

 the total amount of notional directly 
attributable acquisition costs (or the 
total amount of expected selling costs 
deducted), included in the carrying 
amount, where material. 
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12. Tangible assets 
 
Group 

 
Land and 

 
Plant and 

 

 buildings machinery Total 
 £000 £000 £000 

    
Cost or valuation:    
At 1 January 2013 20,405 19,850 40,255 
Exchange adjustment 50 775 825 
Additions 2,723 10,092 12,815 
Acquisition of subsidiary undertaking 2,897 4,145 7,042 
Deficit on revaluation (350) – (350) 
Disposals (3,625) (7,250) (10,875) 
Disposal of subsidiary undertaking (3,108) (2,701) (5,809) 

    

At 31 December 2013 18,992 24,911 43,903 
    

Depreciation and impairment:    
At 1 January 2013 1,675 8,525 10,200 
Exchange adjustment 4 546 550 
Provided during the year 425 2,965 3,390 
Impairment loss – 2,200 2,200 
Disposals (904) (2,396) (3,300) 
Disposal of subsidiary undertaking (217) (521) (738) 

    

At 31 December 2013 983 11,319 12,302 
    

Carrying amount at 31 December 2013 18,009 13,592 31,601 
        

    
Carrying amount at 1 January 2013 18,730 11,325 30,055 

        
    
Parent Company    
    
Cost or valuation:    
At 1 January 2013 8,304 9,450 17,754 
Additions 2,275 3,475 5,750 
Deficit on revaluation (154) – (154) 
Disposals (625) (4,000) (4,625) 

    

At 31 December 2013 9,800 8,925 18,725 
    

Depreciation:    
At 1 January 2013 500 3,150 3,650 
Provided during the year 250 835 1,085 
Impairment loss – 2,200 2,200 
Disposals – (2,050) (2,050) 

    

At 31 December 2013 750 4,135 4,885 
    

Carrying amount at 31 December 2013 9,050 4,790 13,840 
        

    
Carrying amount at 1 January 2013 7,804 6,300 14,104 
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Tangible assets (continued) 
1 Sch 34(2), 52 
For assets shown at valuation, disclose the 
years, amounts of valuation, the items 
affected and the basis of valuation. If made 
during the current year, also disclose the 
names or the qualifications of valuers, and 
basis of valuation. 

1 Sch 34(3)-(4) 
For each balance sheet category containing 
revalued assets, give comparable amounts 
under the historical cost convention or the 
differences between those comparable 
amounts and the revalued amounts. 
‘Comparable amounts’ covers aggregate cost 
and aggregate depreciation. 

Investment Property  
FRS 102.16.10 
An entity shall disclose the following for all 
investment property accounted for at fair 
value through profit or loss: 
a) The methods and significant 

assumptions applied in determining the 
fair value of the investment property. 

b) The extent to which the fair value of the 
investment property (as measured or 
disclosed in the financial statements) is 
based on a valuation by an independent 
valuer who holds a recognised and 
relevant professional qualification and 
has recent experience in the location 
and class of the investment property 
being valued. If there has been no such 
valuation, that fact should be disclosed. 

c) The existence and amounts of 
restrictions on the realisability of 
investment property or remittance of 
income and proceeds of disposal. 

d) Contractual obligations to purchase, 
construct or develop investment 
property or for repairs, maintenance or 
enhancements. 

e) A reconciliation between the carrying 
amounts of investment property at the 
beginning and end of the period showing 
separately: 
i. Additions, disclosing separately 

those additions resulting from 
acquisitions through business 
combinations. 

ii. Net gains and losses from fair value 
adjustments. 

iii. Transfers to property, plant and 
equipment when a reliable measure 
of fair value is no longer available 
without undue cost and effort. 

iv. Transfers to and from inventories 
and owner occupied property. 

v. Other changes. 
This reconciliation need not be presented for 
prior periods. 
1 Sch 58 

Where investment property is held at fair 
value through profit and loss: 

 The balance sheet items affected and 
the basis of valuation adopted in 
determining the amounts of the assets 
must be disclosed. 

 Disclosure of the comparable amounts 
determined according to the historical 
cost accounting rules and the 
differences between those amounts and 
the corresponding amounts actually 
shown in the balance sheet. 

FRS 102.20.13(a) 
A lessee shall disclose for finance leases, for 
each class of asset the net carrying amount 
at the end of the reporting period. 
FRS 102.20.14 
In addition, the requirements for disclosure 
about assets in accordance with Sections 17, 
18, 27 and 34 apply to lessees for assets 
leased under finance leases. 
FRS 102.27.32 
An entity shall disclose for each class of 
asset; 
 the amount of impairment losses 

recognised in profit or loss during the 
period and the line item(s) in the 
statement of comprehensive income (or 
income statement) in which those 
impairment losses are included; and 

 the amount of reversals of impairment 
losses recognised in profit or loss during 
the period and the line item(s) in the 
statement of comprehensive income (or 
income statement) in which the 
impairment losses are reversed. 

 
 
 
 

  



Good Practice Group Limited 

Notes to the financial statements 
at 31 December 2013 

 117 

12. Tangible assets (continued) 
As a result of falling profits and in accordance with Section 27 of FRS 102, the carrying values of 
the UK based assets in the electronics segment at 31 December 2013, have been compared to their 
recoverable amounts, represented by their value in use to the group. This resulted in an impairment 
in the year of £2.2m. 

The value in use has been derived from discounted cash flow projections using a pre-tax discount 
rate of 12.1% (2012 - 11.8%). Cash flows have been projected over three years based on 
management’s most recent business forecast.  After that a steady growth rate of 2% has been 
assumed which is consistent with the average UK fire extinguishers industry growth rate. 

The carrying amount of land and buildings comprises: 

  Group  
Parent 

company 
 2013 2012 2013 2012 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Investment properties at fair value:     
Long leasehold 7,091 7,003 4,184 3,900 
Other properties at cost:     
Long leasehold 7,210 3,328 3,986 2,936 
Short leasehold 1,318 968 880 968 
Freehold 2,390 7,431 – – 

     

 18,009 18,730 9,050 7,804 
          

The long leasehold investment properties were valued by and independent valuer with a recognised 
and relevant professional qualification and with recent experience in the location and category of 
the investment property being valued, Chartered Surveyors & Co. as at 31 December 2013, on the 
basis of open market value in accordance with the Appraisal and Valuation Manual of The Royal 
Institution of Chartered Surveyors. The critical assumptions made relating to the valuations are set 
out below: 

 2013 2012 
Yields 6%-7% 5%-6% 
Inflation rate 3.5% 3% 
Long term vacancy rate 9% 5% 
Long term growth in real rental rates 3% 4% 

Movements in the fair value of investment properties are as follows: 

 Group 
Parent 

company 
 £000 £000 

Fair value:   
At 1 January 2013 7,003 3,900 
Additions 2,063 1,063 
Disposals (1,625) (625) 
Deficit on valuation (350) (154) 
At 31 December 2013 7,091 4,184 

   

The historical cost of investment properties held at fair value is as follows: 

 Group 
Parent 

company 
 £000 £000 

   
At 31 December 2013 2,052 1,419 

   

At 1 January 2013 1,379 746 
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Tangible assets (continued) 
FRS 102.27.33A 
An entity shall disclose a description of the 
events and circumstances that led to the 
recognition or reversals of the impairment 
loss. 
FRS 102.16.10 
An entity shall disclose the following for all 
investment property accounted for at fair 
value through profit or loss: 
 the methods and significant assumptions 

applied in determining the fair value of 
investment property; 

 the extent to which the fair value of 
investment property (as measured and 
disclosed in the financial statements) is 
based on a valuation by an independent 
valuer who holds a recognised and 
relevant professional qualification and 
has recent experience in the location and 
class of the investment property being 
valued. If there has been no such 
valuation, that fact shall be disclosed; 

 The existence and amounts of restrictions 
on the realisability of investment property 
or the remittance of income and proceeds 
of disposal; 

 Contractual obligations to purchase, 
construct or develop investment property 
or for repairs, maintenance or 
enhancements; and 

 A reconciliation between the carrying 
amounts of investment property at the 
beginning and end of the period, showing 
separately: 
o additions, disclosing separately those 

additions resulting from acquisitions 
through business combinations; 

o net gains or losses from fair value 
adjustments; 

o transfers to property, plant and 
equipment when a reliable measure of 
fair value is no longer available 
without undue cost or effort; 

o transfers to and from inventories and 
owner occupied property; and 

o other changes. 
 

 

 

Investments 
FRS 102.14.14.2 b) 
The financial statements shall disclose the 
carrying amount of investments in 
associates. 

FRS 102.15.19  
The financial statements shall disclose the 
following: 
(a) the accounting policy for recognising 
investments in jointly controlled entities; 
(b) the carrying amount of investments in 
jointly controlled entities; 
(c) the fair value of investments in jointly 
controlled entities accounted for using the 
equity method for which there are published 
price quotations; and 
(d) the aggregate amount of its commitments 
relating to joint ventures, including its share 
in the capital commitments that have been 
incurred jointly with other venturers, as well 
as its share of the capital commitments of 
the joint ventures themselves. 
 
FRS 102.15.20  
For jointly controlled entities accounted for 
in accordance with the equity method, the 
venturer shall disclose separately its share of 
the profit or loss of such investments and its 
share of any discontinued operations of such 
jointly controlled entities. 
1 Sch Formats, 6 Sch 20,  
Shares in subsidiary undertakings, associated 
undertakings and other participating 
interests should be distinguished from loans 
to these undertakings. For the purposes of 
this example it has been assumed there are 
no participating interests other than those 
which are associates and joint ventures. 

1 Sch 22(4) 
Where acquired goodwill is included in the 
balance sheet as an asset, the period chosen 
for writing off that goodwill and the reasons 
for choosing that period shall be disclosed. 

FRS 102.14.12  
The financial statements shall disclose: 
(a) the accounting policy for investments in 
associates; 
(b) the carrying amount of investments in 
associates; and 
(c) the fair value of investments in associates 
accounted for using the equity method for 
which there are published price quotations.  
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12. Tangible assets (continued) 
   

Included in the amounts for plant and machinery above are the following amounts relating to leased 
assets and assets acquired under hire purchase contracts: 

Group and 
 Parent company 

£000 
Cost:  
At 1 January 2013 and 31 December 2013 2,102 

  

Depreciation:  
At 1 January 2013 872 
Depreciation provided during the year 308 

  

At 31 December 2013 1,180 
  

Carrying amount:  
At 31 December 2013 922 

  

At 1 January 2013 1,230 

13. Investments 
Group 2013 2012 

 £000 £000 
Joint venture (a) 1,835 978 
Associate (b) 1,377 1,177 
Other fixed asset investments (c) 1,361 1,276 

   

 4,573 3,431 
   

(a) Joint venture 

 2013 2012 
 £000 £000 

At 1 January  978 356 
Share of profit retained by joint venture 857 622 

   

At 31 December  1,835 978 
   

   

 

 

Goodwill is being amortised over the directors’ estimate of its useful life of five years. 

 (b) Associate 
Share of net   

tangible assets Goodwill Total 
£000 £000 £000 

At 1 January 2013 897 280 1,177 
Share of profit retained by the associate 270 – 270 
Amortisation of goodwill – (70) (70) 

    

At 31 December 2013 1,167 210 1,377 
    
At 1 January 2012 687 350 1,037 
Share of profit retained by the associate 210 - 210 
Amortisation of goodwill - (70) (70) 
At 31 December 2012 897 280 1,177 
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Investments (continued) 
FRS 102.14.14  
For investments in associates accounted for 
in accordance with the equity method, an 
investor shall disclose separately its share of 
the profit or loss of such associates and its 
share of any discontinued operations of such 
associates. 
1 Sch 54 
Investments (whether fixed or current assets) 
should be split between listed and unlisted 
investments. Investments in companies 
traded on the Alternative Investment Market 
are not ‘listed’. 

Give the market value of listed investments 
and if the stock exchange value is less than 
the market value disclose both. 

1 Sch 57 
If the company has any financial fixed assets 
which could be held at fair value but are 
valued in excess of their fair value and no 
provision for diminution has been made, 
disclose: 

 amount at which these assets or groups 
of assets are valued in the balance sheet; 

 fair value of those assets or groups of 
assets; and 

 reasons and evidence for not making a 
provision for diminution. 

1 Sch 28(3) 
Where investments have been valued as 
‘fungible’ assets the difference 
(where material) between that amount and 
either the replacement cost or the most 
recent actual purchase price before the 
balance sheet date should be disclosed. 

4 Sch 7 
Where a company or group is a member of a 
“qualifying undertaking” (a qualifying 
partnership or an unlimited company each of 
whose members is a limited company, or 
another unlimited company each of whose 
members is a limited company or a Scottish 
partnership), specified disclosures must be 
given. 

1 Sch 32(3) 
Where fixed asset investments are carried at 
a value which appears to the directors to be 
appropriate (directors’ valuation), details of 
the method of valuation adopted and the 
reasons for adopting it should be disclosed. 

FRS 102.9.26 

When a parent prepares separate financial 
statements and describes them as 
conforming to FRS 102, those financial 
statements shall comply with all of the 
requirements of the FRS. The parent shall 
adopt a policy of accounting for its 
investments in subsidiaries, associates and 
jointly controlled entities either: 

a) at cost less impairment 

b) at fair value with changes in fair value 
recognised in other comprehensive 
income, or 

c) at fair value with changes in fair value 
recognised in profit or loss. 

The entity shall apply the same accounting 
policy for all investments in a single class 
(subsidiaries, associates or jointly controlled 
entities), but it can elect different policies for 
different classes. 

FRS 102.27.32 
An entity shall disclose the following for each 
class of asset indicated in paragraph 27.33: 

 the amount of impairment losses 
recognised in profit or loss during the 
period and the line items(s) in the 
statement of comprehensive income (or 
the income statement if presented) in 
which those impairment losses are 
included; and 

 the amount of reversals of impairment 
losses recognised in profit and loss 
during the period and the line item(s) in 
the statement of comprehensive income 
(or income statement if presented) in 
which those impairment losses are 
reversed. 

FRS 102.27.33 
The information in paragraph 32 shall be 
disclosed for each of the following classes of 
asset: 

 inventories; 

 property plant and equipment (including 
investment property accounted for by 
the cost method); 

 goodwill; 

 intangible assets other than goodwill; 

 investments in associates; and 

 investments in joint ventures. 
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13. Investments (continued) 
(c) Other fixed asset investments 

 
At fair 
value 

At cost less 
impairment Total 

 £000 £000 £000 
    
At 1 January 2012 - 2,101 2,101 
Additions - - - 
Fair value adjustments - - - 
At 1 January 2013 – 2,101 2,101 
Additions 465 – 465 
Fair value adjustment 95 - 95 
Disposals – (475) (475) 

    

At 31 December 2013 560 1,626 2,186 
    

Amounts provided:    
At 1 January 2012, 1 January 2013 and 31 December 2013 – 825 825 

    

Carrying amount at 31 December 2013 560 801 1,361 
        

    
Carrying amount at 1 January 2013 – 1,276 1,276 

        

The fair value of the listed investments at 31 December 2013 is £560,000 (2012 – £Nil). 

Other investments are not listed and are held at cost less impairment as fair value cannot be reliably 
determined. 

Parent Company 

 
Subsidiary 

undertakings 

Joint 
ventures and 

associates 
Other 

investments Total 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Cost:     
At 1 January 2012 and at 1 January 

2013 6,420 675 2,101 9,196 
Exchange adjustment 130 – – 130 
Additions 10,980 – – 10,980 
Disposals (2,670) – (475) (3,145) 

     

At 31 December 2013 14,860 675 1,626 17,161 
     

Amounts provided:     
At 1 January 2012, 1 January2013 

and 31 December 2013  – – 825 825 
     

Carrying amount  at 31 December 
2013 14,860 675 801 16,336 

     
     
Carrying amount at 1 January 2013 6,420 675 1,276 8,371 
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Investments (continued) 
FRS 102.11.41 
An entity shall disclose the carrying amounts 
of each of the following categories of 
financial assets and financial liabilities at the 
reporting date, in total, either in the 
statement of financial position or in the 
notes: 
(a) financial assets measured at fair value 
through profit or loss; 
(b) financial assets that are debt instruments 
measured at amortised; 
(c) financial assets that are equity 
instruments measured at cost less 
impairment; 
(d) financial liabilities measured at fair value 
through profit or loss. Financial liabilities that 
are not held as part of a trading portfolio and 
are not derivatives shall be shown 
separately; 
(e) financial liabilities measured at amortised 
cost; and 
(f) loan commitments measured at cost less 
impairment. 
FRS 102.11.43 
For all financial assets and financial liabilities 
measured at fair value, the entity shall 
disclose the basis for determining fair value, 
eg quoted market price in an active market 
or a valuation technique. When a valuation 
technique is used, the entity shall disclose the 
assumptions applied in determining fair value 
for each class of financial assets or financial 
liabilities. For example, if applicable, an entity 
discloses information about the assumptions 
relating to prepayment rates, rates of 
estimated credit losses, and interest rates or 
discount rates. 

FRS 102.11.48A 
The following disclosures are required only 
for financial instruments at fair value through 
profit or loss that are not held as part of a 
trading portfolio and are not derivatives: 
(a) The amount of change, during the period 
and cumulatively, in the fair value of the 
financial instrument that is attributable to 
changes in the credit risk of that instrument, 
determined either: 
(i) as the amount of change in its fair value 
that is not attributable to changes in market 
conditions that give rise to market risk; or 
(ii) using an alternative method the entity 
believes more faithfully represents the 
amount of change in its fair value that is 

attributable to changes in the credit risk of 
the instrument. 
(b) The method used to establish the amount 
of change attributable to changes in own 
credit risk, or, if the change cannot be 
measured reliably or is not material, that 
fact. 
(c) The difference between the financial 
liability’s carrying amount and the amount 
the entity would be contractually required to 
pay at maturity to the holder of the 
obligation. 
(d) If an instrument contains both a liability 
and an equity feature, and the instrument 
has multiple features that substantially 
modify the cash flows and the values of those 
features are interdependent (such as a 
callable convertible debt instrument), the 
existence of those features. 
(e) Any difference between the fair value at 
initial recognition and the amount that would 
be determined at that date using a valuation 
technique, and the amount recognised in 
profit or loss. 
(f) Information that enables users of the 
entity’s financial statements to evaluate the 
nature and extent of relevant risks arising 
from financial instruments to which the entity 
is exposed at the end of the reporting period. 
These risks typically include, but are not 
limited to, credit risk, liquidity risk and 
market risk. The disclosure should include 
both the entity’s exposure to each type of 
risk and how it manages those risks. 
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Investments (continued) 
4 Sch 1, 3, 17,  
For all subsidiary undertakings held by the 
parent company and the group (shown 
separately if different) at the end of the year 
disclose: 

 the name of the undertaking; 

 the country of incorporation if it is 
outside the UK; 

 if unincorporated, the address of its 
principal place of business;  

 the number, description, and amount 
(proportion) of shares in the company 
held by or on behalf of subsidiary 
undertakings; and 

 for consolidated financial statements, an 
indication of the nature of its business 
for each subsidiary materially affecting 
the consolidated financial statements. 

4 Sch 4-5, 20 

For all “significant holdings” (more than 20% 
of the nominal value of any class of shares or 
if the carrying amount of holding in the 
company’s individual or group accounts 
exceeds one-fifth of the company’s or group’s 
assets) which are not subsidiaries, joint 
ventures or associates at the end of the 
financial year for undertakings which are not 
subsidiaries, disclose: 

 the name of the undertaking; 

 the country of incorporation, if outside 
UK; 

 if unincorporated, the address of its 
principal place of business; and 

 the identity of each class of shares in the 
undertaking held and the proportion of 

the nominal value of the shares of that 
class represented by those shares. 
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13. Investments (continued) 
Details of the investments in which the group and the parent company (unless indicated) hold 20% 
or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital are as follows: 

Name of company Holding 

Proportion 
of voting 
rights and 
shares held 

Nature of 
Business 

   
Subsidiary undertakings   

Extinguishers Limited Ordinary shares 100% 
Fire prevention 
equipment 

   
Bright Sparks Limited Ordinary shares 95% Electronics 
 Preference shares 45% ‡ 
   
Wireworks Inc.  Common stock 98% Electronics 
   

Sprinklers Inc.  Common stock 100% 
Fire prevention 
equipment 

   
Lightbulbs Limited Ordinary shares 100% Investment property 
   
‡ Held by a subsidiary undertaking.   
 Incorporated in the United States.   

   
Joint venture   

Showers Limited Ordinary shares 50% 
Fire prevention 
equipment 

   
Associate   
Power Works Limited Ordinary shares 25% ‡ Electronics 
   
‡ 7% held by a subsidiary undertaking.   
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Investments (continued) 
4 Sch 6, 20 
For all significant holdings which are not 
subsidiaries, joint ventures or associated 
undertakings held by the company or group 
disclose: 

 the aggregate amount of its capital and 
reserves as at the end of its relevant 
financial year; and 

 its profit or loss for that year. 
The information is also not required if not 
material or if the subsidiary undertaking is 
not required to deliver a copy of its balance 
sheet for its relevant financial year and does 
not otherwise publish it and the company’s 
holding is less than 50% of the nominal value 
of the shares in the undertaking. 

s410 
When the number of bodies is such that the 
directors are of the opinion that compliance 
would result in information of excessive 
length, the information need only be given in 
respect of those undertakings whose results 
or financial position principally affected the 
financial statements and of those subsidiary 
undertakings excluded from consolidation 
under s405(3) (undertakings excluded on 
grounds other than materiality). If advantage 
is taken of this exemption, disclosure of that 
fact must be made and the full information 
(both that included in the notes to the 
accounts and that excluded) must be annexed 
to the company’s next annual return. 

s409(3)-(5) 
The information required by 4 Sch about 
related undertakings need not be given if 
disclosure of an investment in an undertaking 
incorporated, or carrying on business, 
outside the UK would be seriously prejudicial 
and the Secretary of State agrees that the 
information need not be disclosed. The fact 
that advantage has been taken of the 
exemption must be stated. 

6 Sch 20(2) 
Loans to and from, investments in, and 
income from participating interests not 
accounted for as subsidiary, associated or 
joint venture undertakings to be separately 
disclosed. 

 

4 Sch 12 
If the financial years of any subsidiary 
undertakings are not coterminous with that 
of the parent company, disclose: 

 names of the subsidiary undertakings; 

 the date on which the subsidiary’s last 
financial year ended (the last before the 
end of the parent’s financial year); 

 directors’ reasons for using a different 
date; and 

 length of accounting period, if different 
from that of the company. 

FRS 102.19.25 
For each business combination, excluding 
group reconstructions, that was effected 
during the period, the acquirer shall disclose 
the following: 

 the names and descriptions of the 
combining entities or businesses 

 the acquisition date 

 the percentage of voting equity 
instruments acquired 

 the cost of the combination and a 
description of the components of that 
cost (such as cash, equity instruments 
and debt instruments) 

 the amounts recognised at the 
acquisition date for each class of the 
acquiree’s assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities, including goodwill 

 the useful life of goodwill, and if it 
exceeds five years supporting reasons 
for this 

 the periods in which the negative 
goodwill will be recognised in profit or 
loss 

FRS 102.19.26 

The acquirer shall disclose, separately for 
each material business combination that 
occurred during the reporting period, the 
amounts of revenue and profit or loss of the 
acquiree since the acquisition date included 
in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income for the reporting 
period. The disclosure may be provided in 
aggregate for business combinations that 
occurred during the reporting period which, 
individually, are not material. 
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13. Investments (continued) 
Acquisition of subsidiary 
On 1 May 2013 the group acquired Extinguishers Limited for a consideration of £8,750,000 
satisfied by the issue of 2,500,000 ordinary shares of £1 at £3.50 each. The investment in 
Extinguishers Limited has been included in the company’s balance sheet at its fair value at the date 
of acquisition. 

Analysis of the acquisition of Extinguishers Limited: 

Net assets at date of acquisition: 

 Book Revaluation  Fair value 
 value adjustments  to group 
 £000 £000  £000 

     
Intangible assets - 595 (a) 595 
Tangible assets 5,684 1,358 (b) 7,042 
Stocks 3,504 540 (c) 4,044 
Debtors (including deferred taxation of 

£300,000) 2,170 (134) (d) 2,036 
Cash 230 –  230 
Creditors due within one year (4,299) –  (4,299) 
Provisions for maintenance warranties (300) (100) (e) (400) 
Deferred taxation (645) (695) (f) (1,340) 

     

Net assets 6,344 1,564  7,908 
          

Goodwill arising on acquisition    1,342 
     

    9,250 
          

     
Discharged by:     
Fair value of shares issued (note 21)    8,750 
Costs associated with the acquisition    500 

     

    9,250 
          

Adjustments: 

(a) customer lists with a fair value of £595,000 were identified on acquisition 

(b) increase in value of long leasehold properties and plant and machinery to fair value. 

(c) increase in value of stock to fair value 

(d) write-down of debtors following reassessment of specific bad debt provision 

(e) reassessment of the provision for maintenance warranties on Extinguishers Limited’s products 

(f) deferred tax asset arising on fair value adjustments to customer lists, tangible assets, stocks, 
debtors and provision for maintenance warranties and reassessment of the likelihood of 
recoverability of deferred tax assets. 
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Investments (continued) 
FRS 102.19.25A 

The acquirer shall disclose, separately for 
each material business combination that 
occurred during the period, the amounts of 
revenue and profit or loss of the acquiree 
since the acquisition date included in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income for the reporting period. The 
disclosure may be provided in aggregate for 
business combinations that occurred during 
the reporting period which, individually, are 
not material. 

6 Sch 15 

Where during the financial year there has 
been a disposal of an undertaking or group 
which significantly affects the figures shown 
in the group accounts, there must be stated 
in a note to the accounts: 

 the name of that undertaking or, as the 
case may be, of the parent undertaking 
of that group, and 

 the extent to which the profit or loss 
shown in the group accounts is 
attributable to the profit or loss of that 
undertaking or group. 
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13. Investments (continued) 
Revenue of £18.2m and profit after tax of £0.9m arose in the period from acquisition to 31 
December 2013 relating to Extinguishers Limited. 

Disposal of subsidiary 

On 30 November 2013, the group completed the sale of Hose Limited. The disposal is analysed as 
follows: 

 £000 
Net assets disposed of:  
  
Fixed assets 5,071 
Stocks 3,315 
Debtors 2,316 
Bank overdraft (2,117) 
Other creditors (1,859) 
Deferred taxation (134) 

  

 6,592 
Loss on disposal (including goodwill of £400,000) (2,437) 

  

 4,155 
    

  
Satisfied by:  
Loan notes 4,100 
Cash 55 

  

 4,155 
  

 

   

The profit attributable to members of the parent company includes losses of £1,934,000 incurred 
by Hose Limited up to its date of disposal on 30 November 2013. 
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Stocks 
1 Sch formats 
Show separate amounts for all significant 
stock categories. 

1 Sch 27(3) 
Disclose the amount of any capitalised 
interest included in the production cost of 
any asset and the fact that the interest on 
capital borrowed to finance the production of 
that asset, to the extent that it accrues in 
respect of the period of production, has been 
capitalised. 

1 Sch 28(3) 
Disclose the difference, if material, for each 
category of stock, between carrying value 
and replacement cost. The most recent 
purchase price or production cost may be 
used but only if it constitutes, in the 
directors’ opinion, a more appropriate 
standard of comparison than replacement 
cost. This need not be given if the stock is 
stated at actual cost. 

FRS 102.13.22 

An entity shall disclose the following: 

b)  the total carrying amount of inventories 
and the carrying amount in classifications 
appropriate to the entity; 

c)  the amount of inventories recognised as 
an expense during the period; 

d)  impairment losses recognised or reversed 
in profit or loss; and 

e)  the total carrying amount of inventories 
pledged as security for liabilities. 

FRS 102.27.32 

An entity shall disclose the following for each 
class of asset indicated in paragraph 27.33: 

 the amount of impairment losses 
recognised in profit or loss during the 
period and the line items(s) in the 
statement of comprehensive income (or 
the income statement if presented) in 
which those impairment losses are 
included; and 

 the amount of reversals of impairment 
losses recognised in profit and loss 
during the period and the line item(s) in 
the statement of comprehensive income 
(or income statement if presented) in 
which those impairment losses are 
reversed. 

FRS 102.27.33 
The information in paragraph 32 shall be 
disclosed for inventories; 
FRS 102.23.32 
An entity shall present: 
a) the gross amount due from customers 

for contract work as an asset 
b) the gross amount due to customers for 

contract work as a liability 
FRS 102.23.26 
When it is probable that total contract costs 
will exceed total contract revenue on a 
construction contract, the expected loss shall 
be recognised as an expense immediately, 
with a corresponding provision for an 
onerous contract.  
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14. Stocks 
 Group Parent company 
 2013 2012 2013 2012 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 

     
Raw materials and consumables 7,265 6,375 3,155 2,300 
Work in progress 10,840 8,425 4,715 3,125 
Finished goods and goods for resale 7,720 5,300 3,750 1,700 

     

 25,825 20,100 11,620 7,125 
          

The difference between purchase price or production cost of stocks and their replacement cost is 
not material. 

Stocks recognised as an expense in the period were £50,000 (2012 - £40,000) for the group and 
£35,000 (2012 - £25,000) for the parent. 

The following amounts are recorded in respect of long term contracts: 

 Group Parent company 
 2013 2012 2013 2012 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 

     
Gross amount due from customers for contract 

work included in debtors 920 745 460 372 
Gross amount due to customers for contract 

work included in creditors 766 195 383 98 
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Debtors 
1 Sch formats note 5 
For each item included under debtors, 
disclose the amount falling due after more 
than one year. 

1 Sch formats 
Where applicable, disclose separately 
amounts shown in the company’s balance 
sheet due from group undertakings. 

6 Sch 20,  
The amounts owing and owed between an 
investor and its associates or its joint 
ventures should be analysed into amounts 
relating to loans and amounts relating to 
trading balances.  

1 Sch 64(2) 
Where any outstanding loans made under 
s682(2)(b)-(d) (various cases of financial 
assistance by a company for purchase of its 
own shares) in connection with employees or 
employee share schemes are included in any 
item shown in the company’s balance sheet, 
the aggregate amount of those loans should 
be disclosed for each item in question. 
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15. Debtors 
 Group Parent company 
 2013 2012 2013 2012 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 

     
Loan notes 4,000 – 4,000 – 
Trade debtors 13,920 10,402 3,745 4,027 
Amounts owed by group undertakings – – 6,900 6,350 
Amounts owed by associates 230 145 – – 
Other debtors 1,449 980 373 950 
Prepayments and accrued income 533 110 – – 

     

 20,132 11,637 15,018 11,327 
          

 

Amounts falling due after more than one year included above are: 

 Group Parent company 
 2013 2012 2013 2012 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 

     
Loan notes 2,000 – 2,000 – 
Amounts owed by group undertakings – – 6,900 6,350 
Included in other debtors:     
Other (including deferred tax) 1,000 855 – – 

     

 3,000 855 8,900 6,350 

 

Loan notes were received as part of the disposal of the disposal of Hose Limited. These are interest 
bearing at 4% and are redeemable on 31 October 2016. Their undiscounted value is £4.1m. 
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Creditors 
1 Sch formats note 13 
Show separately amounts due within one 
year and amounts due in more than one year. 

1 Sch 60 
The amounts of any provisions for taxation 
other than deferred taxation should be shown 
separately. 

1 Sch 61(4) 
For each item shown under ‘Creditors’ in the 
balance sheet also disclose the aggregate 
amount of secured liabilities and give an 
indication of the nature of the securities. 

1 Sch formats 
Where applicable, disclose separately 
amounts shown in the company’s balance 
sheet due to group undertakings. 

6 Sch 20,  
The amounts owing and owed between an 
investor and its associates or its joint 
ventures should be analysed into amounts 
relating to loans and amounts relating to 
trading balances.  

Creditors: amounts falling due within 
one year 
1 Sch formats note 9 
The amount for creditors in respect of 
taxation and social security costs must be 
shown separately from the amounts for other 
creditors. 
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16. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 
 Group Parent company 
 2013 2012 2013 2012 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 

     
Current instalments due on loans 1,491 498 1,491 498 
Bank overdraft 760 3,770 – – 
Obligations under finance leases and  
hire purchase contracts (see note 19) 179 370 179 370 
Trade creditors 12,766 12,581 4,195 1,520 
Derivative financial instruments (note 30) 53 101 53 101 
Amounts owed to joint ventures 30 12 – – 
Corporation tax 4,750 2,829 1,310 2,164 
Other taxes and social security costs 150 420 60 95 
Other creditors 2,275 2,219 1,675 1,925 
Accruals 1,204 1,106 652 851 

     

 23,658 23,906 9,615 7,524 
          

 
The bank overdraft is secured by a floating charge over certain of the group’s assets. 

 
17. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 

 Group Parent company 
 2013 2012 2013 2012 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 

     
Loans (see note 18) 11,691 8,402 9,216 8,402 
Liability component of convertible preference 
shares 2,830 2,696 2,830 2,696 
Obligations under finance leases and  
hire purchase contracts (see note 19) 983 1,162 983 1,162 
Cash-settled share-based payment (see note 
26) 299 194 299 194 

     

 15,803 12,454 13,328 12,454 
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Convertible cumulative redeemable 
preference shares 
1 Sch formats, Note 7 
The amount of any convertible loan shall be 
shown separately. 

FRS 102.22.3A 
A financial instrument, where the issuer does 
not have the unconditional right to avoid 
settling in cash or by delivery of another 
financial asset (or otherwise settle it in such 
a way that it would be a financial liability) and 
where settlement is dependent on the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of uncertain 
future events beyond the control of the 
issuer and holder, is a financial liability of the 
issuer unless: 

 the part of the contingent settlement 
provision that could require settlement 
in cash or another financial asset is not 
genuine; 

 the issuer can be required to settle the 
obligation in cash or another financial 
asset (or otherwise settle in such a way 
that it would be a financial liability) only 
in the event of liquidation of the issuer; 
or 

 the instrument has all the features and 
meets the conditions in paragraph 22.4. 

  
1 Sch 47(2) 
In the case of any part of the allotted share 
capital that consists of redeemable shares 
disclose: 

 the earliest and latest dates on which 
the company has power to redeem 
those shares; 

 whether those shares must be redeemed 
in any event or are liable to be 
redeemed at the option of the company 
or of the shareholder; and 

 whether any (and, if so, what) premium 
is payable upon redemption. 

 

1 Sch 49(1) 
With respect to any contingent right to the 
allotment of shares in the company (ie, any 
option to subscribe for shares and any other 
right to require the allotment of shares to any 
person whether arising on the conversion 
into shares of securities of any other 
description or otherwise) the following 
particulars shall be given: 

 the number, description and amount of 
the shares in relation to which the right 
is exercisable: 

 the period during which it is exercisable; 
and 

 the price to be paid for the shares 
allotted. 
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17. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year (continued) 
 
Convertible cumulative preference shares 
At 31 December 2013 and 2012, there were 2,500,000 of convertible cumulative redeemable 
preference shares in issue. Each share has a nominal value of £1 and is convertible at the option of 
the holder at 1 March 2016 on the basis of one ordinary share for every three preference shares 
held. The preference shares are redeemable at the option of the shareholder for a price of £1.20 
per share on 1 March 2016. Any preference shares not converted will be redeemed on 31 
December 2017 at a price of £1.20 per share. The preference shares carry a dividend of 7 % per 
annum, payable half yearly in arrears on 30 June and 31 December. When the preference shares 
were issued, the prevailing market interest rate for similar shares without conversion options was 
higher than the interest rate at which the preference shares were issued. The dividend rights are 
cumulative. 
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Loans 
FRS 102.25.3A 
Where a policy of capitalisation is adopted, an 
entity shall disclose: 

 the amount of borrowing costs 
capitalised in the period; and 

 the capitalisation rate used. 
FRS 102.11.42 
An entity shall disclose information that 
enables users of its financial statements to 
evaluate the significance of financial 
instruments for its financial position and 
performance. For example, for long term 
debt such information would normally 
include the terms and conditions of the debt 
instrument (such as interest rate, maturity, 
repayment schedule, and restrictions that 
the debt instrument imposes on the entity. 
1 Sch 61(1) 
In respect of the aggregate of all items shown 
under creditors in the balance sheet disclose 
the aggregate of the following amounts: 

(a) the amount of any debts included under 
creditors which are payable or repayable 
otherwise than by instalments and fall due 
for payment or repayment after the end 
of the period of five years beginning with 
the day next following the end of the 
financial year; and 

(b) for debts which are payable or repayable 
by instalments, the amount of any which 
fall due for payment after the end of that 
period. 

10 Sch 9 
A loan or advance (or an instalment thereof) 
is treated as falling due for repayment on the 
earliest date on which the lender could 
require repayment or payment if he 
exercised all options and rights available to 
him. 

1 Sch 61(2)-(3) 
Repayment terms and rates of interest must 
be given for each debt wholly or partly 
repayable later than five years from the 
balance sheet date. Where, in the opinion of 
the directors, a statement would be of 
excessive length, only a general indication of 
the repayment terms and rates of interest is 
required. 

1 Sch 61(4) 
For each item shown under creditors, also 
disclose the aggregate amount of secured 
liabilities and give an indication of the nature 
of the securities. 

1 Sch 50(1) 
Where debentures have been issued during 
the year, disclose: 

 the classes of debenture issued; and 
 the amount of each class of debenture 

issued and the consideration received. 

1 Sch 50(2) 
The nominal amount and book value of any of 
the company’s debentures held by a nominee 
of, or trustee for, the company should be 
disclosed. 
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18. Loans 
Loans repayable, included within creditors, are analysed as follows: 

 Group Parent company 
 2013 2012 2013 2012 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 

     
Wholly repayable within five years 3,973 4,453 3,973 4,453 
Not wholly repayable within five years 9,209 4,447 6,734 4,447 

     

 13,182 8,900 10,707 8,900 
          

 

Details of loans not wholly repayable within five years are as follows: 

 Group Parent company 
 2013 2012 2013 2012 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 

8.25% secured loan of US$3,600,000 
repayable on 31 May 2021 2,305 – 2,305 – 

2% above LIBOR secured loan repayable on 
31 July 2021 2,500 – – – 

     

 4,805 – 2,305 – 
8% debentures repayable in annual instalments 

of £450,000 commencing 1 January 2017 4,500 4,500 4,500 4,500 
     

 9,305 4,500 6,805 4,500 
Less: issue costs 96 53 71 53 

     

 9,209 4,447 6,734 4,447 
          

 

The long-term loans are secured by fixed charges over various of the group’s properties. Company 
and group loans wholly repayable within five years include £1,500,000 (2012 – £1,500,000) 
secured by a floating charge over the company’s assets. 
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Obligations under leases and hire 
purchase contracts 
FRS 102.20.16 
A lessee shall make the following disclosures 
for operating leases: 

a) the total of future minimum lease 
payments under non-cancellable 
operating leases for each of the 
following periods: 

i. not later than one year; 
ii. later than one year and not later 

than five years; and 
iii. later than five years 

b) lease payments recognised as an expense 
FRS 102.20.13 
A lessee shall make the following disclosures 
for finance leases: 
a) for each class of asset, the net carrying 

amount at the end of the reporting period 
b) the total of future minimum lease 

payments at the end of the reporting 
period, for each of the following periods: 

i. not later than one year; 
ii. later than one year and not later 

than five years; and 
iii. later than five years 

c) a general description of the leasing 
arrangements including, for example, 
information about contingent rent, 
renewal or purchase options and 
escalation clauses, subleases, and 
restrictions imposed by lease 
arrangements. 
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19. Obligations under leases and hire purchase contracts 
The group and company use finance leases and hire purchase contracts to acquire plant and 
machinery. These leases have terms of renewal but no purchase options and escalation clauses. 
Renewals are at the option of the lessee. Future minimum lease payments due under finance leases 
and hire purchase contracts: 

Group and Parent company 2013 2012 
 £000 £000 

   
Amounts payable:   
Within one year 210 410 
In two to five years 1,034 1,244 

   

 1,244 1,654 
less: finance charges allocated to future periods 82 122 

   

 1,162 1,532 
      

 
Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows: 

Group   
   
 2013 2012 
 £000 £000 

   
Within one year 268 255 
In two to five years 643 612 
In over five years 428 408 

   

 1,339 1,275 
      

Parent company   
   
Within one year 20 15 
In two to five years 90 45 
In over five years 10 40 

   

 120 100 
      

Operating lease agreements where the Group is lessor 
The Group holds surplus office and manufacturing buildings as investment properties, as disclosed 
in note 12, which are let to third parties. These non-cancellable leases have remaining terms of 
between 5 and 10 years. All leases include a provision for five-yearly upward rent reviews according 
to prevailing market conditions. 

Future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows: 

    
   2013 2012 
   £000 £000 

     
Not later than one year   1,344 1,309 
After one year but not more than five years   2,656 2,515 
After five years   1,696 1,601 
   5,696 5,425 
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Provisions for liabilities  
1 Sch 59 
Disclose each provision included with “Other 
provisions” if material. 

Disclose the amount of each of the provisions 
at the beginning and end of the year and the 
movements during the year and the source or 
application of the movements. 

FRS 102.21.14 
For each class of provision, an entity shall 
disclose the following: 

a) a reconciliation showing 
i. the carrying amount at the 

beginning and end of the 
period; 

ii. additions during the period, 
including adjustments that 
result from changes in 
measuring the discounted 
amount; 

iii. amounts charged against 
the provision during the 
period; and 

iv. unused amounts reversed 
during the period. 

b) a brief description of the nature of 
the obligation and the expected 
amount and timing of any resulting 
payments 

c) an indication of the uncertainties 
about the amount or timing of those 
outflows 

d) the amount of any expected 
reimbursement, stating the amount 
of any asset that has been 
recognised for that expected 
reimbursement 

Comparative information for prior periods is 
not required. 

 

1 Sch 59(2) 
Disclose movements on provisions or 
accruals for costs related to an acquisition, 
analysed between the amounts used for the 
specific purpose for which they were created 
and the amounts released unused. 

1 Sch 60 
The amount of any provision for deferred 
taxation shall be stated separately from any 
provision for other taxation. 
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20. Provisions for liabilities 
Group  Provision National   

  for Insurance   
  maintenance on share Deferred  
  warranties options tax Total 
  £000 £000 £000 £000 

      
At 1 January 2013  60 4 2,021 2,085 
Exchange adjustment  – – 42 42 
Acquisition of subsidiary 
undertaking  400 – 1,021 1,421 
Disposal of subsidiary undertaking  – – (134) (134) 
Additions during the year  200 4 (706) (502) 
Amounts charged against the 

provision  (219) – – (219) 
      

At 31 December 2013  441 8 2,244 2,693 
      

 
Parent company National   

 Insurance   
 on share Deferred  
 options tax Total 
 £000 £000 £000 

    
At 1 January 2013 4 965 969 
Arising during the year 4 (184) (180) 

    

At 31 December 2013 8 781 789 
        

 

Maintenance warranties 
A provision is recognised for expected warranty claims on products sold during the last 2 years. It is 
expected that most of these costs will be incurred in the next financial year and all will have been 
incurred within two years of the balance sheet date. 

National Insurance contributions on share options 
Provision has been made for National Insurance contributions on share options awarded under 
unapproved share option schemes, which are expected to be exercised. The provision has been 
calculated based on the difference between the year end share price of £4.43 and the weighted 
average exercise price of outstanding shares of £3.33 and is being allocated over the period from 
the date of award to the date the employee will become unconditionally entitled to the options. 
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Allotted and issued share capital 
1 Sch 47(1) 
In respect of the company’s share capital 
disclose: 

 the number and aggregate nominal 
value of each class of shares allotted; 
and 

 where shares are held as treasury 
shares, the number and aggregate 
nominal value of the treasury shares 
and, where shares of more than one 
class have been allotted, the number and 
aggregate nominal value of the shares of 
each class held as treasury shares. 

s724 

Treasury shares are shares purchased under 
Part 18 of the Companies Act out of 
distributable profits which are “qualifying 
shares” (included in the official list, traded on 
AIM, officially listed in an EEA state or traded 
on a regulated market). 
1 Sch formats, note 12 
The amount of allotted share capital and the 
amount of called up share capital which has 
been paid up should be shown separately. 

1 Sch 48 
For all shares allotted during the year give, 
class by class, the classes of shares, the 
number allotted, the aggregate nominal value 
and the consideration received. 

1 Sch 49 
For any contingent right to the allotment of 
shares in the company disclose: 

 the number, description and amount of 
the shares in relation to which the right 
is exercisable; 

 the period during which it is exercisable; 
and 

 the price to be paid for the shares 
allotted. 

The ‘contingent right to the allotment of 
shares’ means any option to subscribe for 
shares and any other right to require the 
allotment of shares to any person whether 
arising on the conversion into shares or 
securities of any other description or 
otherwise. 

 
 

4 Sch 3 
Give the number, description and amount of 
shares in, or debentures of, the company 
held or owned beneficially by its subsidiary 
undertakings or their nominees. 

1 Sch 47(2) 
For redeemable shares disclose: 

 the earliest and latest dates on which 
the company has power to redeem 
those shares; 

 whether those shares must be redeemed 
in any event or are liable to be 
redeemed at the option of the company 
or of the shareholder; and 

 whether any (and, if so, what) premium 
is payable on redemption. 

FRS 102.4.12 

An entity with share capital shall disclose the 
following, either in the statement of financial 
position or in the notes: 
(a) for each class of share capital: 
 (ii) the number of shares issued and fully 
paid, and issued but not fully paid. 

(iii) par value per share, or that the shares 
have no par value. 
(iv) a reconciliation of the number of shares 
outstanding at the beginning and at the end 
of the period. 
(v) the rights, preferences and restrictions 
attaching to that class including restrictions 
on the distribution of dividends and the 
repayment of capital. 

(vi) shares in the entity held by the entity or 
by its subsidiaries, associates, or joint 
ventures. 
(vii) shares reserved for issue under options 
and contracts for the sale of shares, 
including the terms and amounts. 
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21. Allotted and issued share capital 
Group and Parent company     
Allotted, called-up and fully paid     

   2013 2012 
   £000 £000 

     
Ordinary shares of £1 each   12,075 10,000 
7% convertible cumulative redeemable 
preference shares of £1 each (classified as a 
liability)   2,500 2,500 

     

   14,575 12,500 
          

   2013 2012 
   £000 £000 

Ordinary shares of £1 each     
At 1 January    10,000 10,000 
Issued on exercise of share options   75 - 
Issued on acquisition of subsidiary   2,500 - 
Purchase of shares    (500) - 

     

At 31 December    12,075 10,000 

On 15 January 2013, 75,000 ordinary shares with aggregate nominal value of £75,000, were 
allotted for cash at £2.33 each on the exercise of share options. 

On 1 May 2013, 2,500,000 ordinary shares with aggregate nominal value of £2,500,000, were 
issued at £3.50 each in exchange for the issued share capital of Extinguishers Limited (note 13).   

On 8 June 2013, 500,000 ordinary shares with an aggregate nominal value of £500,000 were 
purchased by the company, and subsequently cancelled. The shareholders approved a resolution at 
the AGM to purchase these shares. The ordinary shares were acquired for a consideration of 
£1,800,000, at an average price of £3.40 per share. The consideration includes stamp duty and 
commission of £100,000. The ordinary shares acquired represented 4% of the called-up ordinary 
share capital immediately prior to the acquisition. These shares were acquired in order to buy back 
the shares of a minority shareholder in the company. 

The 7% convertible cumulative redeemable preference shares, which were issued at par on 
1 January 2004, are convertible at the option of the company or the shareholder into ordinary 
shares on 1 March 2015 on the basis of one ordinary share for every three preference shares. They 
are redeemable at the option of the shareholder on 1 March 2016 at £1.20 per share. Any 
preference shares not converted are redeemable at £1.20 per share on 31 December 2017. 

The preference shares carry a dividend of 7% per annum, payable half-yearly in arrears on 30 June 
and 31 December. The dividend rights are cumulative. 

The preference shares carry no votes at meetings unless the dividend thereon is six months or more 
in arrears or the company fails to redeem the shares on the redemption date or the business of the 
meeting includes a resolution for the winding up of the company or reducing its share capital, in 
which event each holder will be entitled to one vote on a show of hands or one vote per share on  
a poll. 

On a winding up of the company the preference shareholders have a right to receive, in preference 
to payments to ordinary shareholders, £1 per share plus any accrued dividend. 
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Dividends and other appropriations 
1 Sch 43(b)-(c) 
Disclose: 

 the aggregate amount of dividends paid 
in the financial year (other than those 
for which a liability existed at the 
immediately preceding balance sheet 
date); and 

 the aggregate amount of dividends that 
the company is liable to pay at the 
balance sheet date. 

 

1 Sch 43(d), FRS 21(13) 
Dividends declared (ie appropriately 
authorised and no longer at the discretion of 
the entity) after the balance sheet date but 
before the financial statements are 
authorised for issue are not a liability at the 
balance sheet date but are disclosed in the 
notes to the financial statements. 

1 Sch 62 
Disclose the amount and period for which 
each class of fixed cumulative dividend is 
in arrears. 

s837(4) 
See the comments on results and dividends in 
the directors’ report (page 6) if the audit 
report is qualified. 

Author’s note 
The presentation illustrated assumes that the 
company’s articles require a final dividend to 
be approved by the shareholders in general 
meeting. The determination of the point at 
which an equity dividend becomes a legal 
liability is discussed in TECH 02/10. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Good Practice Group Limited 

Notes to the financial statements 
at 31 December 2013 

 147 

22. Dividends and other appropriations 
 2013 2012 
 £000 £000 

Declared and paid during the year   
   
Equity dividends on ordinary shares:   
Final dividend for 2011: 5.55p - 537 
Interim for 2012: 6.55p - 633 
Final for 2012: 6.55p 633 - 
Interim for 2013: 6.56p 798 - 

   

 1,431 1,170 
      

Proposed for approval by shareholders at the AGM: 
Final dividend for 2013: 8.79p (2012: 6.55p) 1,061 633 

      
   
Subject to approval by shareholders at the AGM the proposed dividend will be paid on  
10 April 2014 and will be accounted for as an appropriation of retained earnings in the year  
ended 31 December 2014. 

The dividends paid on the preference shares of £175,000 (2012: £175,000) are included within 
interest payable and similar charges. 
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Reserves 
FRS 102.4.12 

An entity with share capital shall disclose the 
following, either in the statement of financial 
position or in the notes: 

(b) a description of each reserve within 
equity. 

6 Sch 14 
Disclose the cumulative amount of goodwill 
written off in relation to acquisitions in 
previous years to reserves, net of goodwill 
relating to disposals prior to the balance 
sheet date. 

6 Sch 16 
The information required by 6 Sch 14 may be 
omitted in respect of a subsidiary undertaking 
incorporated, or carrying on business, outside 
the UK if, in the opinion of the directors, 
disclosure would be seriously prejudicial and 
the Secretary of State agrees. 

s844(3) 
State the special circumstances justifying any 
directors’ decision not to treat capitalised 
development costs as a realised loss. 

Author’s note 

Revaluation gains on investment properties 
are not realised profits under Company law. 
Therefore Good Practice Group Limited has 
maintained the non-distributable reserve to 
facilitate this. 
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23. Reserves 
Share premium account 

This reserve records the amount above the nominal value received for shares sold, less transaction 
costs. 

Capital redemption reserve 

This reserve records the nominal value of shares repurchased by the company. 

Equity component of convertible preference shares 
This balance represents the equity component of the instrument, net of deferred tax provided in 
relation to the separation of the instrument between its debt and equity components. 

Non-distributable reserve 
This reserve is used to record increases in the fair value of land and buildings and decreases to the 
extent that such decrease relates to an increase on the same asset. 
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Share premium account 
s610(2)-(3) 
From 1 October 2011 there are restrictions 
on the use of the share premium account. 
When, on issuing shares, a company has 
transferred a sum to the share premium 
account it may use that sum only: 

 to write-off the expenses of the issue of 
those shares;  

 to write off any commissions paid on the 
issue of those shares; or 

 to pay up new shares to be allotted to 
members as fully paid bonus shares. 

Revaluation reserve 
1 Sch 35(1) 
The surplus or deficit arising on the valuation 
of an asset of a company must be credited or 
debited to the revaluation reserve. 

The amount of depreciation provided on book 
value which represents valuation surpluses 
may be transferred, as a reserve movement, 
to retained profits. In Good Practice Group 
Limited no such transfer has been made since 
the properties that have been valued are 
investment properties and are not subject to 
depreciation. Transfers would be made in 
subsequent accounting periods in accordance 
with the stated accounting policy. 

1 Sch 35(3)-(4) 

Amounts may only be transferred from the 
revaluation reserve to the profit and loss 
account if either: 

 the reserves amount in question was 
previously charged to that account; or it 
represents realised profit; or 

 on capitalisation (meaning applying it in 
wholly or partly paying up unissued 
shares in the company to be allotted as 
fully or partly paid shares); or 

 to or from the revaluation reserve in 
respect of the taxation relating to any 
profit or loss credited or debited to the 
reserve. 

The revaluation reserve must be reduced to 
the extent that the amounts transferred to it 
are no longer necessary for the purpose of 
the valuation method used. 

1 Sch 35(6) 

Disclose the tax treatment of amounts 
credited or debited to the revaluation reserve. 

 
 

Non-distributable reserve 
FRS 102.A4.28 

Entities measuring financial instruments, 
investment properties and living animals and 
plants at fair value should note that they may 
transfer such amounts to a separate non-
distributable reserve, instead of a transfer to 
retained earnings, but are not required to do 
so. Presenting fair value movements that are 
not distributable profits, in the separate 
reserve may assist with the identification of 
profits. 

Capital redemption reserve 
s733(2) 
Where shares of a company are redeemed or 
purchased wholly out of the company’s 
profits, the amount by which the company’s 
issue share capital diminished in accordance 
with s688(b) on the cancellation of the 
shares redeemed, or s706(b)(ii) on the 
cancellation of shares purchased shall be 
transferred to a reserve, called ‘the capital 
redemption reserve’. 

 
Author’s note 
Good Practice Group Limited has applied 
s612 merger relief in respect of the shares 
issued for the acquisition of Extinguishers 
Limited and therefore the excess of the issue 
price of the shares over their nominal value 
has been taken to a separate non-
distributable reserve rather than to the share 
premium account. 

Any issue costs on transactions where 
merger relief has been applied are required 
to be debited to the profit and loss reserve. 
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23. Reserves (continued) 
The Good Practice Group Employee Share Trust holds 335,000 (2012 – 335,000) shares in Good 
Practice Group Limited with a nominal value of £1 each £335,000 (2012 – £335,000). These 
shares were acquired in December 2009 at a cost of £2.31 each, £774,000 (2012 – £774,000), 
The Trust is funded by Good Practice Group Limited to meet their obligations under the share 
option schemes and all the shares held by the Trust are solely for this purpose. The shares held by 
the Trust are distributed to employees in accordance with Good Practice Group Limited’s wishes. All 
expenses incurred by the Trust are settled directly by Good Practice Group Limited and charged in 
the financial statements as incurred. Good Employee Share Trust has waived the dividends payable 
on the 335,000 (2012 – 335,000) shares that it owns. 

The merger reserve is a non-distributable reserve created by the exercise of s612 merger relief for 
the amount in excess of the nominal value of the 2,500,000 ordinary shares issued in connection 
with the acquisition of Extinguishers Limited. 
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Notes to the statement of cash flows 
FRS 102.7.7 

An entity shall present cash flows from 
operating activities using either: 

 the indirect method, whereby profit 
or loss is adjusted for the effects of 
non-cash transactions, any deferrals 
or accruals of past or future 
operating cash receipts or payments, 
and items of income or expense 
associated with investing or 
financing cash flows; or 

 the direct method, whereby major 
classes of gross cash receipts and 
gross cash payments are disclosed. 

FRS 102.7.8 

Under the indirect method, the net cash flow 
from operating activities is determined by 
adjusting profit or loss for the effects of: 

 changes during the period in 
inventories and operating receivables 
and payables; 

 non-cash items such as depreciation, 
provisions, deferred tax, accrued 
income (expenses) not yet received 
(paid) in cash, unrealised foreign 
currency gains and losses, 
undistributed profits of associates, 
and non-controlling interests; and 

 all other items for which the cash 
effects relate to investing or 
financing. 

FRS 102.7.2 

Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to 

known amounts of cash and that are subject 
to an insignificant risk of changes in value.  

FRS 102.7.4 

Operating activities are the principal revenue-
producing activities of the entity. Therefore, 
cash flows from operating activities generally 
result from the transactions and other events 
and conditions that enter into determination 
of profit or loss. Examples of cash flows from 
operating activities are; 
(a) cash receipts from the sale of goods or 
rendering of services; 
(b) cash receipts from royalties, fees, 
commissions and other revenue; 
(c) cash payments to suppliers for goods and 
services; 
(d) cash payments to and on behalf of 
employees; 
(e) cash payments or refunds of income tax, 
unless they can be specifically identified with 
financing and investing activities; 
(f) cash receipts and payments from 
investments, loans and other contracts held 
for dealing or trading purposes, which are 
similar to inventory acquired specifically for 
resale; and  
(g) cash advances and loans made to other 
parties by financial institutions. 
Some transactions, such as the sale of an 
item of plant by a manufacturing entity may 
give rise to a gain or loss that is included in 
profit of loss. However, the cash flows 
relating to such transactions are cash flows 
from investing activities. 
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24. Notes to the statement of cash flows 
(a) Reconciliation of profit to net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities 

 2013 2012 
 £000 £000 

   
Group profit for the year 8,694 7,547 
Adjustments to reconcile profit for the year to net cash flow from 

operating activities   
Loss on revaluation of investment properties 350 474 
Depreciation and impairment of tangible fixed assets 5,590 2,610 
Amortisation of development expenditure 125 40 
Amortisation of patents 50 10 
Amortisation of goodwill 160 25 
Share-based payment 412 492 
Difference between pension charge and cash contributions (46) (196) 
Increase in provision for maintenance warranties 200 50 
Increase in provision for National Insurance contributions   
on share options  4 4 
Provision for maintenance warranties utilised (219) (25) 
Deferred government grants released (1,012) (530) 
Share of operating profit in joint venture (2,435) (1,007) 
Share of operating profit in associate (545) (325) 
(Profit)/loss on disposal of tangible fixed assets (1,250) 850 
Loss on disposal of fixed asset investments 350 - 
Loss on sale of discontinued operations 2,037 - 
Net finance costs 167 820 
Amortisation of goodwill arising on acquisition of associate 70 70 
Working capital movements   
Increase in debtors (4,475) (2,694) 
Increase in stocks (4,332) (2,529) 
Decrease in creditors (1,917) (389) 
Taxation    
Corporation tax paid (including advance corporation tax)  (2,379) (1,218) 
Overseas tax paid  (458) (115) 

    

  (9,553) (3,583) 
    
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities  (859) 3,964 

    
(b) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise the following;  

  Group 
 Parent 

company 
 At At At At  
 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 
 2013 2012 2013 2012 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 

    
Cash at bank and in hand 5,441 9,291 2,230 6,554 
Short-term deposits 1,483 2,039 - - 
 6,924 11,330 2,230 6,554 
Bank overdrafts (760) (3,770) - - 

     

Cash and cash equivalents 6,164 7,560 2,230 6,554 
           

(c)  Major non-cash transactions 
See note 13 for detail of the acquisition of Extinguishers Limited and the disposal of Hose Limited. 
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Pensions and other post-retirement 
benefits 
FRS 102.28.38 
Where an entity participates in a defined 
benefit plan that shares risks between 
entities under common control it shall obtain 
information about the plan as a whole 
measured in accordance with this FRS on the 
basis of assumptions that apply to the plan 
as a whole. If there is a contractual 
agreement or stated policy for charging the 
defined benefit cost of a defined benefit plan 
as a whole measured in accordance with this 
FRS to individual group entities, the entity 
shall, in its individual financial statements, 
recognise the net defined benefit cost of a 
defined benefit plan so charged. If there is no 
such agreement or policy, the net defined 
benefit cost of a defined benefit plan shall be 
recognised in the individual financial 
statements of the group entity which is 
legally responsible for the plan. The other 
group entities shall, in their individual 
financial statements, recognise a cost equal 
to their contribution payable for the period. 
Accounting Council’s advice to the FRC – 
paragraph 76 

Consistently with IAS 19 (revised 2011) 
paragraph 28.38 of FRS 102 requires 
entities participating in a group defined 
benefit pension plan to recognise the net 
defined benefit cost in their individual 
financial statements where a relevant 
agreement or policy exists. The Accounting 
Council noted that although this paragraph 
only refers explicitly to the cost of the 
pension plan, the net defined benefit cost is 
calculated by reference to both the defined 
benefit obligation and the fair value of plan 
assets. Therefore paragraph 28.38 does 
require the recognition of the relevant net 
defined benefit liability in the individual 
financial statements of any group entities 
recognising a net defined benefit cost. 

FRS 102.28.41 
An entity shall disclose the following 
information about defined benefit plans 
(except for any defined multi-employer 
benefit plans that are accounted for as a 
defined contribution plan). If an entity has 
more than one defined benefit plan, these 
disclosures may be made in total, separately 
for each plan, or in groupings as are 
considered to be the most useful: 

 A general description of the type of plan, 
including funding policy. 

 The date of the most recent 
comprehensive actuarial valuation and, if 
it was not as of the reporting date, a 
description of the adjustments that were 
made to measure the defined benefit 
obligation at the reporting date. 

 A reconciliation of opening and closing 
balances for each of the following: 
o The defined benefit obligation; 
o The fair value of plan assets; and 
o Any reimbursement right recognised 

as an asset. 
 Each of the above reconciliations shall 

show each of the following, if applicable: 
o The change in the defined benefit 

liability arising from employee service 
rendered during the reporting period 
in profit or loss; 

o Interest income or expense; 
o Remeasurement of the defined benefit 

liability, showing separately actuarial 
gains and losses and the return on 
plan assets less amounts included in 
interest income/expense; 

o Plan introductions, changes, 
curtailments and settlements. 

 The total cost relating to defined benefit 
plans for the period, disclosing separately 
the amounts  
o Recognised in profit or loss as an 

expense; and 
o Included in the cost of an asset 

 For each major class of plan assets, which 
shall include, but is not limited to, equity 
instruments, debt instruments, property 
and all other assets, the percentage or 
amount that each major class constitutes 
of the fair value of the total plan assets at 
the reporting date. 

 The amounts included in the fair value of 
plan assets for: 
o Each class of the entity’s own financial 

instruments; and 
o Any property occupied by or other 

assets used by the entity. 
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25. Pensions and other post-retirement benefits 
The Group operates two final salary defined benefit pension schemes; one is operated by the 
Company in the United Kingdom, the Good Practice Group Employee Pension Scheme, and one by 
the Group for staff in the United States, the Good Practice Group Employee Pension Plan. Both 
schemes are funded by the payment of contributions to separately administered trust funds. 

Good Practice Group Limited is the sponsoring employer of the United Kingdom defined benefit 
pension scheme and has legal responsibility for the plan. There is no contractual arrangement or 
stated policy for charging the net defined benefit cost of the plan as a whole to individual group 
entities and therefore the company has recognised the entire net defined benefit cost and the 
relevant net defined benefit liability of the United Kingdom scheme in its individual financial 
statements. 

The Group also provides certain additional post-retirement healthcare benefits to senior employees 
in the United States. These benefits are unfunded. 

The valuation used has been based on the most recent actuarial valuation at 31 December 2011 
and was updated by Actuary and Co. to take account of the requirements of FRS 102 in order to 
assess the liabilities of the schemes at 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012. Scheme assets 
are stated at their market values at the respective balance sheet dates and overall expected rates of 
return are established by applying published brokers’ forecasts to each category of scheme assets. 

The assets and liabilities of the schemes at 31 December are: 

 
Year ended 31 December 2013     
 UK Pensions US Pensions US Medical Total 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Scheme assets at fair value     
Equities 2,167 209 – 2,376 
Bonds 594 494 – 1,088 
Properties 208 247 – 455 

     
Fair value of scheme assets 2,969 950 – 3,919 
Present value of scheme liabilities (3,767) (1,066) (117) (4,950) 

     

 (798) (116) (117) (1,031) 
          

Year ended 31 December 2012     
 UK Pensions US Pensions US Medical Total 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Scheme assets at fair value     
Equities 1,355 121 – 1,476 
Bonds 226 299 – 525 
Properties 156 216 – 372 

     

Fair value of scheme assets 1,737 636 - 2,373 
Present value of scheme liabilities (3,017) (984) (95) (4,096) 

     

 (1,280) (348) (95) (1,723) 
          

The pension plans have not invested in any of the Group’s own financial instruments nor in 
properties or other assets used by the Group. 
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Pensions and other post-retirement 
benefits (continued) 
FRS 102.28.41 (continued) 
 The return on plan assets. 
 The principal actuarial assumptions used, 

including, when applicable; 
o The discount rates; 
o The expected rates of salary 

increases; 
o Medical cost trend rates; and 
o Any other material actuarial 

assumptions used. 
The reconciliations above need not be 
presented for prior periods. 
FRS 102.28.41A 
If an entity participates in a defined benefit 
plan that shares risks between entities under 
common control it shall disclose the following 
information: 
 The contractual agreement or stated 

policy for charging the cost of a defined 
benefit plan or the fact that there is no 
policy. 

FRS 102.28.41A (continued) 
 The policy for determining the 

contribution to be paid by the entity. 
 If the entity accounts for an allocation of 

the net defined benefit cost, all the 
information required in paragraph 28.41 

 If the entity accounts for the contributions 
payable for the period, the information 
about the plan as a whole required by 
paragraph 28.41(a), (d), (h) and (i). 

This information can be disclosed by cross-
reference to disclosures in another group 
entity’s financial statements if: 
 That group entity’s financial statements 

separately identify and disclose 
information required about the plan; and 

 That group entity’s financial statements 
are available to users of the financial 
statements on the same terms as the 
financial statements of the entity and at 
the same time as, or earlier than, the 
financial statements of the entity. 

FRS 102.28.40 
An entity shall disclose the amount 
recognised in profit and loss as an expense 
for defined contribution plans. 
 
 

Author’s note 
Good Practice Group Limited has disclosed 
the expense for defined contribution plans in 
the staff costs note. 
FRS 102.28.40A 
If an entity treats a defined benefit multi-
employer plan as a defined contribution plan 
because sufficient information is not 
available to use defined benefit accounting it 
shall: 

 Disclose the fact that it is a defined 
benefit plan and the reason why it is 
being accounted for as a defined 
contribution plan, along with any 
available information about the 
plan’s surplus or deficit and the 
implications, if any, for the entity; 

 Include a description of the extent to 
which the entity can be liable to the 
plan for other entities obligations 
under the terms and conditions of 
the multi-employer plan; 

 Disclose how any liability recognised 
in accordance with the standard has 
been determined 

1 Sch 63(4) 
Disclose any pension commitment provided 
or not provided for. Where such commitment 
relates wholly or partly to pensions payable 
to past directors separate particulars must be 
given of that commitment. 

1 Sch 73 
Separate disclosure should be made in 
respect of any commitments undertaken on 
behalf of or for the benefit of: (i) any parent 
or fellow subsidiary undertaking; (ii) any 
subsidiary undertaking; and (iii) any other 
person. 
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25. Pensions and other post-retirement benefits (continued) 
 

The amounts recognised in the Group Profit and Loss account and in the Group Statement of Total 
Recognised Gains and Losses for the year are analysed as follows: 

 
Year ended 31 December 2013 UK Pensions US Pensions US Medical Total 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Recognised in the Profit and  Loss account    
Current service cost (715) (430) (28) (1,173) 

     

Recognised in arriving at operating profit (715) (430) (28) (1,173) 
     
     

Net interest on net defined benefit 
liability (14) (36) (5) (55) 

     

Total recognised in the profit and loss 
account (29) (466) (33) (1,228) 

          

 
 UK Pensions US Pensions US Medical Total 
Taken to other comprehensive income £000 £000 £000 £000 
Actual return  on scheme assets 823 288 – 1,111 
Less: amounts included in net interest on 

the net defined benefit liability 
(105) 

 
(45) 

 
– 
 

(150) 
 

     
 718 243 – 961 

     
Other actuarial gains and losses (485) 130 11 (344) 

     
Remeasurement gains and losses 
recognised in other comprehensive 
income 233 373 11 617 

          

 
Year ended 31 December 2012 UK Pensions US Pensions US Medical Total 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Recognised in the Profit and Loss account     
Current service cost (751) (322) (5) (1,078) 

     
Recognised in arriving at operating profit (751) (322) (5) (1,078) 

     
     
     

Net interest on net defined benefit liability (27) (76) (6) (109) 
     

Total recognised in the profit and loss 
account (778) (398) (11) (1,187) 
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25. Pensions and other post-retirement benefits (continued) 
     
 UK Pensions US Pensions US Medical Total 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Taken to other comprehensive income     
Actual return on scheme assets (464) (214) – (678) 
Less: amounts included in net interest on 

the net defined benefit liability 100 3 – 103 
     

 (564) (217) – (781) 
Other actuarial gain and losses (156) 377 (4) 217 

     

Remeasurement gains and losses 
recognised in other comprehensive income (720) 160 (4) (564) 

          

     
Pensions United Kingdom United States 
 2013 2012 2013 2012 
 % % % % 
Main assumptions:     
Rate of salary increases 3.5 4.0 3.8 4.1 
Rate of increase in pensions in payment 2.1 2.1 2.2 2.3 
Discount rate 4.9 5.5 5.7 5.9 
Inflation assumption 2.6 2.7 2.4 2.6 
Post-retirement mortality     
 Current pensioners at 65 – male 19.0 19.0 17.7 17.7 
 Current pensioners at 65 – female 21.0 21.0 20.3 20.3 
 Future pensioners at 65 – male 22.0 22.0 20.0 20.0 
 Future pensioners at 65 – female 25.0 25.0 22.0 22.0 
Claim rates for medical plans n/a n/a 35.0 34.0 
Rate of increase in healthcare costs n/a n/a 7.2 7.3 

          

The post-mortality mortality assumptions allow for expected increases in longevity. The “current” 
disclosures above relate to assumptions based on longevity (in years) following retirement at the 
balance sheet date, with “future” being that relating to an employee retiring in 2040. 

 



Illustrative financial statements 

160 

 



Good Practice Group Limited 

Notes to the financial statements 
at 31 December 2013 

 161 

25. Pensions and other post-retirement benefits (continued) 
Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligations are analysed as follows: 

 UK Pensions US Pensions US Medical Total 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 

     

At 1 January 2012 2,591 1,202 80 3,873 
Current service cost 644 322 5 971 
Past service cost 100 - - 100 
Interest cost 127 79 6 212 
Benefits paid (601) (242) - (843) 
Actuarial gains and losses 156 (409) - (253) 
Foreign currency differences - 32 4 36 
As at 31 December 2012  3,017 984 95 4,096 
Current service cost 715 430 28 1,173 
Interest cost 119 81 5 205 
Benefits paid  (569) (299) – (868) 
Actuarial gains and losses 485 (39) – 446 
Foreign currency differences – (91) (11) (102) 

     

As at 31 December 2013 3,767 1,066 117 4,950 
          

The defined benefit deficit comprises £117,000 (2012 – £95,000) arising from unfunded plans and 
£515,000 (2012 – £1,145,000) from plans that are wholly or partly funded. 

Changes in the fair value of plan assets are analysed as follows: 

    
 UK Pensions US Pensions Total 
 £000 £000 £000 

     

At 1 January 2012 1,852 768 2,620 
Remeasurement gain 
Actual return on plan assets (569) 

 
(265) 

 
(834) 

Interest income 105 45 150 
Employer contributions 950 324 1,274 
Benefits paid (601) (242) (843) 
Foreign currency differences - 6 6 
As at 31 December 2012  1,737 636 2,373 
Remeasurement gain    
        Actual return on plan assets 718 249 967 
Interest income 105 45 150 
Employer contributions 978 325 1,303 
Benefits paid (569) (299) (868) 
Foreign currency differences – (6) (6) 

     
As at 31 December 2013 2,969 950 3,919 
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Share-based payments 
FRS 102.26.18 
An entity shall disclose the following 
information about the nature and extent of 
share-based payment arrangements that 
existed during the period: 

 a description of each type of share-
based payment arrangement that 
existed at any time during the 
period, including the general terms 
and conditions of each arrangement, 
such as vesting requirements, the 
maximum term of options granted, 
and the method of settlement (eg 
whether in cash or equity). An entity 
with substantially similar types of 
share based payment arrangements 
may aggregate this information.  

 The number and weighted average 
exercise prices of share options for 
each of the following groups of 
options: 

o Outstanding at the 
beginning of the period; 

o Granted during the period; 
o Forfeited during the period; 
o Exercised during the period; 
o Expired during the period; 
o Outstanding at the end of 

the period; and 
o Exercisable at the end of the 

period. 
FRS 102.26.20 
For cash-settled share-based payment 
arrangements, an entity shall disclose 
information about how the liability was 
measured. 
FRS 102.26.21 
For share-based payment arrangements that 
were modified during the period, an entity 
shall disclose an explanation of those 
modifications. 
FRS 102.26.22 
If the entity is part of a group share based 
payment plan, and it recognises and 
measures its share-based payment expense 
on the basis of a reasonable allocation of the 
expense recognised for the group, it shall 
disclose that fact and the basis for the 
allocation. 

FRS 102.26.23 
An entity shall disclose the following 
information about the effect of share-based 
payment transactions on the entity’s profit 
or loss for the period and on its financial 
position: 

 The total expense recognised in 
profit or loss for the period. 

 The total carrying amount at the end 
of the period for liabilities arising 
from share-based payment 
transactions. 

FRS 102.26.19 
For equity settled share-based payment 
arrangements, an entity shall disclose 
information about how it measured the fair 
value of goods or services received or the 
value of the equity instruments granted. If a 
valuation methodology was used, the entity 
shall disclose the method and its reason for 
choosing it. 
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26. Share-based payments 
 
Senior Executive Plan 
Share options are granted to senior executives with more than 12 months’ service. The exercise 
price of the options is equal to the estimated market price of the shares on the date of grant which 
is derived from market prices of similar quoted companies. The options vest if and when the Group’s 
earnings per share amount increases by 12%. A failure to meet this target increase within three 
years from the date of grant causes the options to lapse. The contractual life of each option granted 
is five years. There are no cash settlement alternatives. 

All Employee Share-option Plan 
All other employees are entitled to a grant of options once they have been in service for two years. 
The options will vest if the employee remains in service for a period of three years from the date of 
grant, the volume of sales of a particular product increases by an average of 6% per year during the 
three-year service period and the estimated market price of the shares attains an average increase 
of 5% per year during the three-year period from the date of grant. The exercise price of the options 
is equal to the estimated market price of the shares less 17% on the date of grant. The contractual 
life of the options is five years and there are no cash settlement alternatives. 

Share-based payment plan for employees working in the business development group 
Employees in the Electronics segment are granted share options, which are settleable only in cash. 
These will vest when a specified target number of new sales contracts are closed. The contractual 
life of the options is six years. 

Group 
The expense recognised for share-based payments in respect of employee services received during 
the year to 31 December 2013 is £412,000 (2012 – £492,000). The portion of that expense 
arising from equity-settled share-based payment transactions is £307,000 (2010 –£398,000). 

The following table illustrates the number and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of, and 
movements in, share options during the year. 

 2013 2013 2012 2012 
 No. WAEP No. WAEP 

     
Outstanding as at 1 January 575,000 £2.96 525,000 £2.75 
Granted during the year 250,000 £3.85 155,000 £3.13 
Forfeited during the year – – (25,000) £2.33 
Exercised (75,000)  £2.332 (65,000) £3.071 
Expired during the year (25,000) £3.46 (15,000) £2.13 

     
Outstanding at 31 December1 725,000 £3.33 575,000 £2.96 

          
     

Exercisable at 31 December 88,000 £2.33 75,000 £2.33 
     
1 The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for the options exercised is 

£4.09. 
2 The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for the options exercised is 

£3.13. 
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26. Share-based payments (continued) 
The weighted average fair value of options granted during the year was £1.32 (2012 – £1.18). The 
range of exercise prices for options outstanding at the end of the year was £2.33 - £3.85 (2012 –  
£2.13 - £3.13). 

Parent company 
The expense recognised for share-based payments in respect of employee services received during 
the year to 31 December 2013 is £342,000 (2012 - £492,000). The portion of that expense 
arising from equity-settled share-based payment transactions is £237,000 (2012 - £398,000). 

The following table illustrates the number and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of, and 
movements in, share options during the year. 

 2013 2013 2012 2012 
 No. WAEP No. WAEP 

Outstanding as at 1 January 575,000 £2.96 525,000 £2.75 
Granted during the year 192,000 £3.85 155,000 £3.13 
Forfeited during the year – – (25,000) £2.33 
Exercised (75,000)  £2.333 (65,000) £3.072 
Expired during the year (25,000) £3.46 (15,000) £2.13 

     
Outstanding at 31 December1 667,000 £3.27 575,000 £2.9 6 

          
     

Exercisable at 31 December 88,000 £2.33 75,000 £2.33 
2 The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for the options exercised is £4.09. 

3 The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for the options exercised is £3.13. 

The weighted average fair value of options granted during the year was £1.32 (2012 – £1.18). The 
range of exercise prices for options outstanding at the end of the year was £2.33 - £3.85 (2012 –  
£2.13 - £3.13). 

Group and Company 
The fair value of equity-settled share options granted is estimated as at the date of grant using a 
Monte-Carlo model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were 
granted.  
No other features of options grant were incorporated into the measurement of  
fair value. 

The fair value of the cash-settled options is measured at the grant date using the Black-Scholes 
option pricing model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the instruments were 
granted. The services received and a liability to pay for those services are recognised over the 
expected vesting period. Until the liability is settled it is remeasured at each reporting date with 
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. 

The carrying amount of the liability relating to the cash-settled options at 31 December 2013 is 
£299,000 (2012 – £194,000). No cash-settled options had vested at 31 December 2013 (2012 – 
Nil).  
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Capital commitments 
1 Sch 63(3) 
Give, as far as is practicable, details of the 
aggregate amount of contracted 
commitments for capital expenditure not 
provided for. 

1 Sch 73 
Separate disclosure should be made in 
respect of any commitments undertaken on 
behalf of or for the benefit of: 

 any parent or fellow subsidiary 
undertaking; 

 any subsidiary undertaking; and 
 any other person. 

FRS 102.17.32(b) 

The entity shall disclose the amount of 
contractual commitments for the acquisition 
of property, plant and equipment. 

Contingent liabilities 
1 Sch 63(2) 
All material contingent losses should be 
disclosed with an estimate of the financial 
effect, its legal nature and details of any 
security. FRS 12 states that unless the 
possibility of any transfer in settlement is 
remote, an indication of the uncertainties 
relating to the amount or timing of any 
outflow and the possibility of any 
reimbursement should be disclosed. If this is 
not practicable, that fact should be stated. 

FRS 102.21.15 

Unless the possibility of any outflow of 
resources in settlement is remote, an entity 
shall disclose, for each class of contingent 
liability at the reporting date, a brief 
description of the nature of the contingent 
liability and when practicable: 

 an estimate of its financial effect 

 an indication of the uncertainties 
relating to the amount or timing of 
any outflow; and 

 the possibility of any reimbursement 

If it is impracticable to make one or more of 
these disclosures, that fact shall be stated. 

Off-balance sheet arrangements 
s410A 
If the company is or has been party to 
arrangements that are not reflected in the 
balance sheet and the risks or benefits 
arising from these arrangements are 
material disclose: 

 the nature and purpose of the 
arrangements; and 

 the financial impact of the arrangements 
on the company (large companies only). 

The information need only be given to the 
extent necessary for enabling the financial 
position of the company to be assessed. 
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27. Capital commitments 
Amounts contracted for but not provided in the financial statements amounted to £4,500,000 for 
the group and £1,750,000 for the company (2012 – £4,250,000 and £950,000 respectively). 

28. Contingent liabilities 
An overseas customer has commenced an action against the company in respect of equipment 
claimed to be defective. It has been estimated that the liability should the action be successful is 
£850,000. A trial date has not yet been set and therefore it is not practicable to state the timing of 
any payment. 

The company has been advised by Counsel that it is possible, but not probable, the action will 
succeed and accordingly no provision for any liability has been made in these financial statements. 

29. Off-balance sheet arrangements 
The group and parent company enters into operating lease arrangements for the hire of buildings 
and plant and equipment as these arrangements are a cost efficient way of obtaining the short-term 
benefits of these assets. The group lease rental expense for the year is disclosed in Note 3 and the 
annual group and company commitments under these arrangements are disclosed in Note 19. 
There are no other material off-balance sheet arrangements. 
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Guarantees and other financial 
commitments 
1 Sch 63(5) 
Give details of any other financial 
commitments not provided for and which are 
relevant to assessing the company’s affairs. 

1 Sch 63(1) 
Give particulars (including amounts secured 
where practicable) of any charge on the 
assets of the company to secure the liabilities 
of any other person. 

1 Sch 73 
Separate disclosure should be made in 
respect of any commitments undertaken on 
behalf of or for the benefit of: (i) any parent 
or fellow subsidiary undertaking; (ii) any 
subsidiary undertaking; and (iii) any other 
person. 

FRS 102.21.17A 

An entity shall disclose the nature and 
business purpose of the financial guarantee 
contracts it has issued. 

Directors’ advances, credit and 
guarantees 
s413(1)-(2) 
Disclose details of: 

 for individual accounts, advances and 
credits granted by the company to its 
directors and guarantees entered into 
by the company to its directors; and 

 for group accounts, advances and 
credits granted to the directors of the 
parent company by the company or any 
of its subsidiaries and guarantees of any 
kind entered into by the parent company 
or any of its subsidiaries on behalf of the 
directors of the parent company 

s413(3) 
Details required to be disclosed for each 
advance or credit are: 

 the amount; 
 an indication of the interest rate; 
 the main conditions; and 

 any amounts repaid. 
The aggregate totals of the advances or 
credits and the aggregate amounts repaid 
must also be disclosed. 
s413(4) 
Details required to be disclosed for each 
guarantee are: 

 its main terms; 
 the amount of the maximum liability that 

may be incurred by the company (or its 
subsidiary);  

 any amount paid and any liability 
incurred by the company (or its 
subsidiary) for the purpose of fulfilling 
the guarantee (including any loss 
incurred by reason of enforcement of 
the guarantee); and 

 any amounts repaid. 
The aggregate totals of the maximum liability, 
amounts paid and liability incurred for the 
guarantees by the company must also be 
disclosed. 

s413(6)-(7) 
Disclosure is required in respect of 
transactions with any person who was a 
director of the company at any time during 
the period, irrespective of whether he was  
such a director at any time that the 
transaction or arrangement was made. 

s413(7) 
A subsidiary includes any company which was 
a subsidiary of the company at any time 
during the period, irrespective of whether or 
not it was a subsidiary at the time that the 
transaction or arrangement was made. 

Financial Instruments 
FRS 102.11.41 

An entity shall disclose the carrying amounts 
of each of the following categories of 
financial assets and financial liabilities at the 
reporting date, in total, either in the 
statement of financial position or in the 
notes: 

 financial assets measured at fair value 
through profit or loss; 

 financial assets that are debt instruments 
measured at amortised cost; 

 financial liabilities measured at fair value 
through profit or loss. Financial liabilities 
that are not held as part of a trading 
portfolio and are not derivatives shall be 
shown separately;  

 financial liabilities measured at 
amortised cost; and  

 loan commitments measured at cost less 
impairment. 
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30. Financial instruments 
 Group Parent company 
 2013 2012 2013 2012 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 

     
Financial assets at fair value through profit or 

loss 
Listed investments 560 - - - 

Financial assets that are equity instruments 
measured at cost less impairment 801 1,276 - - 

Financial assets that are debt instruments 
measured at amortised cost     

Loan notes 4,000 - 4,000 - 
Other debtors 15,599 11,527 11,018 11,327 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit 
or loss     

Interest rate swaps (35) - (35) - 
Forward foreign currency contracts (18) (101) (18) (101) 

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost     
Bank overdraft (760) (3,770) - - 
Loans (13,182) (8,900) (10,707) (8,900) 
Finance leases and hire purchase contracts (1,162) (1,532) (1,162) (1,532) 
Liability component of preference shares (2,890) (2,696) (2,890) (2,696) 
Trade creditors (12,766) (12,581) (4,195) (1,520) 

 

The group purchases interest rate swaps to manage interest rate risk volatility and forward foreign 
currency contracts to hedge currency exposure on firm future commitments. The fair values of the 
assets and liabilities held at fair value through profit and loss at the balance sheet date are 
determined using quoted prices. Where quoted prices are not available for derivatives the fair value 
of derivatives has been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows at prevailing 
interest rates. 

   

31. Directors’ advances, credit and guarantees 
At the Annual General Meeting held on 21 April 2013 approval was given for an interest-free loan 
for 12 months up to a maximum of £10,000 to be made as necessary to J Archer to enable him to 
meet expenditure to be incurred in his capacity as sales director at marketing exhibitions and tours 
in the United States. During the year £6,500 was advanced to him for this purpose by the company 
of which £4,068 has been repaid and at 31 December 2013 £2,432 was outstanding and is 
included in debtors. 
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Financial Instruments (continued) 
FRS 102.11.43 
For all financial assets and financial liabilities 
measured at fair value, the entity shall 
disclose the basis for determining fair 

1 Sch 36 

(1) Financial instruments (including 
derivatives) may be included at fair 
value, 

(2) this does not apply to financial 
instruments that constitute liabilities 
unless: 
a. they are held as part of a trading 

portfolio,  
b. they are derivatives, or 
c. they are financial instruments 

falling within sub-paragraph (4) 
(3) Unless they are financial instruments  

falling within sub-paragraph (4), sub-
paragraph (1) does not apply to: 
a. Financial instruments (other than 

derivatives) held to maturity, 
b. Loans and receivables originated 

by the company and not held for 
trading purposes, 

c. Interests in subsidiary 
undertakings, associated 
undertakings and joint ventures, 

d. Equity instruments issued by the 
company, 

e. Contracts for contingent 
consideration in a business 
combination, or 

f. Other financial instruments with 
such special characteristics that 
the instruments, according to 
generally accepted accounting 
principles or practice, should be 
accounted for differently from 
other financial instruments. 

(4) Financial instruments that, under 
international accounting standards 
adopted by the European Commission 
on or before 5 September 2006 in 
accordance with the IAS Regulation, 
may be included in accounts at fair 
value, may be so included, provided that 
the disclosures required by such 
accounting standards are made. 

1 Sch 55 

(1) This paragraph applies where financial 
instruments have been valued in 
accordance with paragraph 36 or 38. 

(2) There must be stated: 

a. The significant assumptions 
underlying the valuation models 
and techniques used where the fair 
value of the instruments has been 
determined in accordance with 
paragraph 37(4), 

b. For each category of financial 
instrument, the fair value of the 
instruments in that category and 
the changes in value; 
i. Included in the profit and loss 

account, or 
ii. Credited to or (as the case may 

be) debited from the fair value 
reserve 

In respect of those instruments, and 

iii. For each class of derivatives, 
the extent and nature of the 
instruments, including 
significant terms and conditions 
that may affect the amount, 
timing and certainty of future 
cash flows. 

Events after the reporting period  
FRS 102.32.10 
An entity shall disclose the following for each 
category of non-adjusting event after the end 
of the reporting period: 

 the nature of the event; and 

 an estimate of its financial effect, or 
a statement that such as estimate 
cannot be made. 

FRS 102.32.11 

The following are examples of non-adjusting 
events after the end of the reporting period 
that would generally result in disclosure. The 
disclosures will reflect information that 
becomes known after the end of the 
reporting period but before the financial 
statements are authorised for issue: 

 a major business combination or 
disposal of a major subsidiary; 

 announcement of a plan to 
discontinue an operation; 

 major purchases of assets, disposal 
or plans to dispose of assets, or 
expropriation of major assets by 
government; 

 the destruction of a major 
production plant by a fire; 
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32. Events after the reporting period 
On 14 January 2014, a short leasehold building with a net book value of £880,000 was severely 
damaged by fire. It is expected that insurance proceeds will fall short of the costs of rebuilding and 
loss of stocks by some £350,000. No provision has been made in these financial statements for this 
loss. 
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Events after the reporting period 
(continued) 
FRS 102.32.11 (continued) 

 announcement, or commencement 
of the implementation, of a major 
restructuring; 

 issues or repurchases of an entity’s 
debt or equity instruments; 

 abnormally large changes in asset 
prices or foreign exchange rates; 

 changes in tax rates or tax laws 
enacted or announced that have a 
significant effect on current and 
deferred tax assets and liabilities; 

 entering into significant 
commitments or contingent 
liabilities, for example, by issuing 
significant guarantees; and 

 commencement of major litigation 
arising solely out of events that 
occurred after the end of the 
reporting period. 

Related party transactions 
FRS 102.33.1A 
Disclosures need not be given of transactions 
entered into between two or more members 
of a group, provided that any subsidiary 
which is a party to the transaction is wholly 
owned by such a member.  
1 Sch 72(4) 
Particulars need not be given of transactions 
entered into between two or more members 
of a group, provided that any subsidiary 
undertaking which is party to the transaction 
is wholly owned by such a member. 
Accounting Council’s advice to the FRC, para 
93 
Some respondents raised the issue of a 
possible exemption from the disclosure of 
outstanding balances as well as transactions. 
However, the Accounting Council noted that 
there is a separate legal requirement, in 
relation to the format of the balance sheet 
which requires disclosure of outstanding 
balances in aggregate for group 
undertakings and, separately, for 
undertakings in which the company has a 
participating interest. As Section 33 
Related Party Disclosures requires disclosure 
in aggregate for a category of related 
parties, one of which is ‘entities over which 
the entity has control, joint control or 

significant influence’ this should be met by 
compliance with the requirements of Section 
4 Statement of Financial Position. As a result 
it is not possible to provide an effective 
exemption from the disclosure of 
outstanding balances with group 
undertakings. 
1 Sch 72(1) 
Particulars must be given of transactions 
which the company has entered into with 
related parties, and must be given if such 
transactions are material and have not been 
concluded under normal market conditions. 
1 Sch 72(2),  
Where material related party transactions 
have been undertaken by the reporting 
entity, the following should be disclosed, 
irrespective of whether a price was charged: 

 the names of the transacting related 
parties; 

 a description of the relationship between 
the parties; 

 a description of the transactions; 

 the amounts involved; 
 any other elements of the transactions 

necessary for an understanding of the 
financial statements; 

 the amounts due to or from related 
parties at the balance sheet date and 
provisions for doubtful debts due from 
such parties at that date; and 

 amounts written off in the period in 
respect of debts due to or from 
related parties. 

the reporting entity or is required by law. 
However, a material related party transaction 
with an individual may not be concealed in an 
aggregated disclosure. 

Author’s note 
Medium-sized companies and companies 
reporting under the small companies regime 
are exempt from the disclosures required by 
1 Sch 72. However, they are not exempt 
from the disclosure requirements of FRS 102 
Section 33 (or the FRSSE disclosures if 
applicable). 
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33. Related party transactions 
Group 

During the year the group entered into transactions, in the ordinary course of business, with other 
related parties. Transactions entered into, and trading balances outstanding at 31 December, are 
as follows: 

  Purchases Amounts Amounts 
 Sales to from owed from owed to 
 related related related related 
 party party party party 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Entities with significant influence over the 
group     
 2013 6,975 – 600 – 
 2012 6,410 – 500 – 
     
Entities over which the group has joint control 
or significant influence      
 2013 2,800 580 230 30 
 2012 2,300 430 145 12 
     
Entities controlled by a close family member 
of key management personnel      
 2013 – 510 10 – 
 2012 – 490 9 – 

          

Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties  

Sales and purchases between related parties are made at normal market prices. Outstanding 
balances with entities are unsecured, interest free and cash settlement is expected within 60 days 
of invoice. The Group has not provided or benefited from any guarantees for any related party 
receivables or payables. During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group has not made any 
provision for doubtful debts relating to amounts owed by related parties (2012: nil). 

Key management personnel 

All directors and certain senior employees who have authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the activities of the Group are considered to be key management 
personnel. Total remuneration is respect of these individuals is £550,000 (2012 - £525,000). 

Parent company 

During the year the company entered into transactions with related parties, in the ordinary course 
of business. Transactions entered into, and trading balances outstanding at 31 December, are as 
follows: Bright Sparks Limited,  95% subsidiary. 

  Purchases Amounts Amounts 
 Sales to from owed from owed to 

 
Bright 

Sparks 
Bright 

Sparks 
Bright 

Sparks 
Bright 

Sparks 
Related party £000 £000 £000 £000 
     
 2013 50 - 1,000 – 
 2012 60 - 900 - 
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Related party transactions 
(continued) 
1 Sch 72(3) 
Transactions may generally be disclosed on 
an aggregated basis unless disclosure of an 
individual transaction, or connected 
transactions, is necessary for an 
understanding of the impact of the 
transactions on the financial statements of 
FRS 102.33.5 
Relationships between a parent and its 
subsidiaries shall be disclosed irrespective of 
whether there have been any related party 
transactions. An entity shall disclose the 
name of its parent and, if different, the 
ultimate controlling party. If neither the 
entity’s parent nor the ultimate controlling 
party produces financial statements available 
for public use, the name of the next most 
senior parent that does so (if any) shall be 
disclosed. 
FRS 102.33.6 
Key management personnel are those 
persons having authority and responsibility 
for planning, directing and controlling the 
activities of the entity, directly or indirectly, 
including any director (whether executive or 
otherwise) of that entity. Compensation 
includes all employee benefits including 
those in the form of share based payments. 
Employee benefits include all forms of 
consideration paid, payable or provided by 
the entity, or on behalf of the entity, in 
exchange for services rendered to the entity. 
It also includes such consideration paid on 
behalf of a parent of the entity in respect of 
goods and services provided to the entity. 
FRS 102.33.7 
An entity shall disclose key management 
personnel compensation in total. 

FRS 102.33.8 
A related party transaction is a transfer of 
resources, services or obligations between a 
reporting entity and a related party, 
regardless of whether a price is charged.  
FRS 102.33.9 

If an entity has related party transactions, it 
shall disclose the nature of the related party 
relationship as well as information about the 
transactions, outstanding balances and 
commitments necessary for an 
understanding of the potential effect of the 
relationship on the financial statements. At a 
minimum, disclosures shall include: 

 The amount of the transactions. 

 The amount of the balances outstanding 
and: 

o Their terms and conditions, including 
whether they are secured, and the 
nature of the consideration to be 
provided in settlement; and 

o Details of any guarantees given or 
received. 

 Provisions for uncollectible receivables 
related to the amount of the outstanding 
balances. 

 The expense recognised during the period 
in respect of bad or doubtful debts due 
from related parties. 

Such transactions could include purchases, 
sales or transfers of goods and services, 
leases, guarantees and settlements by the 
entity on behalf of the related party or vice 
versa. 

FRS 102.33.10 
An entity shall make the disclosures required 
by paragraph 33.9 separately for each of the 
following categories: 

 Entities with control, joint control or 
significant influence over the entity; 

 Entities over which the entity has control, 
joint control or significant influence; 

 Key management personnel of the entity 
or its parent (in the aggregate); and 

 Other related parties 

FRS 102.33.13 

An entity shall not state that related party 
transactions were made on terms equivalent 
to those that prevail in arm’s length 
transactions unless such terms can be 
substantiated. 
FRS 102.33.14 
An entity may disclose items of a similar 
nature in the aggregate except when 
separate disclosure is necessary for an 
understanding of the effects of related party 
transactions on the financial statements of 
the entity. 
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Related party transactions 
(continued) 
4 Sch 9 
Where at the end of its financial year a 
company is a subsidiary undertaking, disclose 
the name and country of incorporation (if 
outside UK) of the company regarded by the 
directors as the ultimate parent company. 

4 Sch 8 
Where at the end of its financial year a 
company is a subsidiary undertaking and has 
been included in group financial statements 
prepared by a parent undertaking, disclose 
with respect to the parent undertaking of the 
smallest and largest group of which the 
company is a member and for which group 
financial statements are prepared: 

 name; and 
 country of incorporation (if outside UK); 

or 

 if unincorporated, the address of its 
principal place of business. 

If copies of the group financial statements 
referred to above are available to the public, 
disclose the address where they may be 
obtained. 

Transition to FRS 102 
 
FRS 102.35.12 
An entity shall explain how the transition 
from its previous financial reporting 
framework to this FRS affected its reported 
financial position and financial performance. 
 
FRS 102.35.13 
To comply with paragraph 35.12, an entity’s 
first financial statements prepared using this 
FRS shall include: 
(a) A description of the nature of each 
change in accounting policy. 
(b) Reconciliations of its equity determined in 
accordance with its previous financial 
reporting framework to its equity determined 
in accordance with this FRS for both of the 
following dates; 
(i) the date of transition to this FRS; and 
(ii) the end of the latest period presented in 
the entity’s most recent annual financial 
statements determined in accordance with 
its previous financial reporting framework. 

(c) A reconciliation of the profit or loss 
determined in accordance with its previous 
financial reporting framework for the latest 
period in the entity’s most recent annual 
financial statements to its profit or loss 
determined in accordance with this FRS for 
the same period. 
 
FRS 102.35.14 
If an entity becomes aware of errors made 
under its previous financial reporting 
framework, the reconciliations required by 
paragraphs 35.13 (b) and (c) shall, to the 
extent practicable, distinguish the correction 
of those errors from changes in accounting 
policies. 
 
FRS 102.35.15 
If an entity did not present financial 
statements for previous periods, it shall 
disclose that fact in its first financial 
statements that confirm to this FRS.  
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34. Transition to FRS 102 
The group and company transitioned to FRS 102 from previously extant UK GAAP as at 1 January 
2012. 

The impact from the transition to FRS 102 is as follows:  

Reconciliation of equity at 1 January 2012 

 Group Company 
 £000 £000 
Equity Shareholders funds at 1 January 2012 under 

previous UK GAAP 36,053 22,361 
Holiday pay accrual (63) (10) 
Derivatives (80) (80) 
Deferred tax (2,069) (1,250) 
Pension – recognition of group scheme - (1,000) 
Pension – unrecognised past service cost (483) (583) 
Equity Shareholders funds at 1 January 2012 under FRS 

102 33,358 19,438 

Reconciliation of equity at 31 December 2012 

 Group Company 
 £000 £000 
Equity Shareholders funds at 31 December 2012 under 

previous UK GAAP 38,281 26,710 
Holiday pay accrual (65) (12) 
Financial Derivatives (101) (101) 
Deferred tax (1,152) (505) 
Pensions – recognition of group scheme - (1,280) 
Pensions – recognition of past service cost (483) (483) 
Equity Shareholders funds at 31 December 2012 under FRS 

102  36,480 24,329 
 
The following were changes in accounting policies arising from the transition to FRS 102: 

Holiday pay accrual 
Under previous UK GAAP, the group accrued for holiday pay where this was expected to be paid as 
a cash sum where the employee was entitled to carry forward holidays earned indefinitely. 
However, the Group did not accrue for holiday pay that was earned but the holiday entitlement was 
expected to be taken in the subsequent financial year. Under FRS 102, the Group is required to 
accrue for all short-term compensated absences as holiday entitlement earned but not taken at the 
date of the statement of financial position. The impact is to increase holiday pay accrued by 
£63,000 and £65,000 for the group and £10,000 and £12,000 for the Company at 1 January 
2012 and 31 December 2012 respectively.  

Derivatives
Interest rate swaps and forward foreign currency contracts are recorded on the balance sheet at 
fair value and accounted for at fair value through profit and loss. Under previous UK GAAP these 
were recognised as follows: 

- forward foreign currency contracts – recorded at contracted rates, with gains or losses 
being offset against the foreign exchange gains and losses on the related financial assets 
and liabilities. 

- interest rate swaps – not re-valued to fair value or shown on the group balance sheet at the 
year end. Net interest payable is accrued. 

Defined benefit pension scheme 

Under previous UK GAAP, past service costs were recognised in profit and loss on a straight line 
basis over the period in which the increases in benefit vest. FRS 102 requires that all past service 
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34. Transition to FRS 102 (continued) 
Defined benefit pension scheme (continued) 

costs are recognised immediately. As a result, an unrecognised past service cost of £483,000 was 
recognised on transition to FRS 102. 

The company is a member of a group defined benefit pension plan that shares risks between 
entities under common control (UK Defined Benefit Scheme). Under previous UK GAAP this scheme 
was accounted for as a defined contribution scheme. Whereas under FRS 102 as the company is 
the sponsoring employer and therefore is legally responsible for the plan it has recognised the plan 
in its individual financial statements. At 1 January 2012 and 31 December 2012, the net deficit of 
the plan was £1,000,000 and £1,280,000 respectively.  

There is also a presentation change under FRS 102 whereby net interest on the net defined benefit 
pension liability is presented in the profit and loss account using the liability discount rate. Under 
previous UK GAAP the interest on the expected return on net assets was calculated using an 
expected asset return discount rate. This had no impact on shareholders equity on transition but 
affects the allocation of interest between the profit and loss account and other comprehensive 
income. 

Deferred tax 

Under FRS 102, deferred tax is recognised on a timing difference plus approach, whereas previous 
UK GAAP required a timing difference approach. Consequently deferred tax has been recognised 
on all fair value remeasurements and on all fair value adjustments arising on business combinations 
(other than goodwill). There are no adjustments required on business combinations arising prior to 
transition. 

In the parent company a deferred tax asset has also been recognised in respect of the defined 
benefit pension scheme liability. Under previous UK GAAP this scheme had been recognised as a 
defined contribution scheme, whereas on transition to FRS 102 this is treated as a defined benefit 
scheme by the company as it is the sponsoring employer. 
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34. Transition to FRS 102 (continued) 
Reconciliation of profit and loss for the year ended 31 December 2012 

  
 Group Company 
 £000 £000 
   
Profit for the year ended 31 December 2012 under previous 

UK GAAP 4,779 6,332 
Increase in holiday pay accrual (2) (2) 
Derivatives 30 30 
Deferred tax 102 47 
Loss on revaluation of investment properties (474) (237) 
Movement on pension scheme - (20) 
Adjustment to net interest on net defined pension liability 5 5 
 4,435 6,155 
 
The following were changes in accounting policies arising from the transition to FRS 102: 
 
Holiday pay accrual 

As a result of the requirement to accrue for holiday that was earned but not taken at the date of 
the statement of financial position, there is a charge of £2,000 to the income statement for the 
year ended 31 December 2012, recognising the increase in the holiday pay accrual over the year. 

Derivatives 

Interest rate swaps and forward foreign currency contracts are recorded on the balance sheet at 
fair value and accounted for as fair value through profit and loss. Under previous UK GAAP, these 
were recognised on an accruals basis or at contracted rates. 
Deferred tax 

Deferred tax has been recognised on fair value remeasurements on financial and non-financial 
assets and on fair value adjustments arising on a business combination (as detailed above).  

Investment properties 

Under FRS 102, changes in the fair value of investment properties are recorded in the profit and 
loss account. Under previous UK GAAP these changes were recorded in the Statement of Total 
Recognised Gains and Losses. 

Movement on pension scheme 

Under previous UK GAAP the UK Defined Benefit Pension scheme, a group scheme of which Good 
Practice Group Limited is a member, was accounted for by the company as a defined contribution 
scheme. Under FRS 102, the scheme has been accounted for as a defined benefit scheme by the 
company as it is the sponsoring employer. The difference between the contributions paid and the 
defined benefit accounting recorded in profit and loss was £20,000 (additional expense under FRS 
102).  

Adjustment to net interest on net defined pension liability 

Under previous UK GAAP, the interest on the expected return on plan assets was calculated using 
an expected asset rate. FRS 102 requires that the net interest on the net defined benefit liability is 
calculated using the liability discount rate for the scheme. As such there was an increase in profit 
arising from this adjustment which was offset by a corresponding increase in other comprehensive 
income. 
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Transitional relief 
FRS 102.35.10 
An entity may use one or more of the 
following exemptions in preparing its first 
financial statements that conform to this 
FRS: 
 (a) Business combinations, including group 
reconstructions 
A first-time adopter may elect not to apply 
Section 19 Business Combinations and 
Goodwill to business combinations that were 
effected before the date of transition to this 
FRS. However, if a first-time adopter restates 
any business combination to comply with 
Section 19, it shall restate all later business 
combinations. If a first time adopter does not 
apply Section 19 retrospectively, the first-
time adopter shall recognise and measure all 
its assets and liabilities acquired or assumed 
in a past business combination at the date of 
transition to this FRS in accordance with 
paragraphs 35.7 to 35.9 or if applicable, with 
paragraphs 35.10(b) to (r) except for: 
(i) intangible assets other than goodwill - 
intangible assets subsumed within goodwill 
shall not be separately recognised; and 
(ii) goodwill - no adjustment shall be made to 
the carrying value of goodwill. 
(b) Share-based payment transactions 
A first-time adopter is not required to apply 
Section 26 Share-based Payment to equity 
instruments that were granted before the 
date of transition to this FRS, or to liabilities 
arising from share-based payment 
transactions that were settled before the 
date of transition to this FRS. Except that a 
first-time adopter previously applying FRS 20 
(IFRS 2) Share-based Payment or IFRS 2 
Share-based Payment shall, in relation to 
equity instruments that were granted before 

the date of transition to this FRS, apply 
either FRS 20 / IFRS 2 (as applicable) or 
Section 26 of this FRS at the date of 
transition. 
(f) Individual and separate financial 
statements  
When an entity prepares individual or 
separate financial statements, paragraphs 
9.26, 14.4 and 15.9 require the entity to 
account for its investments in subsidiaries, 
associates, and jointly controlled entities 
either at cost less impairment or at fair 
value. 
If a first-time adopter measures such an 
investment at cost, it shall measure that 
investment at one of the following amounts 
in its individual or separate opening 
statement of financial position, as 
appropriate, prepared in accordance with 
this 
FRS: 
 (i) cost determined in accordance with 
Section 9 Consolidated and Separate 
Financial Statements, Section 14 
Investments in Associates or Section 15 
Investments in Joint Ventures; or 
(ii) deemed cost, which shall be the carrying 
amount at the date of transition as 
determined under the entity’s previous 
GAAP. 
(p) Lease incentives 
A first-time adopter is not required to apply 
paragraphs 20.15A and 20.25A to lease 
incentives provided the term of the lease 
commenced before the date of transition to 
this FRS. The first-time adopter shall 
continue to recognise any residual benefit or 
cost associated with these lease incentives 
on the same basis as that applied at the date 
of transition to this FRS.
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34. Transition to FRS 102 (continued) 
Transitional relief 

On transition to FRS 102 from previous UK GAAP, the group and company have taken advantage 
of transitional relief as follows: 

Business combinations 

The group has elected not to apply Section 19 Business Combinations and Goodwill to business 
combinations that were effected before the date of transition to FRS 102. No adjustment has been 
made to the carrying value of goodwill and intangible assets subsumed within goodwill have not 
been separately recognised. 

Share based payment transactions 

The company and group have elected not to apply Section 26 Share based payment to equity 
instruments granted before the date of transition to FRS 102. FRS 20 has been applied to 
instruments granted prior to the date of transition 

Investments in subsidiaries 

The company has elected to treat the carrying amount of investments in subsidiaries under 
previous UK GAAP at the date of transition as deemed cost on transition to FRS 102. 

Lease incentives 

The group and company have not applied paragraphs 20.15A or 20.25A to lease incentives where 
the lease commenced before the date of transition to FRS 102. It has continued to recognise any 
residual benefit or cost associated with these lease incentives on the same basis that applied prior 
to transition to FRS 102.
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Requirements for companies subject 
to the small companies regime 
Companies subject to the small companies 
regime have the following financial reporting 
options available: 

(a) IFRS; 

(b) UK GAAP; or 

(c) the Financial Reporting Statement for 
Smaller Entities (FRSSE). 

The Companies Act 2006 financial statement 
requirements for companies subject to the 
small companies regime are largely 
contained in Part 15 of the Companies Act 
and in separate regulations - The Small 
Companies and Groups (Accounts and 
Directors’ Report) Regulations 2008 (SCR).  

Below we have summarised the major 
company law disclosure exemptions for 
companies reporting under the small 
companies regime as opposed to companies 
required to use the LMCR. 

Strategic Report 

 no requirement to prepare a strategic 
report. 

 no requirement for a business review 
(this exemption is also available to small 
companies that are members of an 
ineligible group); 

Directors’ Report  

 no requirement to state recommended 
dividend (this exemption is also available 
to small companies that are members of 
an ineligible group); 

 no requirement for disclosures in 
respect of financial instruments; 

 no requirement to give details of 
important post balance sheet events, an 
indication of likely future developments, 
an indication of research and 
development activities or an indication 
of branches outside the United Kingdom. 

 no requirement to provide information 
about employees; and 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

Financial Statements  

 no requirement to disclose material 
differences between carrying value and 
replacement cost of stocks; 

 no requirement to disclose whether the 
accounts have been prepared in 
accordance with applicable accounting 
standards and particulars of any 
material departures from those 
standards (NB: both the FRSSE and FRS 
102 require disclosures where a True 
and Fair Override is invoked); 

 no requirement to disclose details of 
shares held as treasury shares; 

 no requirement to disclose details of 
contingent rights to the allotment of 
shares; 

 no requirement to disclose details of 
debentures issued during the year; 

 no requirement to disclose split of land 
and buildings into freehold and 
leasehold or the leasehold land into 
short and long leases; 

 no requirement to disclose fair value of 
derivatives not held at fair value; 

 no requirement to disclose deferred 
taxation separately from the amount of 
provision for other taxation; 

 no requirement to disclose repayment 
terms of debt due after five years; 

 no requirement to disclose details of off-
balance sheet arrangements; 

 no requirement to disclose the nature of 
any security given for creditors; 

 no requirement to disclose any 
outstanding loans made for financial 
assistance for purchase of own shares; 

 no requirement to disclose interest or 
similar charges in respect of bank loans 
or overdrafts; 

 no requirement to give an analysis of 
the tax charge or to provide details of 
special circumstances affecting the tax 
charge (NB: both the FRSSE and FRS 
102 require certain tax disclosures); 
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 no requirement to disclose information 
about employee numbers and costs; 

 
 instead of giving details of turnover by 

class of business small companies have 
to disclose the percentage of any 
turnover that, in the directors opinion, is 
attributable to non UK markets; 

 no requirement to disclose details of 
related party transactions (NB: both the 
FRSSE and FRS 102 require certain 
related party disclosures); 

 the special provisions relating to 
investment companies do not apply; 

 no requirement to disclose any gains 
made by directors on exercise of share 
options, the number of directors who 
exercised share options or the number 
of directors in respect of whose 
qualifying services shares were received 
or receivable under long term incentive 
schemes; 

 no requirement to disclose details of the 
highest paid director’s remuneration; 

 no requirement to disclose any excess 
retirement benefits of directors or past 
directors; 

 no requirement to disclose details of 
auditor’s remuneration in respect of 
non-audit services; 

 no requirement to disclose where a 
subsidiary has a different financial year 
end with that of the company; and 

 companies under the small companies 
regime are not required to prepare 
group accounts although group accounts 
can be prepared on a voluntary basis. 
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The Companies Act 2006 financial statement formats 

Balance Sheet 
The formats contained in Schedule 1 are for an individual company. Schedule 6 supplements this by 
adding items relevant to group financial statements. The following formats include such group 
financial statements items.  

Format 1 
A Called up share capital not paid (1) 
B Fixed assets 
 I Intangible assets 
  1 Development costs 
  2 Concessions, patents, licences, trademarks and similar rights and assets (2) 
  3 Goodwill (3) 
  4 Payments on account 
 II Tangible assets 
  1 Land and buildings 
  2 Plant and machinery 
  3 Fixtures, fittings, tools and equipment 
  4 Payments on account and assets in course of construction 
 III Investments 
  1 Shares in group undertakings 
  2 Loans to group undertakings 
  † Interests in associated undertakings 
  † Other participating interests 
  4 Loans to undertakings in which the company has a participating interest 
  5 Other investments other than loans 
  6 Other loans 
  7 Own shares (4) 
C Current assets 
 I Stocks 
  1 Raw materials and consumables 
  2 Work in progress 
  3 Finished goods and goods for resale 
  4 Payments on account 
 II Debtors (5) 
  1 Trade debtors 
  2 Amounts owed by group undertakings 
  3 Amounts owed by undertakings in which the company has a participating interest 
  4 Other debtors 
  5 Called up share capital not paid (1) 
  6 Prepayments and accrued income (6) 
 III Investments 
  1 Shares in group undertakings 
  2 Own shares (4) 
  3 Other investments 
 IV Cash at bank and in hand 
D Prepayments and accrued income (6) 
 
† These items, which are inserted by 6 Sch and, although not assigned references, are to be treated as if 

they had been assigned Arabic numbers, replace the item ‘Participating interests’ for an individual 
company. 
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E Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 
  1 Debenture loans (7) 
  2 Bank loans and overdrafts 
  3 Payments received on account (8) 
  4 Trade creditors 
  5 Bills of exchange payable 
  6 Amounts owed to group undertakings 
  7 Amounts owed to undertakings in which the company has a participating interest 
  8 Other creditors including taxation and social security (9) 
  9 Accruals and deferred income (10) 
 
F Net current assets (liabilities) (11) 
 
G Total assets less current liabilities 
 
H Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 
  1 Debenture loans (7) 
  2 Bank loans and overdrafts 
  3 Payments received on account (8) 
  4 Trade creditors 
  5 Bills of exchange payable 
  6 Amounts owed to group undertakings 
  7 Amounts owed to undertakings in which the company has a participating interest 
  8 Other creditors including taxation and social security (9) 
  9 Accruals and deferred income (10) 
 
I Provisions for liabilities 
  1 Pensions and similar obligations 
  2 Taxation, including deferred taxation 
  3 Other provisions 
 
J Accruals and deferred income (10) 
 
†† Minority interests 

 
K Capital and reserves 
 I Called up share capital (12) 
 II Share premium account 
 III Revaluation reserve 
 IV Other reserves 
  1 Capital redemption reserve 
  2 Reserve for own shares 
  3 Reserves provided for by the articles of association 
  4 Other reserves 
 V Profit and loss account 
 
†† Minority interests 

†† This item, which is inserted in either position by 6 Sch, although not assigned a reference, is to 
be treated as if it had been assigned a letter. 
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Format 2 
 
Assets 
 
A Called up share capital not paid (1) 
 
B Fixed assets 
 I Intangible assets 
  1 Development costs 
  2 Concessions, patents, licences, trademarks and similar rights and assets (2) 
  3 Goodwill (3) 
  4 Payments on account 
 II Tangible assets 
  1 Land and buildings 
  2 Plant and machinery 
  3 Fixtures, fittings, tools and equipment 
  4 Payments on account and assets in course of construction 
 III Investments 
  1 Shares in group undertakings 
  2 Loans to group undertakings 
  † Interests in associated undertakings 
  † Other participating interests 
  4 Loans to undertakings in which the company has a participating interest 
  5 Other investments other than loans 
  6 Other loans 
  7 Own shares (4) 
 
C Current assets 
 I Stocks 
  1 Raw materials and consumables 
  2 Work in progress 
  3 Finished goods and goods for resale 
  4 Payments on account 
 II Debtors (5) 
  1 Trade debtors 
  2 Amounts owed by group undertakings 
  3 Amounts owed by undertakings in which the company has a participating interest 
  4 Other debtors 
  5 Called up share capital not paid (1) 
  6 Prepayments and accrued income (6) 
 III Investments 
  1 Shares in group undertakings 
  2 Own shares (4) 
  3 Other investments 
 IV Cash at bank and in hand 
 
D Prepayments and accrued income (6) 
 
† These items, which are inserted by 6 Sch and, although not assigned references, are to be treated 

as if they had been assigned Arabic numbers, replace the item ‘Participating interests’ for an 
individual company. 
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Liabilities 
 
A Capital and reserves 
 I Called up share capital (12) 
 II Share premium account 
 III Revaluation reserve 
 IV Other reserves 
  1 Capital redemption reserve 
  2 Reserve for own shares 
  3 Reserves provided for by the articles of association 
  4 Other reserves 
 V Profit and loss account 
 
†† Minority interests 

 
B Provisions for liabilities 
  1 Pensions and similar obligations 
  2 Taxation, including deferred taxation 
  3 Other provisions 
 
C Creditors (13) 
  1 Debenture loans (7) 
  2 Bank loans and overdrafts 
  3 Payments received on account (8) 
  4 Trade creditors 
  5 Bills of exchange payable 
  6 Amounts owed to group undertakings 
  7 Amounts owed to undertakings in which the company has a participating interest 
  8 Other creditors including taxation and social security (9) 
  9 Accruals and deferred income (10) 
 
D Accruals and deferred income (10) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

†† This item, which is inserted in either position by 6 Sch, although not assigned a reference, is to 
be treated as if it had been assigned a letter.
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Notes 

 

1 This item may be shown in either of the two positions given in formats 1 and 2. 

2 Amounts in respect of assets shall only be included in a company’s balance sheet under 
this item if either: 

(a) the assets were acquired for valuable consideration and are not required to be shown 
under goodwill; or 

(b) the assets in question were created by the company itself. 

3 Amounts representing goodwill are only be included to the extent that the goodwill was 
acquired for valuable consideration. 

4 The nominal value of the shares held must be shown separately. 

5 The amount falling due after more than one year must be shown separately for each item 
included under debtors. 

6 This item may be shown in either of the two positions given in formats 1 and 2. 

7 The amount of any convertible loans must be shown separately. 

8 Payments received on account of orders shall be shown for each of these items in so far as 
they are not shown as deductions from stocks. 

9 The amount for creditors in respect of taxation and social security must be shown 
separately from the amount for other creditors. 

10 The two positions given for this item in format 1 of the balance sheet at E.9 and H.9 are an 
alternative to J. If the item is not shown at J it may be shown in either or both of the other 
two positions (as the case may require). The two positions given for this item in format 2 of 
the balance sheet are alternatives. 

11 In determining the amount to be shown for this item any amounts shown under 
‘prepayments and accrued income’ must be taken into account wherever shown. 

12 The amount of allotted share capital and the amount of called up share capital which has 
been paid up must be shown separately. 

13 Amounts falling due within one year and after one year shall be shown separately for each 
item included under creditors in format 2 and their aggregate must be shown separately for 
all of these items. 
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Profit and loss account 
Format 1 (1) 
 

1 Turnover 
2 Cost of sales (2) 
3 Gross profit or loss 
4 Distribution costs (2) 
5 Administrative expenses (2) 
6 Other operating income 
7 Income from shares in group undertakings 
† Income from interests in 

associated undertakings  
† Income from other participating interests  
9 Income from other fixed asset investments (3) 

10 Other interest receivable and similar income (3) 
11 Amounts written off investments 
12 Interest payable and similar charges (4) 
13 Tax on profit or loss on ordinary activities 
14 Profit or loss on ordinary activities after 

taxation 
†† Minority interests 
15 Extraordinary income 
16 Extraordinary charges 
17 Extraordinary profit or loss 
18 Tax on extraordinary profit or loss 
†† Minority interests 
19 Other taxes not shown under the above items 
20 Profit or loss for the financial year 

 

 
Format 2 
 

1 Turnover 
2 Change in stocks of finished goods and in work 

in progress 
3 Own work capitalised 
4 Other operating income 
5 (a) Raw materials and consumables 

 (b) Other external charges 
6 Staff costs: 

 (a) wages and salaries 
 (b) social security costs 
 (c) other pension costs 

7 (a) Depreciation and other amounts written off 
tangible and intangible fixed assets 

 (b) Exceptional amounts written off current 
assets 

8 Other operating charges 
9 Income from shares in group undertakings 
† Income from interests in 

associated undertakings  
† Income from other participating interests 

11 Income from other fixed asset investments (3) 
12 Other interest receivable and similar income (3) 
13 Amounts written off investments 
14 Interest payable and similar charges (4) 
15 Tax on profit or loss on ordinary activities 
16 Profit or loss on ordinary activities after 

taxation 
†† Minority interests 
17 Extraordinary income 
18 Extraordinary charges 
19 Extraordinary profit or loss 
20 Tax on extraordinary profit or loss 
†† Minority interests 
21 Other taxes not shown under the above items 
22 Profit or loss for the financial year 

 

 

In each format, 6 Sch: 

† replaces the item ‘Income from participating interests’ with these items and 

†† adds this item in either position 

which, although not assigned references are to be treated as if they had been assigned an Arabic 
number. 
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Format 3 (1) 
 

A Charges 
1 Cost of sales (2) 
2 Distribution costs (2) 
3 Administrative expenses (2) 
4 Amounts written off investments 
5 Interest payable and similar charges (4) 
6 Tax on profit or loss on ordinary activities  
7 Profit or loss on ordinary activities 

after taxation 
†† Minority interests 

8 Extraordinary charges 
9 Tax on extraordinary profit or loss 

†† Minority interests 
10 Other taxes not shown under the 

above items 
11 Profit or loss for the financial year 

  
B Income 
1 Turnover 
2 Other operating income 
3 Income from shares in group undertakings 
† Income from interests in associated 

undertakings 
† Income from other participating interests 
5 Income from other fixed 

asset investments (3) 
6 Other interest receivable and 

similar income (3) 
7 Profit or loss on ordinary activities 

after taxation 
†† Minority interests 

8 Extraordinary income 
†† Minority interests 

9 Profit or loss for the financial year 
 

Format 4 
 

A Charges 
1 Reduction in stocks of finished goods and 

in work in progress 
2 (a) Raw materials and consumables 

 (b) Other external charges 
3 Staff costs: 

 (a) wages and salaries 
 (b) social security costs 
 (c) other pension costs 

4 (a) Depreciation and other amounts 
written off tangible and intangible 
fixed assets 

 (b) Exceptional amounts written off 
current assets 

5 Other operating charges 
6 Amounts written off investments 
7 Interest payable and similar charges (4) 
8 Tax on profit or loss on ordinary activities 
9 Profit or loss on ordinary activities 

after taxation 
†† Minority interests 
10 Extraordinary charges 
11 Tax on extraordinary profit or loss 
†† Minority interests 
12 Other taxes not shown under the 

above items 
13 Profit or loss for the financial year 

  
B Income 
1 Turnover 
2 Increase in stocks of finished goods and in 

work in progress 
3 Own work capitalised 
4 Other operating income 
5 Income from shares in group undertakings 
† Income from interests in associated 

undertakings 
† Income from other participating interests 
7 Income from other fixed 

asset investments (3) 
8 Other interest receivable and 

similar income (3) 
9 Profit or loss on ordinary activities 

after taxation 
†† Minority interests 
10 Extraordinary income 
†† Minority interests 
11 Profit or loss for the financial year 
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Notes 
 

1 The amount of any provisions for depreciation and diminution in value of tangible and intangible 
fixed assets falling to be shown under items 7(a) and A.4(a) respectively in formats 2 and 4 shall 
be disclosed in a note to the financial statements in any case where the profit and loss account is 
prepared by reference to format 1 or format 3. 

2 These items shall be stated after taking into account any necessary provisions for depreciation 
or diminution in value of assets. 

3 Income and interest derived from group undertakings must be shown separately from income 
and interest derived from other sources. 

4 The amount payable to group undertakings must be shown separately. 
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Glossary of terms 

Associated undertaking [6 Sch 19] 
An undertaking, which is not a subsidiary 
undertaking of the parent company, or a joint 
venture accounted for by proportional 
consolidation, in which a participating interest 
is held and over whose operating and financial 
policy a significant influence is exercised. 

Where more than 20% of the voting rights are 
held there is a presumption that significant 
influence is exercised unless the contrary is 
shown. 

Body corporate [s1173(1)] 
A body corporate includes a body 
incorporated outside the UK but does not 
include a corporation sole or a partnership 
that, whether or not a legal person, is not 
regarded as a body corporate under the law by 
which it is governed. 

Class of business [1 Sch 68(4)] 
A distinguishable component of an entity that 
provides a separate product or service or a 
separate group of related products or 
services. 

Classes of business which, in the opinion of 
the directors, do not differ substantially from 
one another should be treated as one class. 

Connected body corporate [s254] 
A director is deemed to be connected with a 
body corporate if he and the persons 
connected with him together are interested in 
shares comprised in the equity share capital of 
that body corporate of a nominal value equal 
to at least 20% of that share capital or 
together they are entitled to exercise or 
control the exercise of more than 20% of the 
voting power at any general meeting. 

References to voting power include references 
to voting power controlled by a body 
corporate controlled by that director. Treasury 
shares are disregarded for the purposes of 
this application. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Connected persons [S252-253] 
The following persons (and only those 
persons) are connected with a director of a 
company:  

(a)  members of the director’s family (ie the 
director’s spouse or civil partner, any other 
person (whether of different sex or the 
same sex) with whom the director lives as 
partner in an enduring family relationship, 
the director’s children or step-children, any 
children or step-children of a person with 
whom the director lives in an enduring 
family relationship (and who are not 
children or step-children of the director) 
who live with the director and have not 
attained the age of 18): 

(b)  a body corporate with which the director is 
connected ;  

(c)  a person acting as trustee of any trust 
(other than employees share or pension 
schemes), the beneficiaries of which 
include the director or member of the 
director’s family or body corporate 
connected with him, or the terms of which 
confer a power that may be exercised for 
the benefit of the director or any such 
person;  

(d)  a person acting in his capacity as a partner 
of the director or any person connected 
with him by virtue of (a) to (c) above; or 

(e)  a firm which is a legal person under the law 
by which it is governed and in which the 
director is a partner or a person by virtue 
of (a) to (c) above is connected with the 
directors is a partner, or a partner is a firm 
in which the director is a partner or in 
which there is a partner who, by virtue of 
(a) to (c) above is connected to the 
director. 

Credit transaction [s202] 
A transaction under which one party 
(‘the creditor’): 

(a)  supplies any goods or sells any land under 
a hire purchase agreement or a conditional 
sale agreement; or 

(b) leases or hires any land or goods in return 
for periodical payments; or 

(c)  otherwise disposes of land or supplies 
goods or services on the understanding 
that payment (whether in a lump sum or 
instalments or by way of periodical 
payments or otherwise) is to be deferred. 
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Equity share capital [s548] 
Issued share capital excluding any part of that 
capital that, neither as respects dividends nor 
as respects capital, carries any right to 
participate beyond a specified amount in a 
distribution. 

Fellow subsidiary undertaking [s1161(4)] 
Undertakings which are subsidiary 
undertakings of the same parent undertaking 
but are not parent undertakings or subsidiary 
undertakings of each other. 

Financial year [s390] 
A company’s first financial year begins with 
the first day of its first accounting reference 
period and ends with the last day of that 
period or such other date, not more than 
seven days before or after the end of that 
period, as the directors may determine. 

Subsequent financial years begin with the day 
immediately following the end of the 
company’s previous financial year and end 
with the last day of its next accounting 
reference period or such other date, not more 
than seven days before or after the end of 
that period, as the directors may determine. 

Directors of a parent company must secure 
that, except where there are good reasons 
against it, that the financial year of each of its 
subsidiary undertakings coincides with the 
company’s own financial year. 

Fixed and current assets [10 Sch 6] 
Assets of a company are fixed assets if they 
are intended for use on a continuing basis in 
the company’s activities.  

Current assets are assets not intended for 
such use. 

Fungible assets [10 Sch 5] 
Assets of any description which are 
substantially indistinguishable one from 
another. 

Group undertaking [s1161(5)] 
A parent undertaking, subsidiary undertaking 
or a subsidiary undertaking of any parent 
undertaking of that undertaking. 

Listed investments [10 Sch 8] 
An investment that has been granted a listing 
on a recognised investment exchange other 
than an overseas investment exchange or a 
stock exchange of repute outside the United 
Kingdom. 

Medium-sized company [s465 to s467] 
A company qualifies as medium-sized if it is 
not a public company, a company that has 
permission under Part 4 of the Financial 

Services and Market Act 2000 (c8) to carry on 
a regulated activity or carries on insurance 
market activity or if it not a member of an 
ineligible group. 

A group is ineligible if any of its members is: 

(a) a public company; 

(b) a body corporate (other than a company) 
whose shares are admitted to trading on a 
regulated market in an EEA State; 

(c) a person (other than a small company) who 
has permission under Part 4 of the Financial 
Services and Market Act 2000 (c8) to carry on 
a regulated activity; 

(d) a small company that is an authorised 
insurance company, a banking company, an e-
money issuer, an ISD investment firm or a 
UCITS management company; or 

(e) a person who carries on insurance market 
activity. 

It must also not exceed 2 or more of the 
following qualifying limits in both the current 
and the preceding financial year: 

  

Turnover £25.9  million 

(£31.1 million 
gross) 

Balance sheet total £12.9 million 

(£15.5 million 
gross) 

Number of employees 250 

“Gross” means before set-offs and elimination 
of group transactions. 

A parent company does not qualify as a 
medium-sized company unless the group 
headed by it qualifies as a medium-sized 
group. 

Participating interest [10 Sch 11] 
An interest held by an undertaking in the 
shares of another undertaking which it holds 
(or is held on its behalf) on a long-term basis 
for the purpose of securing a contribution to 
its activities by the exercise of control or 
influence arising from or related to that 
interest. 

A holding of 20% or more of the shares in an 
undertaking is presumed to be a participating 
interest unless the contrary is shown. 

This includes an interest which is convertible 
into an interest in shares and an option to 
acquire shares or any such interest 
notwithstanding as to whether the shares to 
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which the option or the conversion relates are 
unissued. 

Pension costs [10 Sch 14(2)] 
Any costs incurred by the company in respect 
of any pension scheme established for the 
purpose of providing pensions, for current or 
former employees, any sums set aside for that 
purpose and any amounts paid by the 
company in respect of pensions without first 
being so set aside, other than social security 
costs. 

Public company [s4(2)] 
A company having a share capital whose 
certificate of incorporation states that it is a 
public company and has been registered or re-
registered as public company after 22 
December 1980 (1 July 1983 for Northern 
Ireland companies). 

Production cost [1 Sch 27(2)-(4)] 
The production cost of an asset shall be 
determined by adding to the purchase price of 
the raw materials and consumables used the 
costs incurred which are directly attributable 
to the production of that asset. 

In addition, there may be included in the 
production cost of an asset: 

(a) a reasonable proportion of the costs 
incurred by the company which are only 
indirectly attributable to the production of 
that asset, but only to the extent that they 
relate to the period of production; and 

(b) interest on capital borrowed to finance the 
production of that asset, to the extent that 
it accrues in respect of the period of 
production, provided that the fact of its 
inclusion and the amount of the interest 
included is disclosed in a note to the 
financial statements. 

In the case of current assets, distribution 
costs may not be included in production costs. 

Purchase price [10 Sch 12)] 
Purchase price in relation to an asset of a 
company or any raw materials or consumables 
used in the production of an asset includes 
any consideration (whether in cash or 
otherwise) given by the company in respect of 
that asset or those materials or consumables.  

Quasi-loan [s199(1)] 
A transaction under which one party 
(‘the creditor’) agrees to pay, or pays 
otherwise than in pursuance of an agreement, 
a sum for another (‘the borrower’) or agrees 
to reimburse, or reimburses otherwise than in 
pursuance of an agreement, expenditure 
incurred by another party for another (“the 

borrower) on terms where the borrower (or a 
person on his behalf) will reimburse the 
creditor or in circumstances giving rise to a 
liability on the borrower to reimburse the 
creditor. 

Quoted company [s385(2)] 
A company whose equity share capital is 
included on the Official List of the UK Listing 
Authority, officially listed in an EEA state, or 
admitted to dealing on either the New York 
Stock Exchange or NASDAQ. AIM and OFEX 
companies are not quoted. 

Realised profits and losses [s853(4)] 
In relation to a company’s financial 
statements, this means such profits or losses 
of the company as fall to be treated as realised 
in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles at the time the accounts 
are prepared. 

The accountancy bodies have issued 
TECH 02/10 on realised and distributable 
profits under the Companies Act 2006. 

Shares [s1161(2)] 
This means: 

(a) in relation to an undertaking with capital 
but no share capital, rights to share in the 
capital of the undertaking; and 

(b) in relation to an undertaking without 
capital, interests: 

(i) conferring any right to share in the 
profits or liability to contribute to the 
losses of the undertaking; or 

(ii) giving rise to an obligation to 
contribute to the debts or expenses of 
the undertaking in the event of a 
winding up. 

Small companies regime [s382 to s384] 
A company qualifies for the small companies 
regime if it is not a public company or a 
banking or insurance company, an e-money 
issuer, an ISD investment firm or a UCITS 
management company or carries on an 
insurance market activity or if it not a member 
of an ineligible group. 

A group is ineligible if any of its members is: 

(a) a public company; 

(b) a body corporate (other than a company) 
whose shares are admitted to trading on a 
regulated market in an EEA State; or 

(c) a person (other than a small company) who 
has permission under Part 4 of the Financial 
Services and Market Act 2000 (c8) to carry on 
a regulated activity. 
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It must also not exceed 2 or more of the 
following qualifying limits in both the current 
and the preceding financial year: 

  

Turnover £6.5    million 

(£7.8 million 
gross) 

Balance sheet total £3.26 million 

(£3.9 million 
gross) 

Number of employees 50 

“Gross” means before set-offs and elimination 
of group transactions.  

A parent company does not qualify as a small 
company unless the group headed by it 
qualifies as a small group. 

Social security costs [10 Sch 14(1)] 
Any contributions by the company to any state 
social security or pension scheme, fund 
or arrangement. 

Subsidiary company [s1159] 
A company is a subsidiary of a holding 
company where the holding company: 

(a) holds a majority of the voting rights in it; 
or 

(b) is a member of it and has the right to 
appoint or remove a majority of its board 
of directors; or 

(c) is a member of it and controls alone a 
majority of the voting rights in it by 
agreement with other shareholders or 
members; 

or if it is a subsidiary of a company which is 
itself a subsidiary of the holding company. 

Subsidiary and parent undertaking [s1162] 
An undertaking is a parent undertaking in 
relation to another undertaking, a subsidiary 
undertaking, if it: 

(a) holds a majority of the voting rights; or 
(b) is a member of the undertaking and has 

the right to appoint or remove a majority 
of its board of directors; or 

(c) has the right to exercise a dominant 
influence through the memorandum and 
articles or a control contract; or  

(d) is a member and controls alone a majority 
of the voting rights by agreement with 
other shareholders or members; or 

(e) if it has the power to exercise or actually 
exercises: 
(i) dominant control or influence over it; 

or 
(ii) it and the subsidiary undertaking are 

managed on a unified basis. 
Rights shall be treated as held by a parent 
undertaking if they are held by any of its 
subsidiary undertakings. 

Turnover [s474(1)] 
The amounts derived from the provision of 
goods and services falling within the 
company’s ordinary activities after deduction 
of: 

(a)  trade discounts; 

(b) VAT; and 

(c) any other taxes based on the amounts 
so derived. 

Undertaking [s1161(1)] 
Undertaking means: 

(a) a body corporate or partnership; or 

(b) an unincorporated association carrying on 
a trade or business with or without a view 
to profit. 
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